
Together, 
we’ll deliver.

1100 Peachtree Street, NE 
Suite 400 
Atlanta, GA 30309
404.815.1212 

hdrinc.com

We practice increased use of sustainable 
materials and reduction of material use.

© 2018 HDR, all rights reserved.
 

Together, 
we’ll deliver.

PROPOSAL

GRADY HEALTH SYSTEM

The Center for Advanced 
Surgical Services (CASS)
F2017032_AE

Atlanta, Georgia

April 3, 2018



Together, 
we’ll deliver.

1100 Peachtree Street, NE 
Suite 400 
Atlanta, GA 30309
404.815.1212 

hdrinc.com

We practice increased use of sustainable 
materials and reduction of material use.

© 2018 HDR, all rights reserved.
 

Together, 
we’ll deliver.

PROPOSAL

GRADY HEALTH SYSTEM

The Center for Advanced 
Surgical Services (CASS)
F2017032_AE

Atlanta, Georgia

April 3, 2018



hdrinc.com
1100 Peachtree Street NE, Suite 400, Atlanta, GA 30309
T 404.815.1212     F 404.946.5618

April 3, 2018

George Smith
Grady Health System
22 Piedmont Avenue, Suite 300, Atlanta, Georgia 30303

Re:    Grady Health System, The Center for Advanced Surgical Services | F2017032_AE

Dear Mr. Smith, 

We embrace your ambitious goal of transforming Grady Health System by expanding and advancing ambulatory 
care. Life has changed dramatically since Grady first opened its doors in 1892, but Grady’s commitment to providing 
outstanding personalized care, one patient at a time, remains relevant.  How to deliver that care, however, is 
changing. More and more, it is through ambulatory care. This project offers an incredible opportunity to further your 
mission of becoming the nation’s finest public academic healthcare system.

The Center for Advanced Surgical Services provides a tremendous opportunity for Grady to expand ambulatory 
services to the community. This will require not only changes in the way we approach facility development, but also 
changes in the mindset of your practitioners. We understand that Grady needs a team that can provide a design that 
allows for flexibility and efficiency for this important project. HDR will work with Grady to develop an ambulatory 
program that will do just that. We will deliver:

Efficiency – We’ve invested significantly into research to determine how we can best help our clients prepare 
for the rapid push from inpatient care to ambulatory settings. Our vast experience combined with our significant 
body of independent research will provide Grady with insight on how facility design, technology, and operational 
practices can make ambulatory care efficient, intuitive, and enhance the patient experience. Further, our robust 
strategic innovation expertise assures that Grady will be at the forefront of design thinking for ambulatory care. 

Expertise – Our planners and designers are expert at optimizing the use of available space, by establishing the 
most efficient operational models that enhance the patient experience. We also have unparalleled expertise in 
new data-driven design methods including predictive analytics, computational design, and operational design. 
We offer Grady the ability to develop and test many comprehensive design options, and simultaneously analyze 
associated cost and efficiency implications. In addition, HDR has more architects certified by the American 
College of Healthcare Architects (ACHA) than any other firm, including multiple staff proposed for this project. 
This expertise ensures that we will incorporate the most current trends in ambulatory care into a highly functional 
and flexible facility.

Care – We are fully aware of the primacy of the patient experience, and all of our programming, planning, 
and design efforts put that experience front and center. We understand that this effort sets the framework for 
ambulatory care that is based on today’s, and tomorrow’s, best practices, is efficient, and most importantly, 
elevates the patients’ wellbeing through a continuum of care. 

Value – We have customized our approach to assure that it is cost effective and that you benefit from the broad 
range of services we offer. We believe that thoughtful and well-informed upfront planning will save cost and time 
down the road. 

Having worked with Grady on the Tactical Campus Master Plan and preliminary studies for the CASS site, our 
team is familiar with the strategic goals for entire campus, and we are familiar with Grady processes, procedures, 
standards, and requirements. We look forward to working with you again on this project, and are confident that we 
will deliver success. 

If you have any questions or would like to discuss our proposal further, please don’t hesitate to call me at (404) 601-
8650.

Sincerely,

 
Juan-Pablo Perez, LEED AP BD+C
Vice President/Managing Principal
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Grady Health System  |  01  |  Organizational Background
 

1. Provide a brief history of the 
organization with emphasis on any 
corporate reorganization that has 
occurred in the last three (3) years, 
office locations, and information 
documenting the company’s financial 
position (i.e. financial statements, 
annual reports).

We are a global design firm with more than 10,000 employee-owners in 229 

offices around the world. We design from the inside out recognizing that 

design excellence is as much about strategic operational planning and meeting 

financial targets as it is about creating positive and nurturing environments 

for patients and staff. We will integrate Lean operations, innovative workplace 

strategies, and flexibility to promote improved outcomes and increase 

patient engagement and well-being. By approaching the design process 

from the inside out, we aim to create a complete solution that enhances your 

organization to function at its best. As our clients’ strategic partners, we 

employ design as a problem-solving tool to deftly navigate uncharted territory.

While we are most well-known for delivering architecture and engineering 

services—for adding beauty and structure to communities through high 

performance buildings and smart infrastructure—we provide much more 

than that. We create an unshakable foundation for progress because our 

multidisciplinary teams also include the firepower of clinicians, former 

healthcare executives, analysts, artists and scientists. While we are able to 

offer all of this expertise ourselves, we never shy away from collaborating 

with outside consulting firms if there is a particular niche of expertise that 

is important for the success of the project or if there is a consultant that our 

client has a special relationship with.

We love what we do and we push each other every day to be better. And to 

do better. For our clients and, more importantly, for the very special patient 

populations they serve.

This is where great begins.

ABOUT US
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OUR FIRM SERVICES

1917
Year established

229
Number of  
global offices

10,210
Number of 
employee-
owners

1,715
Total number 
of architecture 
employees

—Architecture

—Interiors

—Engineering

—Strategic 
Innovation

—Branding & 
Experience 
Design

—Planning & 
Programming

—Sustainable 
Design

—Land/Real 
Estate Planning

—Signage &  
Way-finding

—Landscape & 
Site Design

Primary Project Office 
1100 Peachtree Street,NE 
Atlanta, GA 30309 
404.601.8600

  

hdrinc.com

Version #
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HEALTHCARE PRACTICE VOLUME
NOTABLE RANKINGS IN 2017

143M
Square feet of 
healthcare space 
designed in the 
last 5 years

52
Years’ experience 
in healthcare

100+
Master plans 
completed in the 
last 5 years

$33.3B
Construction 
cost value in the 
last 5 years

19,000+
Number of beds 
completed in the 
last five years

Building Design + Construction,  
Giants 300

Building Design Magazine,  
World Architecture Survey

No. 1
Top Healthcare 
Design Firm

No. 5
Top A/E Firm

No. 1
Healthcare 
Design Firm 
in the World

No. 5
Top 100 
Global 
Design Firms

No. 3
Science 
Design Firm 
in the World

No. 1 
Architectural Firm in 
Healthcare Design
Modern Healthcare,  
Construction & Design Survey
14 consecutive years: 2003-2016
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2. Indicate name and the business address of the entity, or 
individual that will be the party to the proposed contract and the 
Offeror’s business telephone number, fax number, and e-mail 
address. 
 
HDR Architecture, Inc. 
1100 Peachtree Street, NE, Suite 400 
Atlanta, Georgia 30309-4503 
Phone: 404.815.1212   
Fax: 404.946.5618   
Email: juan-pablo.perez@hdrinc.com

3. Indicate the type of ownership (sole proprietorship, partnership, 
corporation, joint venture, or limited liability company-list state 
in which incorporated) and parent company, if any. 
 
HDR Architecture, Inc. is a corporation and was 
incorporated in Nebraska in 1930.

4. Provide the name, address, and telephone number of the point 
of contact that will serve as the authorized negotiator(s) for the 
Offeror. The authorized negotiator shall have the authority to 
act on behalf of the Offeror and make binding commitments for 
the Offeror and any sub-consultants concerning this RFP. 
 
Juan-Pablo Perez, Managing Principal 
1100 Peachtree Street, NE, Suite 400 
Atlanta, Georgia 30309-4503 
Phone: 404.601.8650 

5. Please disclose any ownership and/or relationships with 
Grady Health System and /or the Grady Memorial Hospital 
Corporation d/b/a Grady Health System. 
 
N/A

6. Disclose whether the proposing entity, or any shareholder, 
member, partner, officer or employee thereof, is presently a 
party to any pending litigation, or has received notice of any 
threatened litigation or claim directly or indirectly bearing on 
Grady Health System or The Fulton-DeKalb Hospital Authority. 
 
N/A

7. Disclose the name and title of any of Grady Health System’s 
and/or The Fulton-DeKalb Hospital Authority board members, 
officers, administration, employees, contracted employees or 
independent contractors that are employed by or affiliated with 
the Offeror’s organization. This includes but is not limited to the 
Offeror’s board members, committee members and advisors 
to the Offeror’s organization, holding company or any owned 
subsidiary. This disclosure will apply to anyone affiliated with 
Grady Health System per its description in Section 1 above. 
 
N/A

  

hdrinc.com

Version #
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2017 Audited Financial Statements
The 2017 HDR, Inc. and Subsidiaries audited financial statements are attached.  This 
document contains confidential or privileged information and is being submitted to 
meet client requirements. The unauthorized use or dissemination of any confidential or 
privileged information is prohibited.

  

hdrinc.com

Version #



Ernst & Young LLP

  
 

 

C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S   
A N D  S U P P L E M E N T A L  S C H E D U L E S  

HDR, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Years Ended December 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016,  
Supplemental Schedules as of and for the Year Ended  
December 30, 2017 
With Report of Independent Auditors 

 



    December 30, December 31,
    2017 2016
Assets    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents    243,652$        161,933$        
Receivables – net    457,925         441,452          
Unbilled receivables    386,963         339,268          
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    31,153           28,309            

Total current assets    1,119,693      970,962          
    
Goodwill – net    129,384         150,933          
Intangible assets – net    31,692           35,866            
Deferred compensation investments    92,117           82,563            
Other noncurrent assets    30,843           24,521            
Property and equipment – net    97,981           99,140            
Total assets    1,501,710$     1,363,985$      
    
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity    
Current liabilities:    

Current installments of long-term debt    4,015$             1,534$            
Accounts payable    122,587         118,293          
Billings in excess of revenue    161,967         142,377          
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities    369,766         247,972          

Total current liabilities    658,335         510,176          
    
Long-term debt, excluding current installments    3,865              1,571              
Deferred compensation    288,256         315,035          
Other noncurrent liabilities    13,521           11,051            
    
Commitments and contingencies    

Stockholders’ equity:    
Common stock, $0.0004 par value – 75,000,000 shares  

authorized; 65,131,265 shares issued in 2017 and 2016    26                   26                   
Treasury stock representing 20,416,943 and 18,088,169 

common shares in 2017 and 2016, respectively    (696,139)        (579,625)         
Additional paid-in capital    474,017         424,453          
Retained earnings    753,526         670,855          
Accumulated other comprehensive income    6,303              10,443            

Total stockholders’ equity    537,733         526,152          
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity    1,501,710$     1,363,985$      

    
See notes to consolidated financial statements.

HDR, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In Thousands)

   1712-2538338       3



December 30, December 31,
2017 2016

 
Gross revenues    2,362,149$      2,230,535$      
Subcontractor costs    668,217           612,412           
Net revenues    1,693,932        1,618,123        
Direct costs    646,458           628,107           
Gross profit    1,047,474        990,016           
    
Overhead expenses:    

General and administrative    710,413           693,834           
Marketing    104,454           95,487             
Retirement plans    36,102             34,555             
Stock-based compensation expense    67,248             24,157             
Depreciation    21,238             20,388             
Amortization of goodwill and intangibles    31,695             32,154             

Total overhead expenses    971,150           900,575           
    
Operating income    76,324             89,441             
    
Other income (expense):    

Interest income, dividends, and net realized    
and unrealized gains    981                  1,570               

Interest expense    (574)                 (514)                 
Foreign currency exchange gain 7,933               116                  

Total other income 8,340               1,172               
    
Income before income taxes    84,664             90,613             
Income tax expense    1,993               311                  
Net income    82,671             90,302             
    
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:    

Foreign currency translation adjustments    (4,140)              2,283               
Total comprehensive income    78,531$          92,585$          
    
See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Year Ended

HDR, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(In Thousands)

   1712-2538338       4



Accumulated
Additional Other

Common Treasury Paid-In Retained Comprehensive
Stock Stock Capital Earnings Income Total

 
Balance – December 26, 2015    26$         (461,411)$    369,945$       580,553$    8,160$               497,273$      

Net income    –             –                   –                    90,302        –                        90,302          
Shares issued to retirement plan    –             7,010            8,922             –                 –                        15,932          
Foreign currency translation adjustments    –             –                   –                    –                 2,283                 2,283            
Repurchase of common stock    –             (163,655)      –                    –                 –                        (163,655)       
Sale of common stock    –             38,431          45,586           –                 –                        84,017          

Balance – December 31, 2016    26           (579,625)      424,453         670,855      10,443               526,152        
Net income    –             –                   –                    82,671        –                        82,671          
Shares issued to retirement plan    –             6,924            9,734             –                 –                        16,658          
Foreign currency translation adjustments    –             –                   –                    –                 (4,140)               (4,140)           
Repurchase of common stock    –             (157,826)      –                    –                 –                        (157,826)       
Sale of common stock    –             34,388          39,830           –                 –                        74,218          

Balance – December 30, 2017    26$         (696,139)$    474,017$       753,526$    6,303$               537,733$      
    
See notes to consolidated financial statements.

HDR, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(In Thousands)

   1712-2538338       5



    
    December 30, December 31,
    2017 2016
Operating activities    
Net income    82,671$              90,302$             
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by 

(used in) operating activities:    
Depreciation and amortization    52,933               52,542               
Stock-based compensation expense    67,248               24,157               
Expense for shares issued to retirement plan    16,658               15,932               
Other adjustments    5,411                 991                    
Change in assets and liabilities – net of acquisitions:    

Receivables    (19,626)            121,289             
Unbilled receivables    (49,935)            (242,441)           
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    (3,178)               (3,903)               
Other noncurrent assets    (15,874)            (13,551)             
Accounts payable    2,808                 (30,737)             
Billings in excess of revenue    18,526               (12,406)             
Accrued expenses    42,535               16,001               
Other noncurrent liabilities    (15,377)            (24,909)             

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities    184,800            (6,733)               
    
Investing activities    
Purchase of property and equipment    (22,460)            (31,790)             
Net proceeds from cash surrender value of insurance policies    172                    (353)                  
Acquisition of businesses – net of cash acquired    (4,014)               (1,114)               
Proceeds from sale of equipment    398                    347                    
Net cash used in investing activities    (25,904)            (32,910)             
    
Financing activities    
Payments on long-term debt    (4,685)               (1,287)               
Proceeds from long term debt 8,910                 –                        
Repurchase of common stock    (157,826)          (163,655)           
Proceeds from issuance of common stock    74,218               83,852               
Net cash used in financing activities    (79,383)            (81,090)             
    
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    2,206                 90                      
    
Net change in cash and cash equivalents    81,719               (120,643)           
Cash and cash equivalents:    

Beginning of year    161,933            282,576             
End of year    243,652$           161,933$           

    
See notes to consolidated financial statements.

HDR, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In Thousands)

Year Ended

   1712-2538338       6



EY  |  Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

About EY
EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction and advisory services. 
The insights and quality services we deliver help build trust and confidence in 
the capital markets and in economies the world over. We develop outstanding 
leaders who team to deliver on our promises to all of our stakeholders. In so 
doing, we play a critical role in building a better working world for our people, 
for our clients and for our communities. 

EY refers to the global organization, and may refer to one or more, of the 
member firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, each of which is a separate 
legal entity. Ernst & Young Global Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, 
does not provide services to clients. For more information about our 
organization, please visit ey.com. 

© 2018 Ernst & Young LLP. 
All Rights Reserved.

ey.com
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Grady Health System  |  02  |  Approach & Workplan
 

Our approach to your exciting project  rests on 
an overarching goal of putting people first, and 
allowing the design solution to be reflective of the 
goals and objectives that will allow a state of the art 
solution. But meaningful, award-winning, “patient-
first” design doesn’t just happen by  chance. It takes 
a very collaborative, innovative approach guided 
by national expertise in outpatient facilities of 
the future to address each of the issues of critical 
importance to you, as outlined in the RFP.

APPROACH & 
WORKPLAN
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PROJECT 
APPROACH
In the following pages, we detail how we will 
address each of these critical issues and include 
a summary of key objectives, tools, activities, 
work sessions, deliverables, and schedule for 
each phase of the project.

Description of Services / Team Members
In determining the appropriate services and team members for the GHS CASS 
project, we felt it was important to provide as many of our in-house services as 
possible (reflecting our position as the leader in Healthcare design), but also to align 
ourselves with as many team members who have similar experience in providing 
sophisticated solutions in a tight, urban, major provider setting.  We also believe that 
local participation and expertise from our teaming partners, who all have a stake 
in understanding the importance of having GHS continue to deliver high quality 
healthcare, will provide the best opportunity for project success.  To that end, we have 
assembled a team that matches well with our personal experiences and who can bring 
a wealth of knowledge, all of whom our team have worked well together previously.  
We also feel that due to the complexity of the project, having multiple service offerings 
from each team member will enhance our quality outcomes.

Below you will find a brief description of our Team members as they relate to the 
requested services outlined in the RFP / Architectural Services Agreement, as well 
as those supplemental services that we feel should be incorporated into the Project.  
Unless noted otherwise ALL services requested in the ASG, Exhibit C are provided 
within our Services under this RFP response.  Further descriptions of the key team 
members and their relevant experiences can be found in our Staffing Plan.

Having such breadth of relevant expertise local and the added support of a national team of 
experts offers a unique advantage. There isn’t an issue that can come up that we don’t have 
an in- house resource for, or one that can be accessed through our collaborated Consulting 
Team. Since the majority of our proposed services team is all part of the same company, our 
complete attention can be placed on coordinating, collaborating  and  communicating  with 
GHS.  This is an advantage we have in place from day one.

Services Provided: Architectural Design and Implementation through Construction; Program 
Analysis; Clinical Consulting; LEAN Design consultation; Interior Design; Presentation and 
media relations graphics / models; Graphic, Signage / Wayfindng design and coordination; 
Sustainable Design / Consultation; Acoustical Design / Consultation; Furniture/Fixtures 
Design and Consultation

Experience with Grady: Having worked with Grady on the Tactical Campus Master Plan, our 
team is familiar with the strategic goals for the entire campus, and we are familiar with Grady 
processes, procedures, standards, and requirements.

8. 

Provide your approach for performing 

design, permitting, and construction 

administration as Architect/Engineer of 

Record for a design assist/design build 

delivery strategy. The response should be 

presented in a narrative format that the 

firm would typically use to deliver an offer 

and scope of services to a client. 

HDR - Local Team, National Expertise

  

hdrinc.com

Version #
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Walter P Moore first opened an Atlanta 
office in 1989, and they have worked 
extensively in and around the city and 
state on projects ranging from the National 
Center for Civil & Human Rights to the new 
Emory University Hospital to SunTrust Park. 

Services Provided: Structural Design/
Engineering (CASS), Structural Design/
Engineering (Parking Garage), Exterior 
Building Envelope/Enclosure Consulting

Experience with HDR: Mission Hospital 
for Advanced Medicine, Virginia 
Commonwealth University Adult 
Ambulatory Care Facility, University of 
Texas Medical Branch, Johns Hopkins All 
Children’s Hospital, Memorial Hermann 
Sugar Land Hospital, Lee Memorial 
Hospital, Christus Trinity Mother Frances 
Hospital, University of Mississippi Medical 
Center Batson Children’s Hospital, Virginia 
Hospital Center, Baylor University Medical 
Center.

Founded in 1995, CSF Consulting has 
delivered more than 1,200 successful 
projects. At CSF, the Structural Engineering 
experience of their design group yields 
designs that are safe, economical, and 
efficient, using the latest technology and 
project controls.

Services Provided: Structural Design/
Engineering (CASS), Structural Design/
Engineering (Parking Garage), in association 
with Walter P Moore.

JENSEN HUGHES is one of the largest fire 
protection and life safety engineering and 
consulting firms, committed to providing 
clients with cost-effective, high quality 
services that are crucial to the protection of 
life, property, and the environment.

Services Provided: AHJ/Code Reviews

Experience with HDR: North York General 
Hospital, US Deapremtne of Veterans 
Affairs, Sunnybrook Health Sciences Center, 
Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, Spartanburg 
Regional Medical Center, University of 
Mississippi Medical Center, University of 
Pennsylvania Medicine, Whidbey General 
Hospital

Experience with Grady: Life Safety Survey 
and Statement of Conditions.

SHR is a global Medical Equipment 
Planning, Procurement and Move 
Management firm that prides themselves 
on their ability to assist hospitals, 
architects, and developers with the clinical 
knowledge and integrity required to design 
and construct healthcare facilities. 

Services Provided: Equipment Planning, 
Move Management

Experience with HDR: Grady Health 
System Hybrid OR/Perioperative 
Renovation

Experience with Grady: SHR has provided 
medical equipment planning, procurement, 
and facility transition / move management 
services for 13 projects for Grady Health 
System, ranging from 5,000 - 100,000 
SF with medical equipment budgets from 
$100,000 to $7.4 million.

CSG is headquartered in Atlanta, and 
has successfully participated in over 
6,000 projects for more than 550 clients 
throughout the world.

Services Provided: Cost Estimating (All 
Phases)

Experience with HDR: Grady Health 
System Tactical Master Plan, Grady 
Health System Hybrid OR/Perioperative 
Renovation, Grady Health System 9C Office 
Build-Out

Experience with Grady: Since 1990, CSG 
has completed 25 projects for Grady Health 
System, including the programming phase 
for the Grady Center for Advanced Surgical 
Services.

Newcomb & Boyd is a multidiscipline 
consulting and engineering firm providing 
innovative solutions for facility design, 
construction and maintenance. 

Services Provided: MEP/FP Desiogn and 
Engineering (CASS Building), Site Lighting 
Design, Code-Required Energy Model

Experience with HDR: Grady Health 
System Tactical Master Plan, Grady Health 
System Core Lab Remodel, Grady Health 
System 9C Office Build-Out, UGA Science 
Learning Center

Experience with Grady: Newcomb & Boyd 
have provided services for more than 145 
projects for Grady Health System, including 
the Campus Master Plan, Center for 
Advanced Surgical Services Programming, 
Emergency Departent Addition and 
Renovation, and the Correll Cardiac Center 
Renovation.

RPA has provided engineering and 
business consulting services to a variety of 
businesses since 1994 and specializes in 
engineering systems analysis and design 
and business analysis. Key personnel have 
extensive engineering and professional 
management experience in both public 
and private sectors. RPA is certified as a 
Minority Business Enterprise (MBE).

Services Provided: MEP/FP Desiogn and 
Engineering (Parking Garage) in association 
with Newcomb & Boyd

EDI is a leading technology consulting 
and design firm headquartered in Atlanta 
supporting projects nationwide and 
around the world. With over 30 years of 
experience, EDI leads healthcare clients 
through the “clinical transformation” 
process by providing a holistic, 
collaborative, and visionary approach.

Services Provided: Low Voltage/
Communications (including structured 
cabling), Nurse Call, Radio Systems, 
Security

Experience with HDR: Northside Cherokee 
Hospital, Northside Cherokee MOB, All 
Children’s Hospital Education & Research 
Facility, University of New Mexico Hospital, 
MidMichigan Medical Center

Experience with Grady: EDI has worked 
with Grady since 2009.

NEWCOMB & BOYD WALTER P MOORE

JENSEN HUGHES
EDI

CSF CONSULTING

STRATEGIC HOSPITAL RESOURCES

R. POWELL & ASSOCIATES
COSTING SERVICES GROUP

Consultant Team and Services Outline
Specialized consultants bring integrated skills sets and perspectives for proven success.
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Schedule /
Resources
Detailed schedule analysis is included in 

Section 02, Question 12. 

Resources (staffing) details are included 

in Section 03.

We understand and 
acknowledge the timeline 
given in the RFP and ASG.  
It is our intent to honor that 
timeline of deliverables, and 
where possible, decrease 
the documentation timeline 
to allow construction to 
commence as soon as 
possible after the CON 
approval has been obtained.  
In order to achieve the 
highest quality standards 
and increase decision 
efficiency, we offer the 
following as an outline 
of the organizational and 
approval structure:

PROPOSED PROJECT ORGANIZATION

Establishing the organizational or governance structure upfront is mission critical. The 
foundation of the organizational structure lies in setting expectations for each team to 
facilitate understanding of roles and responsibilities, and appropriate decision channels. 
We propose the following organizational structure to allow the appropriate levels of 
decision and checks / balances throughout the Design and Construction Process:

CORE TEAM

In addition to the Steering Committee identified in the RFP, the core team would consist 
of the Project Managers from both GHS and HDR along with a few additional key team 
members to assure constant progress, address and resolve Action Items and determine 
what, if anything, should be escalated to the Steering  Committee.

STEERING COMMITTEE

The Steering Committee, identified in the GHS RFP proposal, should consist of no more 
than 8-10 members, who represent an inclusive group of senior leadership, providers, 
clinical staff and facility representatives. This committee with interface with the HDR 
Core Team, along with key team members the conclusion of each work session.  This 
committee will have the authority to provide overall project direction.

GHS STAKEHOLDERS

The HDR Design Team’s primary interface with all of the GHS stakeholders will be 
Work Sessions held throughout the design process.  These sessions, typical held on 
site (at the colocation building) every few weeks throughout the design phases, include 
a Kick-off session, visioning sessions, design charettes (explained below) and user 
group and facility management meetings. To assure that the right people are at the 
right meeting, HDR’s Core team will work ahead of time with GHS to establish the list 
of attendees. We understand that for most of the GHS’ stakeholders, every hour they 
spend reviewing this project is in addition to their ongoing responsibilities. Our goal is 
that every GHS stakeholder feels their investment in this project was time well spent 
and an investment in improved outcomes.
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COLLABORATIVE 
PROCESS
We know that not every project is the same and 
that the tough questions that each healthcare 
client deals with are unique to their market, 
their patient population, their physicians, and 
the community they service. That is why HDR 
employs various strategies to collaborate, to 
engage,  to uncover data, and to operate both 
divergently and convergently to narrow in on 
the  solution.

Our project process and delivery approach 
has you at GHS at the center of all that we do. 
At HDR, we believe that for the project to be 
successful, your vision and mission have to be 
the main driver for the CASS project. In order 
to do that, we have a systematic process that 
integrates you into each stage of our design 
process, as explained below.

9. 

Describe your concept for deploying 

the required resources to the Project. 

Describe any on-site needs to be 

provided by Grady Health System.
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VISIONING SESSIONS
For each and every project, we begin 
by conducting a Visioning   Session 
to fully understand expectations of 
key stakeholders in the project, which 
typically includes community and 
hospital leaders, residents, and care 
providers and to determine guiding 
principles, goals, and most importantly, 
client requirements.

In order for the Visioning session at GHS 
to be successful, HDR suggests that both 
staff and governing administrators be 
invited  so that the result demonstrates 
the collaboration necessary to make the 
CASS expansion successful.

GOAL SETTING
As a result of the visioning sessions, 
we will have established the functional 
and aesthetic goals of the project for 
measuring success. This includes a 
statement of the goals   and drivers for 
the project, which will include internal 
drivers as they relate to program and 
function, external drivers which address 
physical environment and performance, 
community drivers affected by local 
politics and stakeholders, and human 
drivers that address the conditional and 
user experience aspects of the project. 
These project goals set the framework 
in which internal project decisions 
are determined.

TEAM ON-BOARDING
A team kick-off meeting, which includes 
team members from HDR and GHS and 
will help to get everyone on the same 
page from the very start. At this meeting, 
the project scope, schedule and budget 
will be discussed and the client vision 
and project goals will be shared with the 
team. It is important that the entire team 
be aware of these factors from the very 
beginning to help things run smoothly 
throughout the duration of the project.

PREV
IEW

REV
IEW

EN
D

O
RSE

Define 
the Problem

Multiple Solutions 
Presented

Refine to 
Single Concept

Team  
On-boarding

Visioning In-depth 
Analysis

1 2 3

Design 
Charrette(s)
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PREVIEW
REVIEW

ENDORSE
Our Collaborative Approach to Achieving Consensus

PREVIEW

Every attendee will receive appropriate 
review materials and an agenda that 
details what the meeting’s objectives 
are, summarizes what will be presented 
and  discussed, and lists what decisions  
will need to be endorsed by the GHS 
stakeholders at the conclusion of the 
work session. It is likely that multiple 
options and/or directions will be 
recommended by the design team.

REVIEW

Each meeting within a work session 
will focus on presenting a preferred 
scheme or option for the solution set. 
It sometimes may involve a hybrid of 
the Preview schemes, or something 
different. It is all based on feedback and 
our best-practice recommendations.  
More often than not, during this face to 
face collaborative process, questions 
and ideas will be raised that need to 
be evaluated by the HDR Team. This  
will require a follow up meeting on the 
second day of the work session to arrive 
at a consensus or plan of action for 
proceeding forward.

ENDORSE

At the end of each meeting, there will 
be an endorsement of the direction 
collectively arrived at during this  work 
session that the HDR design team can 
move forward with. Finally, the outcomes 
of all the meetings during a particular 
Work Session will be integrated into a 
final meeting with the GHS and HDR 
Core Teams summarizing the outcomes 
of the individual meetings and identifying 
any issues the need to be resolved prior 
to the next work session.
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CHARRETTES

HDR also uses intense group  
meetings  known  as  charrettes  to 
gain  momentum  and  collaborate 
with key stakeholders. We 
anticipate holding several charrettes 
with the GHS team at teh colocation 
site in order to quickly address key  
issues  and  come  to  consensus on 
big ideas. Our charrettes are fast, 
focused, and organized to generate 
deep insight into complex  problems 
and encourage rapid prototyping 
that yields conceptual development.

Concepts are informed by the 
project vision and the team’s 
in-depth analysis and in the end, 
multiple options are measured 
against the determined drivers.

This is a fully engaged method 
that integrates the owner in the 
solutions. In organizations such as 
yours, it’s not realistic to plan on all 
users   being part of every meeting. 
HDR is successful at managing 
large “town hall” meetings where 
key issues  and project direction 
are explained to the organization, 

generating a sense of clarity and 
transparency about the project 
development. We find that this 
fosters excitement and engages 
the staff at all levels while helping 
to maintain a positive outlook 
and morale for the team. All of 
these processes and meetings are 
designed to involve the GHS team 
to create an innovative and exciting 
solution and to enjoy the process 
together.  We propose that all of 
these Charrettes be held at the 
offered colocation space.
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Adaptability, Forethought 
and Creativity to Changes 
Inherent in the Health Care 
Industry 
National expertise in outpatient / surgery 
centers of the future: As the number one 
health care A/E firm in the country, HDR’s 
healthcare program has a dedicated cadre 
of specialists on staff to address not just 
the current trends in facility, business, 
regulatory and clinical operations, but more 
importantly where these components of the 
health care industry are going in the future. 
This insight comes from our specialists 
working on projects all over the country and 
internationally where similar discussions are  
taking place. In addition to the specialists 
listed as a part of this team, you will have full 
access to HDR brain trust as specific issues 
come up.

Keen Attention To Design Impacts On Costs
One of the key ongoing tasks of the HDR Core team 
is to anticipate, identify and quantify requests  and 
recommendations that have an impact on project cost. To 
assure that scope, building performance and quality items are 
not added to the project without ongoing cost evaluation, the 
HDR and GHS Core Teams will work continuously throughout 
the project to verify initial cost assumptions match what is being 
proposed. Final decisions as to what will be included in the 
project  scope or not may require consulting with the Steering 
Committee throughout the  process

ONGOING INTERFACE WITH THE COST ESTIMATOR AND 
CONSTRUCTION MANAGER
At the conclusion of each work session, HDR will coordinate 
with the CSG and/or the Construction Manager / Design Assist 
/Build subcontractors to validate cost assumptions and update 
the parametric cost model as appropriate.   We also require 
that these entities be present in the work sessions to allow “real 
time” adjustments, clarifications  and feedback.

LIFE CYCLE EVALUATION
HDR will evaluate components of the project that have a 
greater initial cost but may result in a long  term operational 
cost savings. These items are typically related to building 
energy performance.   HDR and our consulting team has 
extensive experience in modeling projected energy use of 
buildings in order  to make these evaluations. The initial cost 
premium will also be established upfront before completion of 
Schematic  Design.

“GOOD, BETTER, BEST” EVALUATION
To maintain budget compliance, various material, finish  and 
equipment selections need to be evaluated in a “good, better, 
best” scenario. While we would never recommend anything 
less than a “good” product, requiring proprietary or “top of the 
line” products can become budget breakers if not addressed. 
Alternate products with similar appearance or performance will 
be evaluated on an ongoing basis with a constant reference back 
to the Project Goals and Risk  Evaluation.

SCOPE INCREASE EVALUATION
The final threat to budget compliance is scope increase- adding 
unprogrammed square footage or increased performance 
parameters- to the project. While we expect that the Owner 
should provide a reasonable square footage contingency to 
accommodate spaces that are required within a department 
but not initially accounted for, scope increases will need to be 
rigorously and consistently checked. The HDR and GHS Core 
Team would need  to determine what scope reduction would 
offset  any approved scope increase.    The project will be 
designed to allow logical expansion in every department as well 
as accommodating overall building expansion to allow future 
growth and space needs that are not in the initial budget.
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Timely And Thorough Information
ACTION ITEMS LOG
The HDR Core Team will maintain an Action Item Log 
throughout the Design process. Any request or issue that comes 
out before, during or after a project meeting will be documented 
on the log. These requests or issues may come from the GHS 
team, the HDR team or the CM team.  In addition to identifying 
the issue, this log also documents who is responsible for 
resolving this issue and how the issue was resolved. A regular 
review outside of  the scheduled work sessions will also 
take place to ensure consistent and expeditious follow up 
and  resolution.

EASE OF ACCESS TO PROJECT INFORMATION
HDR utilizes Newforma for document and information 
management in both the design and construction phases, 
and we are also actively using the e-Builder platform that is 
being required from GHS. Therefore, it is easy to understand 
that we believe it is vitally important to allow instant and 
stress-free access to all relevant information and processes 
for all stakeholders to ensure conformance with the proposed 
Project Goals.

ANTICIPATORY APPROACH TO ISSUE IDENTIFICATION 
AND RESOLUTION
The three primary threats to maintaining the project schedule or 
budget or both are:

 • Competing or conflicting stakeholder requests
 • Requests that exceed the project  budget
 • Decisions not made on a timely  basis

Resolution of competing or conflicting stakeholder requests 
and requests that exceed the project budget will typically be 
discussed with the GHS Steering Committee prior to the next 
Work Session. It is HDR’s responsibility, with input from CSG 
and the Design Assist CM, to provide the information necessary 
for decision making as well as a recommendation.

To avoid critical path decisions not being made on a timely 
basis, HDR endeavors to identify crucial decisions that need to 
be made and the deadline for these decisions.

These will be documented in the Action Item List so  that the 
full Project Team is aware of them. HDR works to assure that 
all the information required to make an informed decision 
has been disseminated, discussed and evaluated prior to the 
decision deadline.

Clear Written And Verbal Communication
CONSISTENT FORMAT AND CONSISTENT ISSUING OF 
WRITTEN COMMUNICATION
HDR’s Management team consistently uses project specific 
agendas, meeting minutes, action item lists and transmittals 
to document discussions, transfer of information and other 
documents established as a  part of the Communication Plan set 
up at the beginning of the project. These documents comprise 
the official project record as we go along so that information can 
be easily reviewed and retrieved. While e-mail and phone calls 
are also a part of the communication process, we discourage 
them as the primary method for identifying issues and 
documenting decisions.

WEEKLY  MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE CALL
The HDR Management Team has consistently used a standing 
weekly conference call to review project schedule and 
outstanding project issues on the Action Item List. These are 
intended to be quick hitting, summarization interactions focused 
on items needing priority attention.

Consistent Completion And Submittal Of 
Project Deliverables As Required By The Project 
And The Contract.
HDR’s Core Team will carefully delineate the appropriate 
deliverables in each phase of the project and review with 
the GHS Core Team as a part of the Project Initiation. These 
deliverables will be documented in both the Contractual 
Agreement and the Work Plan document established for 
this project.

This deliverable list (as annotated in Exhibit G of the ASG), along 
with project budget and schedule, will form a living document 
that HDR and GHS will use to maintain and update throughout 
the project. HDR’s Core Team will review the deliverables with 
GHS at the end of each phase and will follow up on the revised 
submittal based on stakeholder review comments and project 
cost evaluation. As a part of each phase, HDR will undergo 
an Internal Quality Assurance/ Quality Control to assure 
compliance not only with required deliverables but adherence to 
best practices and  appropriate quality standards.
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10. 

Identify the best practices and conditions that should be applied 

in order to conduct and deliver highly successful design assist/

design build project.

Working with design assist/builders to 
incorporate their input early in the process 
will facilitate evaluation and expedite 
coordination. We’ve found that early 
discussion of constructability and phasing 
for complex projects with our contractor 
partners influences design decisions 
and should be viewed as an integral 
component of scenario development. This 
comprehensive evaluation process embodies 
the lean process of minimizing rework by 
going slow at the beginning to move faster 
at the end.  Once direction is approved by 
the GHS team, the design team can proceed 
with implementation using the same process 
of preparation, evaluation, communication 
to coordinate documentation and delivery of 
the project.

Pre-Fabrication Direct from BIM: We propose utilizing 3D 
steel shop drawing review to enhance process efficiency. 
For structural steel review, this process allows the structural 
engineer and steel fabricator to work out many issues prior to 
fabrication. A recent HDR 7-strory project used this approach to 
complete steel erection in less than 3 months with less than 10 
steel erection related RFIs. 

Design and Planning Workflow: Our Lean Certified RNs,  
strategic planners, analysts, industrial engineers and former 
hospital administrators will focus on optimizing staff, physician, 
material distribution and other project characteristics to 
maximize efficiency over the long term.  Our clinical team 
will provide simulation analysis for departmental and room 
layouts for operational efficiency and flow.  Using properties 
of parametric modeling / computational design (see focused 
inset following) we can embed standard room templates 
with information that support cost and schedule evaluation.  
Discussion with user groups will include options for minimizing 
disruption during construction.  

We come prepared: We’ve assembled a team with deep 
knowledge of how to optimize design solutions and plan  
operationally efficient interiors within the context of an  
environment of care and sense of place.  Our responsibility 
as planners and designers is to bring options to key decision 
makers so that together we find solutions that align with 
GHS priorities. 
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Our basic Design Assist/Build strategies are:

•  Collaborative team behaviors – early engagement of key 
stakeholders, mutual trust/ respect, multi-party terms of 
agreement (ilo true IPD Contract), colocation; significant 
engagement by all parties (including Owner)

• Proactive and persistent communication throughout the project. 

• Jointly developed and validated targets: project Objectives/ 
values, quality standards, target cost estimates, collaborative 
milestone schedule

•  Real time cost and schedule evaluation

•  Develop materials that simplify the decision making through 
understandable, comparable, and defensible visual and audio 
information. 

•  Detailed preparation for meetings to communicate items to be 
addressed and associated objectives. 

•  Utilize tools that allow information to be modified in real time to 
avoid having additional meetings and to expedite decision making.

•  Maintain a running issues log of items that still need to be 
resolved.  

• Innovative design and construction processes/tools - lean, TVD, 
VSM, commitment based planning, BIM (see below)

• Joint project control – joint decision making/governance, shared 
risk/ reward, safe harbor decisions, dispute resolution standards.

BIM Expertise:  BIM and Digital Tools are an integral part of all 
HDR project design and delivery from beginning to end.  All  ur 
projects are delivered in Revit, utilizing the most current version.  
Using smart tools to iterate planning and design options helps 
our teams develop options, moving them quickly from concept 
into design and production tools without re-work. Smart, efficient 
processes mean our teams concentrate on design, assisted by 
technology, providing the best value. 

BIM Deliverables:  We have anticipated delivery of the BIM model 
to GHS configured for use in facility asset management, if required.  
In order to provide a model that is effective for facility management 
post construction, it is necessary to have complete information 
at the conclusion of construction.  We propose the following to 
provide accurate model development:

•  Work directly with our project partners in a single model, 
allowing real-time integration during both design and construction 
phases.  Working closely with project partners to share design 
environments, utilizing downstream assets  in design models, 
and collaborating on a data and asset management strategy early 
will benefit both the State Health (GDCH) approval process and 
facilities management needs of the project.

•  Minimize data exchange issues through model sharing using 
cloud or virtual server solutions.

•  Automate information sharing utilizing tools such as RTV 
Tools.  This lessens staff time requirements and ensures regular 
and consistent updates to the BIM model.  HDR aims to utilize 
automation whenever possible.

•  Early identification of Clash issues.  HDR does not practice “Clash 
Detection” in the traditional sense and instead relies on “Clash 
Avoidance”, implemented as early as the schematic design phase.  
3D coordination efforts include the entire project team and occur 
regularly. 

•  Utilize the shared Revit model for all documentation updates 
during construction, ensuring that all documents/model are 
continuously updated, facilitating GDCH approvals and providing 
an accurate model for facilities management.
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11. 

Identify the practices and the factors that are most likely to 

impede producing a highly successful project.

COMMUNICATION 

We passionately believe in the idea of 
project integration—of operations planners/
programmers, architects, engineers, 
contractors, subcontractors, fabricators 
and suppliers—to reduce waste, enhance 
communication and build team camaraderie. 

The lack of any one of these entities not ‘buying in’ to the 
project’s goals and objectives stands to seriously jeopardize 
its success.  We will work with GHS to establish an on-site 
team, utilizing your colocation space, through our local Atlanta 
office as soon as possible. This space will be open to your team 
members and will provide a transparent, unedited view into 
the design process. This process brings together diverse points 
of view and specialization  reflecting the total supply chain of 
design and construction. The cross functional collaboration 
generates design solutions that not only save money and 
time, but increase the quality of the  building and reduce risk 
of changes.

Utilization of the communications tools mentioned earlier, 
on a transparent and consistent basis, is critical to ensuring a 
seamless understanding of project status by all stakeholders.

LACK OF KEY MEMBER PARTICIPATION

We recognize the stress and multifaceted 
need required of today’s healthcare 
providers, particularly in large, academic, 
urban settings.  

However, the only real way to achieve a successful, ground up 
and user workable solution is to have true participation from 
all relevant stakeholders, from day one.  We plan to work with 
GHS to outline a framework that is flexible to the relevant team 
members, utilizing concepts such as the colocation facility to 
ensure as much ease of opportunity and feedback as possible. 

We provide an interactive framework that allows the users 
multiple opportunities to react to what is being planned in the 
user group meetings and in real time. At HDR, we encourage 
and support the use of mock ups, product demos, and site visits 
to solidify decisions made by the Clinical / Core Team regarding 
equipment choices and design options. This is another very 
useful tool in creating “buy in” with the relevant stakeholders 
team. At the end of Design Development, we ask the user 
groups to sign off on the design and its critical elements. This 
is a very important step by drawing a line in the sand where 
any future changes typically come at a cost to the project 
and/or the project schedule. This approach emphasizes to 
users the importance of their committed participation in the 
planning process.  

Ultimately, however, we will request that GHS be a committed 
entity in ensuring the regular and uncompromising participation 
of their designated team members; without those commitments, 
it will be extremely difficult to maintain successful outcome.
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CHANGE MANAGEMENT

“The surest constant in life is change…” 

As leaders in healthcare design, our teams live within our 
Client’s world everyday. This means that we must understand 
that innovation is continual, and that many voices may have 
input related to design evolution over the project’s schedule. Of 
course, without control and anticipation, these variables could 
have significant impact to the project. As mentioned above, we 
utilize a highly objective set of User Team generated criteria 
for design evolution and evaluation. New User Team members, 
coming on midstream, will be fully briefed on the project vision 
and guiding principles, and the reasoning behind the design 
decisions made to date. 

Our plan for managing change is rooted in a few 
key components:

 • Making certain that the approved project scope is clearly 
defined in a simple and concise format. This document 
outlines what is included in the scope, but as importantly, 
what is not included in the project.

 •  Immediate notification to all Core Team members of the 
impact of a proposed change to the budget and schedule of 
the project. This must be done at the outset of a proposed 
revision, so that the impact can be mitigated.

 • Offer alternatives to the proposed change that would 
achieve the same goal without impacting the other project 
critical elements.

 •  Identifying changes in project scope and communicating 
this early with the core team, establishing the priority and 
necessity to revise scope, and identifying the impacts to cost 
and schedule are necessary to understanding the impacts 
and making a decision in a timely manner. 

HDR project management is suited to facilitating this 
conversation and managing the scope to maintain the schedule 
established for the project. Building flexibility into the process, 
establishing the dialogue to allow for informed decision making, 
HDR facilitates enabling the GHS team to address potential 
scope changes, and fully address the potential impact at 
all levels.

‘SCOPE CREEP’

Allowing the myriad constituents involved 
in a complex project to be non-committal 
or respective of the design process is a 
key factor in derailing project timelines 
and budgets.  

Although we are sensitive to various levels of user 
understanding in what can be a daunting process, it is important 
that all stakeholders commit early on to the process of making 
timely, informed decisions, and trusting in the process.

This process goes beyond that of establishing proactive 
communication with the core users, and creates meaningful 
and measurable criteria that the design team will utilize for 
evaluating the design options with the core user team. Each 
critical factor, guiding design principle, and core programmatic 
requirement is outlined, and weighted, into an integrated 
evaluation matrix. This matrix will be an objective and important 
tool in not only guiding the development of design, but also 
for the Users to measure the effectiveness of each option in 
meeting those established criteria. This matrix is developed 
with the User Team, and is positioned as their “rosetta stone” 
for design evaluation and acceptance through “sign-off”. It is 
highly integrated and very successful in building consensus for 
design evolution. It is also very useful in maintaining project 
momentum and synergy.

Incorporating our evaluation tools, we also utilize a 
methodology of design review that we have entitled “preview » 
review » endorse” (explained earlier). This strategy aligns our 
design process with your decision-making process, and allows 
each member of the User Team to evaluate solutions multiple 
times prior to full endorsement. This three-part process allows 
the team to reach consensus on issues and achieve a resolution 
before moving to the next phase of the project, which ultimately 
makes the entire design process more efficient.
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12. 

Provide timeline for each phase and sub-phase of your work.

While we know time is the essence of this agreement, it is our 
hope that time can be saved via our interactive and proactive 
workplan and collaboration approach. The timeline in the 
form of our proposed Gantt Chart / Microsoft Project critical 
path schedule is shown following, and available in detail in the 
electronic copy of this RFP response.  

We understand the importance of delivering projects on time 
and on budget. Working with our clients, we discuss the key 
milestones that must be met in order to meet the project 
goals and develop a work plan accordingly. The plan identifies 
all key decisions and what input is required to provide timely 
information. We develop a detailed meeting schedule that 
will identify the type of information required, the individuals 
or groups who need to provide it, and the dates by which the 
information will be developed.

To keep projects on schedule and to keep all team members 
focused on the project goals, we suggest extended work 
sessions be conducted during each phase.

These sessions, conducted with user groups and other client 
team members, serve to iron out any misunderstandings 
before they can affect the project and allow the design team 
to introduce innovative ideas for discussion. We utilize our 
three-dimensional CADD and Revit system capabilities in these 
sessions, allowing users to begin to understand the spatial 
implications of ideas under consideration.

Our management team is responsible for keeping the process 
on schedule and has the authority to make the decisions that 
are required to keep the project moving forward according to 
plan. This attention to the detail of the project is the key to our 
success. We continually strive to create a Lean design culture 
within our organization. This approach enhances decision 
making, innovation, reduces inefficiencies wherever feasibly 
possible, and can bring great synergy to the entire  team.

We acknowledge and confirm the requirements of the 
deliverables outlined in the ASG (Exhibits E and G).  Although 
those will be used as a baseline / minimum standard for 
execution of the Project, below we will outline some of the key 
components in each phase that we will use to expedite our 
delivery process.

ID Task Name Duration Start
1 HDR Design Team Work Plan - Grady CASS
2 Schematic Design 4 mons Mon 4/30/18
3 Program Verification + Concept Design 20 days Mon 4/30/18
4 Project kick-off / Program and Concept Validation 3 days Mon 4/30/18

5 Validate Vision and Guiding Principles with Grady 3 days Mon 4/30/18

6 Investigate/ Tour Existing Grady Outpatient/Ambulatory 
Facilities

3 days Thu 5/3/18

7 Site Information Gathering - Generate Concepts 5 days Tue 5/8/18
8 Review Draft report with Grady and receive 

feedback
3 days Wed 5/16/18

9 Produce final report 4 days Mon 5/21/18
10 Issue Program+Concept report 1 day Fri 5/25/18
11 Begin SD Production 60 days Mon 5/28/18
12 Develop 50% SD Documents 19 days Mon 5/28/18
13 50% SD issued for review 1 day Fri 6/22/18

14 Prepare 50% SD Cost Estimate 10 days Mon 6/25/18

15 Design Team QA/QC 10 days Mon 6/25/18

16 Develop SD Deliverable 20 days Mon 6/25/18

17 Pre-final SD meetings for review and feedback 1 day Mon 7/23/18

18 HDR receive pre-final SD comments 1 day Fri 7/27/18

19 HDR Prepare final SD Package 18 days Mon 7/23/18

20 SD Estimate prepared 10 days Mon 7/30/18

21 SD Phase Delivables Issued 1 day Fri 8/17/18

22 HDR Recieves Grady Review comments and NTP to DD 1 day Fri 8/24/18

23 Certificate of Need 140 days Mon 7/23/18
24 Issue CON Notice of Intent 20 days Mon 7/23/18

25 CON Application submission 1 day Fri 8/17/18

26 DCH reviews for completeness / HDR responds to questions 10 days Mon 8/20/18

27 DCH Notification of CON Completeness 1 day Mon 9/3/18

28 CON Review 120 days Mon 8/20/18

29 Public Hearing 20 days Fri 8/17/18

30 Notice of CON Approval 1 day Fri 2/1/19

31 Design Development 4 mons Mon 8/27/18
32 Design Team DD Production 29 days Mon 8/27/18

33 Begin DAS Coordination meetings 1 day? Tue 8/28/18

34 50% DD Deliverable issued for review 1 day Fri 10/5/18

35 Prepare 50% DD Cost Estimate 10 days Mon 10/8/18

36 Design Team QA/QC 10 days Mon 10/8/18

37 Design Team DD Production 24 days Mon 10/8/18

38 DAS coordination continues 1 day Tue 10/9/18

39 Pre-final DD meetings for review and feedback 1 day Fri 11/9/18

40 Prepare final DD Package 24 days Mon 11/12/18

41 DD Estimate prepared 10 days Wed 11/28/18

42 DD Phase deliverables issued 1 day Fri 12/14/18

43 Grady Final DD Review 4 days Mon 12/17/18

44 HDR Recieves Grady Review comments and NTP to CD 1 day Fri 12/21/18

45 Construction Documents 5 mons Wed 12/26/18
46 Design Team CD Production 50 days Wed 12/26/18

47 DB Subcontractors selected, add to DAS Coordination 1 day Thu 12/27/18

48 60% CD Deliverable for Review 1 day Mon 3/4/19

49 Prepare 60% CD Cost Estimate 10 days Mon 3/4/19

50 Design Team QA/QC 10 days Tue 3/5/19

51 DAS coordination 1 day Tue 3/19/19

52 AHJ Review 20 days Tue 3/5/19

53 Design Team CD Production 25 days Mon 3/18/19

54 Issue 90% CD for Grady Review + Permitting 1 day Mon 4/22/19

55 90% CD meetings for review and feedback 1 day? Mon 4/22/19

56 HDR receive 90% CD comments 1 day Fri 4/26/19

57 HDR Prepare final CD Package 11 days Mon 4/29/19

58 CD phase Estimate prepared 10 days Mon 4/29/19

59 Final Deliverable - CD's Issued for Construction 1 day Tue 5/14/19

60 Construction Phase Activities 645 days Mon 3/25/19
61 Bid+Negotiation 2 mons Mon 3/25/19
62 Mobilization 10 days Mon 5/20/19
63 CASS + Parking Deck Construction 568 days Wed 7/10/19
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ID Task Name Duration Start
1 HDR Design Team Work Plan - Grady CASS
2 Schematic Design 4 mons Mon 4/30/18
3 Program Verification + Concept Design 20 days Mon 4/30/18
4 Project kick-off / Program and Concept Validation 3 days Mon 4/30/18

5 Validate Vision and Guiding Principles with Grady 3 days Mon 4/30/18

6 Investigate/ Tour Existing Grady Outpatient/Ambulatory 
Facilities

3 days Thu 5/3/18

7 Site Information Gathering - Generate Concepts 5 days Tue 5/8/18
8 Review Draft report with Grady and receive 

feedback
3 days Wed 5/16/18

9 Produce final report 4 days Mon 5/21/18
10 Issue Program+Concept report 1 day Fri 5/25/18
11 Begin SD Production 60 days Mon 5/28/18
12 Develop 50% SD Documents 19 days Mon 5/28/18
13 50% SD issued for review 1 day Fri 6/22/18

14 Prepare 50% SD Cost Estimate 10 days Mon 6/25/18

15 Design Team QA/QC 10 days Mon 6/25/18

16 Develop SD Deliverable 20 days Mon 6/25/18

17 Pre-final SD meetings for review and feedback 1 day Mon 7/23/18

18 HDR receive pre-final SD comments 1 day Fri 7/27/18

19 HDR Prepare final SD Package 18 days Mon 7/23/18

20 SD Estimate prepared 10 days Mon 7/30/18

21 SD Phase Delivables Issued 1 day Fri 8/17/18

22 HDR Recieves Grady Review comments and NTP to DD 1 day Fri 8/24/18

23 Certificate of Need 140 days Mon 7/23/18
24 Issue CON Notice of Intent 20 days Mon 7/23/18

25 CON Application submission 1 day Fri 8/17/18

26 DCH reviews for completeness / HDR responds to questions 10 days Mon 8/20/18

27 DCH Notification of CON Completeness 1 day Mon 9/3/18

28 CON Review 120 days Mon 8/20/18

29 Public Hearing 20 days Fri 8/17/18

30 Notice of CON Approval 1 day Fri 2/1/19

31 Design Development 4 mons Mon 8/27/18
32 Design Team DD Production 29 days Mon 8/27/18

33 Begin DAS Coordination meetings 1 day? Tue 8/28/18

34 50% DD Deliverable issued for review 1 day Fri 10/5/18

35 Prepare 50% DD Cost Estimate 10 days Mon 10/8/18

36 Design Team QA/QC 10 days Mon 10/8/18

37 Design Team DD Production 24 days Mon 10/8/18

38 DAS coordination continues 1 day Tue 10/9/18

39 Pre-final DD meetings for review and feedback 1 day Fri 11/9/18

40 Prepare final DD Package 24 days Mon 11/12/18

41 DD Estimate prepared 10 days Wed 11/28/18

42 DD Phase deliverables issued 1 day Fri 12/14/18

43 Grady Final DD Review 4 days Mon 12/17/18

44 HDR Recieves Grady Review comments and NTP to CD 1 day Fri 12/21/18

45 Construction Documents 5 mons Wed 12/26/18
46 Design Team CD Production 50 days Wed 12/26/18

47 DB Subcontractors selected, add to DAS Coordination 1 day Thu 12/27/18

48 60% CD Deliverable for Review 1 day Mon 3/4/19

49 Prepare 60% CD Cost Estimate 10 days Mon 3/4/19

50 Design Team QA/QC 10 days Tue 3/5/19

51 DAS coordination 1 day Tue 3/19/19

52 AHJ Review 20 days Tue 3/5/19

53 Design Team CD Production 25 days Mon 3/18/19

54 Issue 90% CD for Grady Review + Permitting 1 day Mon 4/22/19

55 90% CD meetings for review and feedback 1 day? Mon 4/22/19

56 HDR receive 90% CD comments 1 day Fri 4/26/19

57 HDR Prepare final CD Package 11 days Mon 4/29/19

58 CD phase Estimate prepared 10 days Mon 4/29/19

59 Final Deliverable - CD's Issued for Construction 1 day Tue 5/14/19

60 Construction Phase Activities 645 days Mon 3/25/19
61 Bid+Negotiation 2 mons Mon 3/25/19
62 Mobilization 10 days Mon 5/20/19
63 CASS + Parking Deck Construction 568 days Wed 7/10/19
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MILESTONE 1  
CONCEPTUAL DESIGN
This phase is critical for ensuring the success 
of the Project, and sets the tone for quality 
expectations, teamwork, and metrics for 
evaluations of performance.  

At the completion of this Phase HDR/GHS will have:
 • A management plan
 • Guiding Principles for the development of the CASS / 

Parking Garage
 • A review of the initial space and functional program that 

represents the initial Scope of Work, as completed by NBBJ
 • Summary of associated site costs
 • A scope of work that complies with the Project Budget

Objectives
Establish and confirm project organization, a detailed scope 
of services, project pull plan (schedule), communication plan 
and building information modeling (BIM) plan for this project. 
Additionally during this phase we will gather and confirm GHS 
data, tour existing facilities and establish guiding principles that 
will form the basis for the building space program, functional 
program and design.

Activities
HDR and GHS Core Team will define the following:

 • Project  Organization  and Responsibilities
 • Project Scope of Services
 • Project Pull Plan (Schedule)
 • Communication Plan
 • BIM Plan

Confirm Project Scope: This critical step is required prior to 
beginning data collection and validation. It is important that HDR 
understands the challenges GHS wants to be solved and the 
questions that need to be addressed, which will result in successful 
outcomes and minimize the risk for over exceeding project timeline 
and budget.

Data / Information Gathering: HDR will submit a series of Data 
and Information Requests to GHS. The requests will include, but 
are not limited to: strategic business plans for the CASS, including 
market referral information and capacity projects; existing 
building and site plans as deemed appropriate, the approved 
space programs, concept plans and site plans created to date.  We 
understand that  Capacity Analysis will be given / assumed, but If 
HDR is requested to validate regional market analysis  and capacity 
model, then a more detailed data request will be submitted and 
adjustment to project timeline and project scope will be identified 
and reviewed with the Core Team before proceeding.

Evidence Based Design: HDR has led the industry in developing 
an “Evidence-Based” approach to our projects. The essence of this 
program involves the establishment of a “litmus test”, currently in 
four parts, which would be used as a barometer of overall project 
design performance and compliance with initial objectives. In its 
current form the benefit for GHS would be simply that, historically, 
there is often a disconnect between the high aspirations of initial 
programming and master planning and final project delivery. This 
is pervasive in our industry. The Concept Phase process (see also 
sidebar following) will attempt to solve this problem.

Benchmarking Site Visits: If GHS is interested in benchmarking 
site visits, then HDR will be responsible for recommending sites 
in addition to facilities identified by GHS. Timing of when the site 
visits take place is critical and should occur early during program  
verification  and  concept  design.   The “Lessons Learned” from 
each site visit will facilitate thoughtful discussions during the user 
group meetings. HDR proposes coordinating and attending up to 
two benchmark  site visits.

Existing Facilities Tours: Because we have previous extensive 
existing campus information due to our engagement in the recent 
Master Plan, we don’t anticipate a need for exhaustive discovery 
of the main Campus facilities.  However, should it be deemed 
necessary by the Team to understand current state operations and 
space challenges, our design    team may spend up to two to three 
days touring existing departments and programs proposed to be  
located in the CASS. 
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SYNAPSE: HDR proposes to deploy our uniquely tailored SYNAPSE 
process (Visioning session)—workshop-style ideation and co-
creation method—that enables both divergent (“blue sky”) thinking 
as well as convergent (“nuts and bolts” or “development”) thinking 
to drive new ideas while connecting these ideas to an executed 
plan. In order to make these ideas stick, they have to simultaneously 
satisfy the needs of constituents and the organization, and, HDR 
will partner with GHS to create recommendations for a path 
forward. The outcome from the SYNAPSE session will be to create    
a simple, compelling, and unifying vision from multiple perspectives 
and will keep innovative ideas top of mind. We will collaboratively 
develop a set of project Guiding Principles or Design Drivers to 
serve as a framework for examining possibilities that can also assist 
in ensuring consistency with the originally agreed upon essence of 
the team’s aspirations for the future.

Space Program Verification: The objective of the Space Program 
and Project Scope Verification Task is to confirm the provided space 
program that meets the Project Budget and can be used as a basis 
for developing a site specific design for this  Project.

HDR and GHS Steering Committee will verify the following:

Project Basis
• Volume Projections
• Overall  Program Strategy
• Understand GHS’s current operations and operational goals
• Understand GHS’s technology goals

Care Delivery Basis: With project basis of design in place, details 
surrounding the care delivery vision will be defined by the team:

• Outpatient Surgery Strategy /coordination with main 
campus

• Cancer Strategy
• Exam and Specialty Module Strategy
• Research/Education  Strategy
• On-Stage and Off-Stage Strategies

Concept development

Additional Work Sessions will be held to establish the project 
vision and guiding principles, evaluate data and existing 
operations and confirm project scope.

DELIVERABLES

1. Project Work Plan to be continuously updated 
throughout the Project documenting the activities list 
in this task
a. Communications  Plan
b. Detailed Pull Plan (Schedule)
c. Decision making protocol
d. Team Structure
e. Summary of Directives and Recommendations 

noting concerns, deficiencies, inconsistencies  
as applicable.

f. Cost Review and Understanding of Project 
Budget Requirements

2. GHS Business Plan Evaluation

3. Patient Volume Projections Evaluation

4. Space Program Verification. If applicable, an updated 
space program

a. Computational Design Model: By building a 
conceptual 3D Rhino model that allows for the 
association and storage of specified data points 
to design options, we can provide the Steering 
Committee with design information to make key 
decisions during this initial scope verification and 
during future design phase of the Cancer Center. 
The design information model can be used to 
provide insights into total cost, area totals, room 
counts, standardization, etc. This spatial data  can 
be visualized in real-time on screen as options are 
created and the design solutions are created. As 
space programming decisions are finalized, we will 
update the design information model to reflect 
the programming options. The design information 
model will be refined based on new information 
to provide insights on the key metrics established 
during Schematic Design and Site Plan Evaluation. 
This spatial data can be visualized in real-time on 
screen within the modeling environment as options 
are finalized and linked to dashboards for in- depth 
comparative analysis and reporting.

5. Evidence Based Design Confirmation
a. Vision / Development Principle Comparison
b. Program Comparison
c. Hospital of the Future Comparison
d. Benchmark Comparison

6. Updated Budget
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Evidence-Based
We have practiced “experience based design” long before 
the phrase evidence based design was developed. Today’s 
focus on evidence based design has spurred the publishing of 
significant research that can be incorporated into our design.

Accreditation and Certification
HDR is among the first Advocate Firms for the EDAC (Evidence- Based Design 
Accreditation and Certification) program developed by The Center for Health Design 
(CHD), a nonprofit research, education and advocacy organization. HDR has over 100 
certified EDAC Professionals.

Since the exam launched in April 2009, the EDAC program has gained the backing of a 
diverse list of forward-thinking industry organizations, now consisting of 13 Advocate 
Firms, an Educational Partner, and six Champion Firms.

Partnering with CHD, we hope to help accelerate the development of accepted 
EBD standards—standards that we believe are essential to the thoughtful design 
of innovative healthcare environments that empower our clients to heal, care, and 
work better.

Stats
In several recent design projects, implementation of evidence-based design principles 
contributed to the following:

 • Reduction of nosocomial infections by 20-30%
 • Reduction of patient falls and medication errors by 25-40%
 • Reduction in length of stay by 1-3 days
 • Increased direct care time by 30-40%
 • Increased patient and staff satisfaction by 10-40%
 • Reduction of staff travel distance by 30%
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Healthcare environments should be 
much quieter to reduce stress and 
improve sleep and other outcomes. 
Noise levels will be substantially 
lowered by the following combination of 
environmental interventions: providing 
several smaller waiting areas instead of 
one large waiting room, sliding doors in 
front of exam rooms instead of curtains, 
installing high-performance sound-
absorbing ceilings, and eliminating noise 
sources (for example, using noiseless 
paging), and telephone scheduling in 
clinic waiting room.

 • Provide patients stress reducing 
views of nature and other 
positive distractions.

 • Develop wayfinding systems 
that allow users, and particularly 
outpatients and visitors, to find their 
way efficiently and with little stress.

 • Improve ventilation through the 
use of improved filters, attention 
to appropriate pressurization, and 
special vigilance during construction.

 • Improve lighting, especially access 
to natural lighting and full-spectrum 
lighting to match daylight spectrum.

Design layouts and nurses stations 
to reduce staff walking and fatigue, 
increase patient care time, and support 
staff activities such as medication 
supply, communication, charting, and 
respite from stress. Our strategic plans 
and master plan diagrams/ plans will 
optimize patient flow, staff flow and 
ambulatory care operations.

In collaboration with our Healthcare 
Design team, we design hospital rooms 
that exceed patient expectations by 
incorporating leading-edge technologies 
and space for family. In addition to these 
factors, our team also lends its expertise 
to keeping patients, staff, and families 
safe by employing the following ideas:

 • Standardized Room Size and Layout
 • Acuity Flexible Rooms
 • Caregiver Sink in Rooms
 • Alcove with Window for Visibility
 • Private Room
 • Close proximity of Bed to Toilet
 • Bedside Computerization
 • Oversized Windows
 • Guest Overnight Accommodations
 • Decentralized Supply/Equipment
 • Bedside Bar Code Scanning

ON-STAGE AND OFF-STAGE
The facility layout should define and 
separate clearly the patient areas from 
the staff and support; the patient areas 
should comprise only functions that 
address them directly.

TECHNOLOGY
Pulling together experts in healthcare 
technology, security and low voltage 
systems, we have created a truly 
integrated service. While we grow 
increasingly more reliant on technology, 
healthcare facilities need to interface 
all aspects of their systems. Allowing 
the “right-hand” to talk to the “left-
hand” is the skill in technology planning. 
Healthcare facilities need to stay ahead 
of technology advances.

BUILDING INFORMATION MODELING
We use these BIM tools to capture all 
design information that can be displayed 
as a single model, to coordinate systems 
and space in three dimensions, and 
address issues of constructability and 
code compliance early on during the 
development of design.

FAMILY FOCUSED CARE
Family-focused models are based on 
the belief that patients are members of 
families and that families are important 
to recovery. Families are encouraged to 
be present and to participate in patients’ 
care. The model for family-centered 
care consists of large private rooms with 
decentralized caregiver workstations. 
Guest sleep accommodations in 
patient’s rooms are also available 
with no visitation restrictions. In 
this arrangement, minimal caregiver 
travel time is needed from patient to 
equipment and supplies.
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MILESTONES 2 AND 3  
SCHEMATIC DESIGN

Objectives
The objective during the Schematic Design 
Phase is to develop a site specific design 
based on the scope and quality that can 
be accommodated within the construction 
budget. We aim to create an expression of an 
integrated design, to reflect the future state 
operational flows and space program, to 
physically capture a bold idea that embodies 
the client’s vision and to be a steward of 
their resources.
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Activities
Architectural Planning:   During Schematic Design, the space and 
functional program established will be developed in greater detail 
with active user group participation. Key rooms will be studied  
carefully for functionality. HDR will utilize 3 dimensional walk 
through software to illustrate the key spaces and departments as 
they are developed.

Architectural Design:  The overall building and site as well as 
key clinical areas and major interior spaces will be developed and 
reviewed 3- dimensionally with active involvement from GHS  
stakeholders.

Structural Systems: The most appropriate and cost effective 
structural systems- both for foundations  and for the super 
structure will be established during this phase.

Mechanical,  Electrical  and  Plumbing  Systems:   The MEP 
systems in this project will be tied into a new, dedicated Central 
Utility  Plant  at  the CASS.  Capacities above  and  beyond the initial 
CUP planning to accommodate future growth will be addressed  
during this phase.

Energy Use Evaluation: Energy usage, a major concern today, is 
analyzed with respect to both  source and conservation. Existing 
monitoring and central monitoring and control is studied with 
regard to potential benefits in such areas as heat recovery, load 
shedding, peak shaving, motor load sequencing and power factor 
correction.

Regulatory Reviews / CON Submission: Preliminary Review 
with City of Atlanta and GDCH to review the project and identify 
key code, life safety and standards issues.  Prepare (with the 
assistance of the GHS consultant) the necessary documents for 
the submission of the required Certificate of Need with the Georgia 
Department of Community Health (GDCH).

Internal Quality Assurance/ Quality Control Review: The HDR 
team will have peers within HDR review the Schematic Design 
documents for life safety, building code and FGI guidelines 
compliance as well as comments based on their experience with 
similar projects.

DELIVERABLES

1. Future State Schematic Design Drawing Package:
a. Architectural Site Plan
b. Preliminary Utility Plan
c. Architecture Floor plans (room by room layout)
d. Proposed Structural sub-structure 

and super-structure

2. Update Computational Design Model: 
a. Our Computational Design Tool will be instrumental 

in testing implementation plan options for the 
CASS. Once programming decisions are finalized, 
we will update the design information model to 
reflect the outcomes of Milestones 01 and 02. The 
design information model will be refined based 
on third-party cost data provided to HDR and any 
additional phasing information to provide insights 
on the key metrics established. This spatial data 
can be visualized within the modeling environment 
as options are finalized for in-depth comparative 
analysis and  reporting.

3. Building Concept Design: 
a. 3D Images of key interior and exterior spaces

4. Narrative summarizing:
a. Project scope and  Description
b. Relevant codes and  standards
c. Updated  Project Schedule
d. Intended building materials, systems and 

equipment for site work, architecture, interiors, 
mechanical, plumbing, electrical and low voltage.

e. Life cycle cost analysis for appropriate HVAC 
system options

f. Area Tabulations
g. Cost Estimate/ Comparison against Cost Model
h. Summary of Scope or system adjustments to meet 

Project Budget

5. Production of Design  Assist / Build Guidelines for 
Contractor / major subcontractor bid and selections.

6. Preparation of the required documents for 
CON submission.
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It Takes The Right Tools 
Together with the Grady Health System team, we can create 
a comprehensive strategy to identify goals and detailed, 
prioritized metrics of success in order to expedite decision-
making throughout the planning and design process—a 
groundbreaking new design approach. We believe that both 
qualitative and quantitative features of process and design 
can be modeled, tested, and validated prior to construction 
and/or occupancy (the pre-occupancy evaluation) in order 
to optimize the goals of your organization and mitigate risk 
prior to live implementation. Our team will do this by creating 
one model that integrates strategic growth projections 
and programming, parametric modeling, project schedule, 
cost estimation, and operational modeling (discrete event 
simulation). The result is a consolidated, integrated visual that 
depicts an iterative, optimized, apples-to-apples comparison 
of multiple design scenarios and how they stack up to the 
goals and prioritized metrics of success for Grady Health 
System and its associated stakeholders. By linking all of these 
tools/software, not only does it allow you to test the impact 
of design modifications proactively in real-time, but it also 
allows you to test the impact of operational modifications 
proactively in real-time, showing how these modifications can 
impact outcomes such as revenue-generating space, cost per 
provider, and operational throughput for years to come.

Our team is uniquely positioned with a vast array of skill 
sets to help analyze, interpret, predict and understand 
data—translating it into information. Our healthcare 
analysts, statisticians, economists and accountants are 
well versed in the art of analytics; and continually work to 
develop innovative ways to take public and non public data, 
embedding it into its methodology, further informing its 
analytical process.
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Discrete Event Simulation
We offer additional capabilities to further study more 
specifically how existing resources (including, but not limited 
to: space, patients, clinicians, medications, supplies, equipment, 
and information) are currently being utilized. Our in-house 
healthcare planners use a powerful 3D simulation tool that 
lets clients evaluate alternatives to reduce risk and maximize 
the impact of their investments in resources and processes 
in situations where it is too expensive, risky, or complex to do 
live testing.

The simulation is a model (mathematical and logical) of a 
physical system that has changes at precise points in time. By 
partnering with user groups to map current processes as well as 
using the organization’s current state information (arrival times, 
staffing models, resource utilization, durations, travel distances, 
etc.), our simulation software models the current state system 
and optimizes it in a virtual environment to reduce variation and 
bottlenecks prior to live implementation. 

The current process is designed, tested and simulated using 
the client-specific data to establish a baseline considering the 
variation in the current processes. Working with user groups, 
our planners develop future state scenarios suggesting how 
processes could be re-engineered. These future state scenarios 
are then subjected to simulation experiments to determine the 
effects of proposed changes. 

By quantifying potential changes in processes and operations, 
decision-makers better understand the extent to which 
efficiencies could be gained, bottlenecks could be reduced, and 
throughput could be increased. Decision-makers are then able 
to select the desired future state scenarios that optimize these 
identified metrics. Finally, process changes are incorporated into 
our proprietary “capacity modeler” to further define key room 
needs, space, and ultimately, design.

2P/3P
Lean 2P (Preparation/Process) and Lean 3P (Production/ 
Preparation/Process) events are highly facilitated Rapid 
Improvement Events focusing on embracing this significant 
opportunity to successfully and simultaneously optimize design 
and operations. 2P/3P events make design and operations tangible 
through the facilitation of multiple live operational simulations 
within the proposed design(s)/space under realistic conditions 
whenever possible. By presenting customers and stakeholders 
with mocked-up versions of the design options, it allows everyone 
to look, touch, and feel the possible features and attributes much 
better than a drawing, narrative, or a virtual model could alone. 

By quantifying potential changes in processes and operations, 
decision-makers better understand the extent to which 
efficiencies could be gained, bottlenecks could be reduced, and 
throughput could be increased. Decision- Makers are then able 
to select the desired future state scenarios that optimize these 
identified metrics. 

Data Driven Design 
Great design solutions require the team to balance multiple 
goals and objectives in order to find the best path forward. 
In the early stages of the project, the project team will utilize 
parametric modeling to create an iterative framework based on 
project variables for studying design variations and alternatives. 
Parametric models are useful digital tools for ensuring that the 
team is designing directly to the project’s inputs and outputs. 
A parametric model of a clinic can be used to establish the 
relationships, areas, and ratios of the space program. As the 
designer changes the project variables, such as increasing the 
desired area per provider, the model is able to show the real-
time impacts on the space requirements. The project team is 
able to capture the results of the iterative process and provide 
clear visualizations demonstrating the cost and benefit of 
different solutions. 



Parametric Iteration
Great design solutions involve 
balancing multiple goals and 
objectives to find the best path 
forward. In the early stages of 
the project, the team will use 
parametric modeling to establish 
the project variables and create an 
iterative framework for studying 
design variations and alternatives. 

Parametric models are valuable 
digital tools to ensure the team is 
designing in line with the project’s 
goals. For example, a parametric 
model of an inpatient bed floor 
will be used to establish the 
relationships, areas and ratios 
of program space types and 
measure travel distance and site 
lines between crucial program 

elements. These tools allow the 
design team to evaluate trade-
offs between diverse metrics by 
measuring and visualizing design 
decisions in real time.

As the design team changes 
specific project variables, such as 
cost per area or planning strategy, 
the model is able to show the real-
time impacts on all related design 
metrics. The design team is then 
able to capture the results of the 
iterative process and provide clear 
visualizations that demonstrate 
the value of different solutions. 
The design team is able to develop 
optimized solutions using a 
transparent and collaborative 
decision-making process.
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Computational Design
 
Design Technology to Power Lean, 
Integrated Solutions 

Delivering lean, integrated project solutions 
requires the latest design technology to ensure 
that all stakeholders utilize up-to-date and 
reliable information from concept through 
construction. Early in the design process, 
our project teams will use parametric design 
workflows and analyze environments to 
generate multiple iterations, simulate dynamic 
variables and inform the best direction. As the 
design progresses, HDR will utilize technology 
workflows that connects conceptual design 
models, data and analysis to advanced Building 
Information Modeling platforms to coordinate 
and maximize the value of this information 
among all stakeholders.
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Early Stage Cost Analytics
Our data centric approach, combined 
with lightweight computational design 
models, allows our teams to manage 
cost in the earliest stages of a project. 
The parametric models incorporate 
preliminary cost information, insuring 
the design team is making cost-informed 
decisions at the start of each project.

This parametric process provides 
real-time feedback to allow the team to 
evaluate various options relative to client 
targets. For example, a team will develop 
a parametric model that is able to 
communicate cost-related metrics, track 
areas and evaluate efficiency. During 
this process we collaborate with the 
cost estimator to integrate up-to-date 
cost information.

Performance Analysis
As the project team develops the design, 
we use analysis and simulation tools to 
“test-drive” possible alternatives so we’re 
able to inform the direction and ensure 
performance. Using the latest digital 
tools, designers simulate and analyze a 
wide variety of dynamics. For example, 
environmental analysis tools can be used 
to study the design to ensure that spaces 
meet the requirements for daylight 
performance and comfort.

JOEL YOW

COMPUTATIONAL DESIGN
Building Information 
Modeling 
The project team will utilize 
a comprehensive and robust 
implementation of BIM to capture the 
design intent, enable tight collaboration 
and produce information-rich 
deliverables. BIM serves as an essential 
common language for the project 
team and an important conduit for all 
stakeholders to effectively collaborate, 
eliminating the waste typically 
associated with poor communication and 
coordination. BIM-based approaches 
provide opportunities to: enhance 
design, verify constructability, coordinate 
information with collaborators, calculate 
material quantities and develop the 
delivery schedule.

Interoperability
Project teams utilize a wide variety of 
software for design, engineering and 
construction. The ability to collaborate 
with different building disciplines and 
retain data for downstream use is 
critical to an efficient team process. 
Computational Design can be used 
to help make data compatible among 
different software and disciplines, 
minimizing or eliminating expensive re-
work and unnecessary labor.

Data Visualization
Computational design enables the 
design team to store and maintain data 
throughout the design process. Once 
options are being generated, our team 
is able to visualize the data in the design 
environment using a “heads up display” 
and external sources, like a web page. 
Our team is able to develop different 
filters for the data and visualize the 
design projects based on different user 
personas, tailoring our solutions to the 
different needs of each stakeholder. 
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MILESTONES 4 AND 5  
DESIGN DEVELOPMENT
Objectives
During Design Development, we will refine 
the approved Schematic Design concept 
to fix and describe the character of the 
entire project. Each discipline involved 
in the Project focuses on the systems, 
materials, equipment and labor; construction 
sequencing and scheduling; economic 
analysis of construction and operations; user 
safety and maintenance requirements; and 
energy conservation.

Also, during this phase the exterior, site 
and interior design concepts established 
in Schematic Design will be developed. 
Proposed materials, finishes, fixtures 
and furnishings will be presented and 
reviewed for aesthetic, cost compliance and 
maintainability/durability during this Phase of 
the project.

Activities
Develop the Approved Schematic Design: Finalize project criteria 
all set forth and all architectural, structural, mechanical, electrical, 
civil, landscape and interior design is integrated and coordinated in 
such detail as to establish the total scope of the work.

Internal Quality Assurance/ Quality Control Review: The HDR 
team will have peers within HDR review the Design Development 
documents for life safety, building code and FGI guidelines 
compliance as  well as coordination between disciplines and 
verifying that the level of document completion is appropriate to 
this stage of the project.

Work Sessions
Three, multi-day work sessions are anticipated during 
this phase.  Each work session will consist of a series of 
meetings including; detailed clinic planning reviews with each 
department, overall interior and design review, technical 
reviews, a budget compliance meeting and a Steering 
Committee review meeting at the end of each work session. 
At the end of this phase, there will be two additional work 
sessions to address stakeholder review comments and to adjust 
the project scope or quality to maintain the project budget. 
Documents will be updated accordingly before proceeding into 
the next  phase.
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DELIVERABLES

1. Site Planning 
a. Site Plan that identifies the proposed building 

footprint, on-site vehicular circulation and 
parking, service and emergency vehicle access, 
pedestrian walkways.

b. Landscape Plan that identifies pedestrian walkways, 
both covered and opened, pedestrian gathering and 
activity spaces and overall landscaping proposed

c. Demolition Plan (as coordinated w/ GHS’ separate 
scope): Identifying buildings, roadways, parking and 
other hardscape that are required to be demolished 
as a part of this  project, understanding the need to 
have the main campus and its immediate surroundings 
remain fully functional.

d. Stormwater Retention/Detention Plan
e. Utility Plans identifying existing utilities to be rerouted, 

demolished and new utilities to be connected to 
existing  campus utilities

f. Key Utility Sections as required
g. Off Site Modifications: Site plan identifying any off-site 

roadway or utility modifications that may be required 
as a part of this project.

h. 3-D images of key landscaped areas associated with 
this project.

2. Structural
a. Structural plan identifying sub-structure (foundations) 

and super-structure system and key structural 
beam depths

3. Architecture/Interior Design
a. Walk through modeling showing key spaces 

in 3-dimensions.
b. Rendered three dimensional images of key interior and 

exterior spaces.
c. Architectural Floor Plans detailing each room and 

space intended for this project.
d. Reflected Ceiling Plans showing all ceiling fixtures 

and features.
e. Large Scale room layouts for key rooms and spaces in 

this project.
f. Interior Floor Plans showing finish locations 

and  patterns
g. Interior Elevations showing major casework and 

interior design detailing.
h. Furniture Floor Plans showing furniture layouts for 

each room and space
i. Medical Equipment Floor Plans showing layouts for 

this equipment in each room and  space
j. Building Interior and Exterior Elevations and 

Building Sections
k. Typical Exterior Wall Sections
l. Schedules for Doors, Frames, Windows and Hardware

4. Mechanical
a. Temperature control indoor building automation 

system design narrative and single line  diagram.
b. Mechanical Room Floor plans indicating the location 

of each piece of equipment
c. Ductwork Plans indicating the size for all mains for 

each duct system- supply, return and  exhaust.
d. Mechanical Piping Plans indicating the route and size 

of all piping required for the Mechanical  System
e. Mechanical Schedule
f. Key Mechanical ductwork sections.

5. Plumbing
a. Plumbing plans identifying water, waste, storm and 

med gas piping required for this project.
b. Identification of proposed plumbing  fixtures
c. Equipment Plans- Large scale plans should layouts of 

plumbing equipment required for this project.

6. Electrical/ Low Voltage
a. Power, communications/security, fire alarm and 

lighting layouts for all floors
b. Single line electrical distribution  diagram
c. Equipment plans- large scale plans of electrical and  

low voltage equipment rooms required for this project
d. Identification of proposed lighting fixtures, outlets and 

other electrical devices.

7. Outline Specifications
a. A Summary of all specification sections that are 

intended to be incorporated in this project. Including 
list of approved  suppliers/ manufacturers.

8. Updated Area Tabulations
a. Tabulate assignable square footage (ASF) and gross 

square footage (GSF). Provide a space by space 
comparison of Design Development Phase ASF and 
programmed  ASF

9. Cost Estimate/ Tracking
a. Design Development Cost Estimate
b. Comparison of the Design Development Estimate  

with the initial Cost Model and the Schematic Design 
Estimate and updated model

c. Estimate of scope reduction items if  requireD

10. Determination of early release / long lead item scope 
and timing (as coordinated with CM / Design Assist / 
Build contractors 
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MILESTONES 6 AND 7  
CONSTRUCTION 
DOCUMENTS
Objectives
During the Construction Documents Phase, 
we provide the services necessary to prepare 
from the approved Design Development 
Documents, the drawings, specifications and 
other documents setting forth in detail the 
requirements for construction of the project. 
We anticipate robust teaming sessions 
and collaboration with the Design Assist/
Build contractors as outlined in the ASG, 
and will aggressively work to ensure proper 
sequencing and priority setting, along with 
continual budget compliance.

If early construction packages are desired by 
GHS to meet or accelerate the Construction 
Schedule, we will work with the selected 
CM and the DA/B subs to develop this 
package(s) ahead of the remaining 
Construction Documents.

Activities
Develop Documents for Construction: Preparation and 
coordination of all Contract Documents based on the approved 
Design Development documents and scope.

Technical Coordination: Coordination between the Construction 
Manager and GHS on Owner provided items and evaluation of 
alternate products and systems. Additionally, MEP above ceiling 
systems will be coordinated and reviewed using REVIT during this 
phase.

Early Packages: To facilitate the Construction Schedule, GHS may 
want to establish early bid releases, such as an early site package 
that would include demolition of existing buildings, demolition, 
re-routing and installation of new underground utilities and storm 
water provisions and rough grading of the site to prepare for 
foundation work once the main package is  approved.

Regulatory Review: Face to face review meetings with City of 
Atlanta, fire marshall, GDCH and other regulatory agencies prior to 
final submittal.

Internal Quality Assurance/ Quality Control Review: The HDR 
team will have the same peer review team within HDR review the 
Construction Documents for completion, clarity, constructability 
and coordination. They will also verify that comments from 
previous review have been addressed and resolved.

Work Sessions/Meetings
We anticipate having one work session to review 50% 
Construction Documents with the appropriate Stakeholders 
and then a follow up work session near the end of the phase 
to validate the project is on budget and requirements and to 
confirm the scope of work meets with the GHS stakeholders 
approval prior to the project being sent out for pricing and 
final  approvals.

DELIVERABLES

1. Drawings, specifications and REVIT model for 
construction of the project.

2. Updates to three dimensional renderings reflecting the 
final design.

3. Cost Estimate/ Cost Reconciliation
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BID AND PROCUREMENT PHASE/ 
CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 
ADMINISTRATION

Objectives
The Design Team has two objectives during this phase. This first 
objective is to work with GHS’ selected Construction Manager 
to review in a timely manner project submittals and Requests for 
Information (RFI’s)   as well as issuing any further clarifications 
or corrections to the Contract Documents that may be required 
for the construction of the project to proceed efficiently and 
effectively. We will confer with the CM and GHS on a weekly 
conference call to identify and prioritize critical RFI’s, submittals 
and Action Items. As specific critical issues arise, we will be a 
pro-active participant-involving the appropriate professional 
expertise- in resolving  these issues.

Our second objective during this phase is to work independent 
of the Construction Manager, on behalf of GHS, to review the 
construction work as it is installed to ascertain if the work is 
being constructed according to the Contract Documents both 
in terms of intent and quality. We will also review initial pricing 
scopes, pay applications and change orders to assure they are 
accurate represent fair value for the Owner.

We have used and highly recommend, the use of on-site 
computer communications to facilitate site  administration.

Activities
 • Observing the progress of the work to evaluate  if the work is 

proceeding in accordance with the Contract  Documents.
 • Interpreting the requirements of the contract documents.
 • Review and process the CM’s submittals
 • Evaluates, makes recommendations and certifies the CM’s 

monthly pay  application
 • Processes and monitors changes to the contract documents
 • Determines substantial completion and final completion
 • Processes  contractor’s closeout requirements

Site Visits/Meetings
 • Weekly conference calls to identify and address critical RFI’s, 

submittals and Action Items
 • Monthly on site attendance at OAC Meetings
 • Participation at 50%, 80% and 100% GDCH inspections.
 • Periodic number of site visits during construction by 

appropriate team members to review the work in progress. 
Half of these visits would be above ceiling inspections.

 • Final inspections and back checks prior to Final Inspections 
and Substantial Completion.

 • Additional on-site representation for added quality 
assurance can be provided if desired by GHS.

OWNER MOVE-IN 

Objectives
Upon receiving Certificates of Occupancy from the State and 
City, this period allows GHS to move in furniture, artwork, 
equipment and other items furnished by the Owner. Staff 
training and orientation also takes place during this period prior 
to the first patients arriving.
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13. 

Demonstrate the Proposer’s ability to achieve the greatest 

conformance with the requirements outlined in the RFP by 

providing a narrative and any necessary diagrams for all 

structural systems, MEP systems, building aesthetics and 

sustainable design.

14. 

Innovations for programming, and  project delivery, collaborative 

team building, team integration, quality and design, and use 

of BIM.  Describe your firm’s internal process utilizing design 

assist/design build to assure completeness and  coordination 

of all disciplines on this Project. Describe your firm’s internal 

process for controlling  design budget and design schedule. 

Describe also how your firm will incorporate sustainable design  

into this Project.

Please see our section on Design Concept / Commentary, and 
below for sustainable design approaches.

Design Assist / Build Philosophy
HDR’s collaborative approach to the project provides a method 
of coordinating the team’s effort and producing a superior 
set of documents. From experience, we have learned that 
all successful projects have three things in common: good 
communication, a common understanding, and trust between 
owner and project team. Our ability to respond to your needs 
increases significantly when all three of these goals are met. 

Our computational design platform is the initial creation 
of BIM. Our Building Information Management tool is a 3D 
data-rich model. We will work closely with our CM and DA/B 
subcontractors and other collaborators to define and leverage 
robust content that represents the kit-of-parts and standards, 
easily exportable to other project sites. While we use a virtual 
reality bolt-on for Design Development, the same models will 
accommodate virtualization for construction as well. 

We will create a BIM Execution Plan (BEP) that will serve as the 
guideline for all collaborators using the model(s) and by which 
all parties must follow. The BEP will be in strict accordance with 
required GHS BIM performance requirements. The BEP will 
again be exportable for future work downstream and define 
specific criteria which will be necessary to utilize BIM once 
construction is complete over the lifecycle of the facility.

In addition to utilizing progressive documentation platforms, we 
have taken efficiencies in construction, such as prefabrication, 
to the next level using target value pricing on several of our 
outpatient project assignments. The fundamental principal of 
prefabrication is application of standards and modular solutions 
which will result in speed of delivery and ultimately a cost 
savings to GHS. 

STANDARDIZATION MODULARITY OFF-SITE PRE-FABRICATION

Standardization is the basic principle 
behind modularity. HDR has embraced 
standardization through its Facility 
Standards (guide-plates) system, striving 
towards consistency throughout that 
standardization can improve staff efficiency 
and patient safety.

Modularity builds upon the principle 
of Standardization; adding flexibility 
through unitized consistency between 
various components. The exam room size 
and structural module based clustering 
of exam rooms creates a highly flexible 
physical environment.

Off-site pre-fabrication is the highest level 
of Modularity in the construction industry. 
HDR has worked with several clients 
and contractors to incorporate different 
strategies into our projects. The Core Module, 
pipe racks, and exterior materials are all 
ideal candidates. 
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HDR’s direct experience with this approach is that value can 
added in other areas of the project without any compromises to 
the cost, scope or quality of the project. For example, savings on 
the resizing of precast panels on a recently completed project 
saved significant costs by eliminating use of a tower crane, and 
the savings were used to increase the quality and longevity of a 
flooring material.

Design Budget Control
As the design professional, we will be an integral team  
member in synthesizing all of the work provided by our  and 
any GHS consultants into an executable design project 
and set of standards. This can only be achieved through a 
highly collaborative process taking into account all needs of 
our constituents as well as project teams executing future 
ambulatory projects. We often call this a single source of truth.

As a result of our intense focus on healthcare facilities, our team 
members have developed a keen cost awareness that will be 
specifically attuned to the facility and your expectations. Our 
philosophy is to satisfy the customer’s requirements, which 
includes completing designs and construction within budget.

Cost control does not start with the schematic design estimate; 
rather, we will work with GHS and our Cost Estimator (CSG), 
and the CM when selected, and develop a cost model in the 
early stages to clearly set parameters for each discipline. The 
model is used as a target from the outset  so each discipline 
has an understanding of their individual budget as early as 
possible. The team then monitors these models closely at 
regular intervals throughout the project, constantly balancing 
them so as to bring the project within the originally intended 
budget. Using this “continuous cost control” method proactively 
manages the project budget.

Design Schedule Control
We propose the following strategies to controlschedule during 
the project:

 HDR will maintain a detailed design schedule that will 
be reviewed every 2 – 4 weeks in the project coordination 
meetings to ensure that design responsibilities and schedule 
requirements are met.  This schedule will identify all milestones, 
key activities, meetings to be coordinated with GHS or others, 
and will provide a look ahead to the next month for key 
coordination activities.

HDR’s detailed schedule will be imported into the CM’s Master 
Schedule with additional input from the DA/B subs, GHS, and 
other stakeholders.

Critical Decision matrix:  In order to minimize impacts of 
decision making on the project schedule, we will maintain a 
critical issues log.  This log will be reviewed weekly at project 
coordination meetings. All decisions should be made at the 
lowest level possible.  If decisions related to each issue cannot 
be made at the meeting, a decision strategy will be determined, 
responsibilities for resolutions identified, and due dates 
calendared to minimize schedule impacts.

Contractor collaboration meetings: Collaboration meetings 
with the contractor and DA/B subcontractors will also review 
project schedule elements.  Coordination meetings with design 
assist entities to establish key delivery dates will be held on a 
monthly basis.

Working with Authorities Having Jurisdiction:
As part of our project process, HDR develops close working 
relationships with all authorities having jurisdiction on a project 
both at the local and the  state level. We initiate early reviews 
with each AHJ tofamiliarize them with the project, key issues 
and also to understand their primary concerns. Our goal with 
this upfront communication and relationship building is to 
assure the final documents will be reviewed and approved with 
minimal comment or corrections required. Katie Fricke, the Lead 
Medical Planner on our team has a detailed understanding of 
the FGI Guidelines for Health Care, Ambulatory Care and Clinic 
Facilities that GDCH uses as its basis for Health Care Facilities 
and Neal Corbett, our Management Executive, has successfully 
taken dozens of large projects through the building and life 
safety code review process by being thorough and pro-active.

Sustainable Design Approaches:
Although we are aware that LEED Certification will not be 
pursued for the CASS project, HDR has the largest dedicated 
staff of sustainable design experts of any firm. 

In addition, we have a multi-disciplinary staff of experts in all 
aspects of sustainability, such as energy efficiency, alternative 
fuel source, indoor air quality, stormwater management, 
and land-use planning. In fact, three of our in-house experts 
have contributed to major industry publications, like the book 
Sustainable Healthcare Architecture and the article “The Future 
of Fabric”. 

HDR Staff members sit on the Board of Directors for the national 
US Green Building Council, Green Guide for Health Care, and 
LEED for Existing Buildings.  We plan to utilize these resources 
throughout the project to allow proper decisions to be made 
with respect to the proper approach to achieving sustainable 
design, regardless of not pursing USGBC formal levels of 
building certification.   Additionally, we have our own rigorous 
internal ‘minimum sustainability requirements’ that must be met 
to pass our regular QA/QC evaluations.
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Illustration of project provided by HDR in 2017 for GHS development (Does not reflect current program summary)
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In this section we will provide our 
thoughts on the planning and design of 
the new building in four sections:

1. Critical thinking on ideal planning 
for the key programs 

2. Possible improvements to the 
proposed stacking of the building

3. Preliminary analysis of the 
building circulation

4. Principles for building design 
and expression

Our goal is to help you understand 
the potential to meet your patient 
needs, operational efficiency and 
optimizes value

DESIGN 
APPROACH

The main hospital is at maximum capacity and must expand 
to meet the needs of the community.  The new Center for 
Advanced Surgical Services will expand clinic capacity by 45%, 
increase operating room volume by 25%,and will support 
growth in strategic service lines which will free up space in the 
existing main hospital, diversify payer mix, and increase Grady’s 
operating margins.

The new building is currently programmed at 221,754 GSF and 
includes 650 parking spaces.  The site has an available foot print 
of 55,645 GSF so the new facility may be 8 to 10 stories tall 
including parking. The new building will ultimately be connected 
to the main hospital by a bridge at elevation 1043.38 or 42’ – 
10” above grade to the third floor of the new building.

The building program is at 176,480 DGSF net. It is comprised 
of four major service lines, plus support services related to 
each program:
1. Ambulatory Surgery
2. Cancer Care
3. Orthopedics 
4. Specialty Care Clinics including GI, Ophthalmology, ENT, 

OMFS

A program has been completed and program stacking diagrams 
have been provided for review. We assume that program key 
choices about adjacencies, size, access and stacking are logical 
and valid.

We realize, as we move forward, that GHS will be interested in 
further improvements that meet goals for operational efficiency, 
cost effectiveness, future expansion and design flexibility.  To 
that end, we will address the questions below to advance 
the project:

1. Regarding the primary distribution of program and parking 
on site; what is the most ideal program array that will allow 
for the efficient and cost effective arrangement of program 
to parking?

2. How could different Centers of Excellence program 
components fit on one floor?  Is this possible and what are 
the potential impacts?

3. What is the ideal patient, service and staff circulation?

4. How does the Bridge connection work with the new 
building and the main Hospital

5. How can the plan accommodate future expansion?

We will address each of these issues in this section of the 
project approach.  First we begin with our understanding of key 
planning principles for the project and its programs.
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PROGRAM ADJACENCIES
There are multiple programs that benefit from co-location 
on one floor for patient convenience, operational efficiency 
and staff work flow including Cancer, Orthopedics and 
Ambulatory Surgery.

ENT, OMFS and Ophthalmology benefit from being on one 
floor to support a clinic module approach that will allow for 
adjustments in population and service over time. 

This approach will streamline the patient experience by 
reducing unproductive time and maximizing visits in a true 
comprehensive care setting.  Providing space for each program 
on a single floor will support identification of Centers of 
Excellence and support an intuitive understanding of the 
building and easy navigation.

CANCER CLINICS | CHEMO INFUSION | BREAST IMAGING | 
INFUSION PHARMACY

ORTHOPEDIC CLINICS | REHAB | IMAGING

AMBULATORY SURGERY | PRE POST PACU | ENDOSCOPY

CLINICS: ENT OMFS GI OPHTHALMOLOGY SURGERY
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MODULAR SPACE PLANNING

Our holistic approach to modules encompass:

 • Gained efficiency from shared standard room models
 • Increase operational efficiencies when arrayed side by side. 

Adjacencies can accommodate daily census demand vs. 
overflows

 • Support multi-specialty and cross disciplinary patient care
 • Improve space utilization. Reduce waste and non-value 

added steps
 • Opportunity for pre-manufacture/ prefabrication within 

clinics that are similar size. Certain programs like cancer and 
ophthalmology may be unique and may not fall exactly in 
a module.

Typically, an ideal module is 56’-60’ wide by 90’-120’ deep. 
CASS site is 359’ x 155’.

12 EXAM ROOM MODULE

A good 12 exam room clinic module should provide:

 • Efficient patient throughput
 • Cross sharing of Public and Staff Support space
 • Support high utilization
 • Promote clinician collaboration and team culture
 • Flexible design that will support physician to exam room 

ratios or next available room
 • Allows for various clinic module types and standardized 

key room sizes and design. This standardization allows for 
a variety of clinics to use the same space at different times 
or facilitates the ability to provide specialization for clinics 
like Ophthalmology and ENT in a standard framework that 
stacks with other clinic modules.

 • Integration of translational health in an academic medical 
center environment

 • Improve unit sightlines and situational awareness

We will work with GHS to advance this module based on their 
current state and our best practices recommendations.
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EXAM ROOM
The exam room is designed to promote physical 
examination, diagnostics, conversation and consultation in a 
safe environment

 • Unnecessary clutter is streamlined or eliminated, limited 
casework, Par level supplies stored in carts

 • The room is standardized and designed for flexibility to 
accommodate most specialties

 • Accommodation Telehealth / virtual visits is paramount
 • Pivot desk or portable provider stations for flexibility, 

care Accountability, eye contact/personal treatment and 
staff security 

 • Between 50-60% of visits don’t require an exam table
 • Distinct patient zone and caregiver zone
 • Height, weight, vitals in room
 • On-Stage and Off-Stage room entry will be investigated
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CANCER CARE

Todays’ comprehensive Cancer programs require transforming 
Cancer Care Design. Oncology care is moving well beyond 
episodic care to personalized, precise treatment. To assist you in 
this journey, we will look at the following:

 • Defining the patient experience. Create seamless and 
meaningful therapeutic environment for patients, families 
and caregivers 

 • Personalizing continuum of care, Focus on integrating 
technology with patient accessibility and convenience. 
Starting before arrival and extending after leaving facility

 • Flexible spaces to adapt to next-generation technologies and 
operational models

 • Promoting interdisciplinary collaboration spaces, challenging 
the traditional workplace

 • Bring services to the patient, one stop shop
 • Abundant natural light and exterior views.
 • Easy access to parking
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AMBULATORY SURGERY

FGI (health code) guidelines require a direct connection 
between PACU and the operating rooms.  Ideally these 
programs would be co-located on one floor with Prep and 
Recovery for flexibility and efficiencies:

 • Emphasis on patient convenience and access, drop-off and 
discharge paths

 • Opportunity for center concept with ancillary services like 
Pharmacy, Lab and Sterile Processing.

 • Capitalize on market trends and physician retention
 • Adapt to technology and procedures, i.e. 

robot-assisted surgery
 • Connection to main Hospital 
 • Careful planning to balance and accommodate the 

operational impacts of the variation in ambulatory OR case 
mix  including complicated specialty cases and shorter, 
repetitive cases 
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ORTHOPEDICS & REHAB

The Orthopedics programs design should encourage patient 
mobilization and independence by:

 • Integrating Clinics, Imaging and Rehabilitation program 
delivers optimal patient and staff experience

 • Environment must be warm, welcoming and safe, 
home feeling

 • Connect space elements with patient’s restoring abilities, 
give a purpose, personal space 

 • Provide easy access to parking and covered access to 
the building

 • Adequate size exam rooms and spaces to accommodate 
patient mobility and improve patient safety

 • Providing daylight and outdoor views
 • Opportunity for outdoor space for therapy use, respite and 

socialization, sense of community
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PROGRAM STACKING AND 
DISTRIBUTION
Two options have been developed based on 
the provided program summary.  One option 
arranges program in one building and parking 
in another.  The second integrates program 
and parking vertically. 

Per our notes above, we will review the benefits and challenges 
of the two options proposed.  Our goal is to help you advance 
your options; as such, we will offer suggestions to adjust 
program stacking to address challenges noted.  In some cases, 
you may have already recognized the challenge and accepted 
it to provide another benefit elsewhere.  Below, we provide 
preliminary examples of re-stacking.

Per the RFP all of the following studies are predicated on a 15’ 
set back from the site boundary and a foot print of 359’ by 155’.  
We understand that building below grade may be limited by the 
need for storm water detention and cost.  As for parking, we 
show parking diagrammatically.  We will study optimization of 
parking for cost, in this case a floor to floor height of 10’ – 6” to 
12’ pending structural system.  Another option to build at the 
same floor to floor height as occupied space can allow for future 
expansion at a cost premium

OPTION 1: STAND ALONE

Ambulatory program 9 stories and parking 8 levels are in 
separate buildings.  This is the most cost effective option as 
each building can be optimized to program requirements and 
construction type.  The new ambulatory building can be a 
concrete or steel frame building with 15’ to 18’ floor to floor 
heights for flexibility, a simple deep floor plate configuration 
will allow for efficient planning solutions to adapt to specific 
clinic requirements and the efficient layout of building services.  
The parking structure can be cast in place concrete or pre-
cast concrete at 10’-6” floor to floor heights and constructed 
at much less cost than the clinic building.  The bridge from the 
main hospital can connect directly into the clinic program.  The 
solution has the following challenges:

 • The floor plate for the ambulatory building is between 
27,000 to 28,500 GSF. Ambulatory surgery suite program 
and ancillary services should be on one floor, however, these 
programs are at approximately 35,000 NSF, by consequence 
some programs such as Pre-op / Phase II Recovery / PACU 
have had to be displaced on a separate floor from the 
operating rooms. FGI 2018 section 2.1-3.7.4 states that “at 
least 1 door to recovery room shall provide access directly 
from semi-restricted area without crossing public corridor.”  
Programmatic options for connecting PACU to the ORs for 
code compliance may include adding a dedicated elevator, or 
moving PACU to the Surgery Floor independent of the Prep 
and Stage II Recovery spaces. Alternatives to maximize the 
operational efficiencies should be further evaluated in this 
stacking option.
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OPTION 2: INTEGRATED

Ambulatory program and parking are organized into one 
building providing a 55,000 SF floor plate.  5 stories of 
ambulatory services will sit on 6 stories of parking.  This 
approach has the benefit of providing more flexibility for 
planning of the ambulatory program including providing 
orthopedics, clinics and cancer care on one floor.  On the other 
hand, locating Ambulatory Surgery, Pre/Post/PACU, SPD and 
Satellite Pharmacy and Endo programs on one floor, as indicated 
in the program summary, will exceed the maximum 55,000 SF 
available per floor. Vertical travel for parking is manageable at 6 
levels.  This option has the following challenges:

 • Construction cost for this options will be at a 7 – 8% 
premium above Option 1

 • In this option, patients and visitors entering at grade 
will need to use two sets of elevators and transfer for 
vertical travel

 • The future bridge from the main hospital will land at a 
parking level in lieu of an occupied floor in Option 1.  Without 
more information at this time, this is not an optimal solution.

 • Future radiation oncology will be at grade

Future expansion will be vertical.
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 • Due to the variety of programs and number of floors a 
significant amount of area will be required for the vertical 
core including four passenger, two service and potential 
large size patient elevators and common facilities; a larger 
floor plate would provide more useable space per floor

 • The interstitial mechanical floor will have to be a full height 
floor to house and service the AHU, adding to the square 
footage and cost of the building. To take advantage of 
interstitial space servicing the operating room, this floor 
should be located directly above Ambulatory Surgery Suite.

 • 9 levels of parking is 2 levels higher than the typical norm for 
vertical travel in a public parking structure

 • The future bridge from the main hospital will potentially 
land at a semi-restricted surgical floor  area not on a public 
access area

 • Future radiation oncology vaults will be at grade

Future expansion is vertical, horizontally into Glenn building site.
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PROGRAM STACKING OPTIMIZATION STUDY / 
ALTERNATIVES TO CONSIDER
These initial diagrams represent our understanding of the program summary 
and builds upon options described in the previous section

 • The floor plate for the ambulatory building is between 
27,000 to 28,500 GSF. Ideally, Ambulatory surgery suite 
program and ancillary services should be on one floor, 
however, these programs are at approximately 35,000 NSF, 
by consequence some programs such as Post/Pre/PACU 
has had to be displaced on two floors. FGI 2018 section 
2.1-3.7.4 states that “at least 1 door to recovery room shall 
provide access directly from semi-restricted area without 
crossing public corridor.”  To be in compliance, the solution 
will increase cost by adding dedicated patient elevator, 
creating operational inefficiencies by increasing hand-off 
patient risk, travel time, managing peak needs for PACU 
bays at the end of the day.

 • Future radiation oncology vaults will be at grade 

Future expansion is vertical by adding floors. Horizontally by 
expanding into Glenn building site or directly into the parking 
garage as long as the structure floor to floor heights match 
the building. Any of these solutions will come at a premium in 
construction cost. 

OPTION 1A: STAND ALONE  

This diagram has the following design features:

 • Ambulatory program 9 stories and parking 8 levels are in 
separate buildings. Potential parking deck alignment with 
ambulatory building gives the opportunity to provide public 
entry on several floors.

 • Rehab/Orthopedics Center of excellence is located on 3rd 
floor, providing easy access from parking and potential 
for extra patient mobility space. Parking deck at this level 
should align with 3rd floor of ambulatory building. This will 
also allowed for the possibility to provide discharge entry for 
outpatient surgical patients on this floor.

 • Consolidates Rehab program on same floor.

 • Locates Interstitial/mechanical space directly above 
Ambulatory Surgery to take advantage of equipment 
servicing, by consequence minimizing operating 
room disruptions

 • Future bridge landing/connection happens in a public access 
floor, not a restricted surgery floor.
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OPTION 1B: STAND ALONE  

This diagram has the following design features:

 • Ambulatory program 9 stories and parking 10 levels are in 
separate buildings. Potential parking deck alignment with 
ambulatory building gives the opportunity to provide public 
entry on several floors

 • Surgery Clinic and Pro/Post/PACU functions are located on 
3rd floor. This will also allowed for the possibility to provide 
parking discharge entry for outpatient surgical patients on 
this floor. Parking deck at this level should align with 3rd 
floor of ambulatory building. 

 • Rehab/Orthopedics Center of excellence is located on 2nd 
floor. Dedicated parking for rehab patient could be provided 
on this level. Parking deck at this level should align with 2nd 
floor of ambulatory building. 

 • Consolidates Rehab program on same floor.

 • Locates Interstitial/mechanical space directly above 
Ambulatory Surgery to take advantage of equipment 
servicing, by consequence minimizing operating 
room disruptions

 • Future bridge landing/connection happens in a public access 
floor, not a restricted surgery floor.

 • Smaller floor plates footprint give opportunity to have more 
parking spaces

 • Basement level excavation and extra shell floor are at a 
premium but maintains the same total building height as 
Options 1 and 1A, as well as give available expansion space 
day one.

 • The floor plate for the ambulatory building is between 
27,000 to 28,500 GSF. Ambulatory surgery suite program 
and ancillary services should be on one floor, however, 
these programs are at approximately 35,000 NSF, by 
consequence some programs such as Post/Pre/PACU has 
had to be displaced on two floors. FGI 2018 section 2.1-3.7.4 
states that “at least 1 door to recovery room shall provide 
access directly from semi-restricted area without crossing 
public corridor.”  To be in compliance, the solution will 
increase cost by adding dedicated patient elevator, creating 
operational inefficiencies by increasing hand-off patient risk, 
travel time, managing peak needs for PACU bays at the end 
of the day.

 • Future radiation oncology vaults will be at grade or 
below grade

Future expansion is horizontally by expanding into Glenn 
building site or directly into the parking garage as long as the 
structure floor to floor heights match the building. Any of these 
solutions will come at a premium in construction cost. 
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OPTION 1C: STAND ALONE 

This diagram has the following design features:

 • Ambulatory program 9 stories and parking 10 levels are in 
separate buildings. Potential parking deck alignment with 
ambulatory building gives the opportunity to provide public 
entry on several floors

 • Consolidates Rehab program on same floor.

 • Locates Interstitial/mechanical space directly above 
Ambulatory Surgery to take advantage of equipment 
servicing, by consequence minimizing operating 
room disruptions

 • Future bridge landing/connection happens in a public access 
floor, not a restricted surgery floor.

 • Smaller floor plates footprint give opportunity to have more 
parking spaces

 • Basement level excavation is at a premium but reduces total 
building height as Options 1 and 1A

 • Aligning and maximizing floor footprints create the potential 
for shell space on several floors on day one

 • Decrease total building height as compared to Options 1, 1A 
and 1B

 • The floor plate for the ambulatory building is between 
27,000 to 28,500 GSF. Ambulatory surgery suite program 
and ancillary services should be on one floor, however, 
these programs are at approximately 35,000 NSF, by 
consequence some programs such as Post/Pre/PACU has 
had to be displaced on two floors. FGI 2018 section 2.1-3.7.4 
states that “at least 1 door to recovery room shall provide 
access directly from semi-restricted area without crossing 
public corridor.”  To be in compliance, the solution will 
increase cost by adding dedicated patient elevator, creating 
operational inefficiencies by increasing hand-off patient risk, 
travel time, managing peak needs for PACU bays at the end 
of the day.

 • Future radiation oncology vaults will be at grade or 
below grade

Future expansion is vertical by adding floors. Horizontally by 
expanding into Glenn building site or directly into the parking 
garage as long as the structure floor to floor heights match 
the building. Any of these solutions will come at a premium in 
construction cost.
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OPTION 2A: INTEGRATED

This diagram has the following design features:

 • Ambulatory program 5 stories and parking 6 levels

 • Rehab/Orthopedics Center of excellence is located on upper 
floor with potential for outdoor therapy space

 • Future public access arrival space from parking and Bridge 
on 3rd floor. 

 • Surgery, Prep/Recovery/ PACU and SPD are all located on 
the same floor to minimize transport, increase patient safety, 
maximize flexibility and operational efficiencies

 • The larger footprint allows for co-location of cancer 
program on one floor, as well as clinic co-location for 
multidisciplinary flexibility.

Future expansion is vertical.

OPTION 2B: INTEGRATED

The solution has the same design features as option 2A with 
potential for horizontal expansion on several floors.
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CIRCULATION AND ACCESS

To achieve an operationally efficient building that is easy for 
patients to navigate, reduces travel distances for staff and 
provides for service and support, clear patterns of circulation 
need to be defined.  Beginning with the site, planning should 
provide for separate patterns of traffic for visitors, patients 
arriving by ambulance, access to parking, support and building 
service as well as a connection to the main hospital.  Within 
the building, there needs to be vertical circulation for visitors, 
patients, staff and building service and possible a separate 
elevator for the CSP if located on a different floor from surgery.

In the diagram to the left we illustrate the program stacking and 
parking proposed in option 1. The new building is on the south 
side of the site, closest to the main hospital with parking on the 
north side.  The program array follows option 1A in this proposal 
which locates orthopedics on level 3 versus ambulatory surgery.  
This will allow the bridge connection to the hospital at that level 
and a public corridor to the new parking structure.  
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Looking at the ground floor level, the key 
to the diagram above:

1. Entry drop off
2. Main lobby
3. Van and Ambulance drop off
4. Patient and Visitor elevators
5. Service elevators
6. Service yard, transformer, fuel tank
7. Alternate parking exit and or entry
8. Parking structure elevators
9. Truck / Service delivery

The primary intent is to separate public 
and service on opposite sides of the 
site; public access is on the west side of 
the site along Gilmer Street and service 
access on the east side of the site.  The 
corner of Gilmer and Jesse Hill Drive are 
the most public side of the building so 
there is a logic to putting the front door 
and drop off at this location.  We propose 
a service drive running from Piedmont 
to Jesse Hill, this will avoid development 
of a turn around for large trucks which 
will provide more space for program 
use.  Parking access can be off of Gilmer 
and Piedmont.

At the 3rd level building, bridge access 
from the main hospital will come across 
the street (1).  In our revised stacking 
plan option 1A, we suggest locating 
Orthopedics on this floor in lieu of 
Surgery.  The program is smaller and 
will allow for more public space, an 
option for another public lobby and 
access to the parking structure (2).  In 
this diagram, the bridge can connect to 
vertical circulation for both the building 
and parking.  Vertical service is connect 
to the loading dock at ground level and 
moves up through the building on the 
opposite side of the public elevators.  
The specific number of elevators requires 
further study and will differ between 
option 1 and 2.
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BUILDING DESIGN AND EXPRESSION

Our design approach is derived from 
GHS’s prerogatives for  CASS, three 
guiding principles will define the 
exterior of the building:

One Grady

Center of Excellence

Patient Experience

Marcus Trauma and Emergency Center Rendering

Grady is a collection of buildings and in order to support the 
idea of One Grady, the new building should be designed to fit as 
part of a larger campus.  The Marcus Trauma and Emergency 
Center represents the most recent project, so aligning 
materials, colors and composition with the main hospital 
should be considered to pull the campus together.  

The building will be a Center of Excellence so design features 
should note the presence and importance of this facility on GHS 
campus and potentially note the different functions within. 

Supporting the patient experience can be addressed in two 
ways, designing waiting spaces that provide light and air plus 
views to the city and by providing design cues on the exterior 
of the building to help patient understand how to navigate the 
building from arrival to exam room.  
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2017 illustration of the proposed building for fundraising purposes

Option 1A program stacking diagram

Back in the fall of 2017, HDR  provided  
illustrations for the development 
team for fundraising.  The proposed 
illustrations supported these principles.  
The colors and materials align with those 
found on the main campus, a tower at 
the corner of Gilmer and Jesse Hill Jr. 
Drive announces the building as a center 
of excellence; large areas of glazing along 
Gilmer bring light into the clinics and a 
two story arrival area opens the building 
to the campus.

The updated program (option 1A) is 
illustrated in the diagram to the right.  
The program stack is noted by color.  The 
building lobby at ground level opens to 
the corner and leads to elevators shown 
in yellow to the upper floors.  A bridge 
connection to the main hospital is shown 
in yellow.
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Shirley Ryan Ability Lab

The next two illustrations describes a 
design approach that addressed the goals 
of the project.  These are provided to help 
understand the design potential for the 
project and there are many more options that 
could meet your requirements.  What we 
show is meant to start a discussion and we 
will use option 1A as a starting point.  

If we modify the solution proposed for development, we show 
a taller building that is organized traditionally with a bottom, 
middle and top.  At the top, we show a terrace that would adjoin 
the infusion area of the cancer center.  A canopy overhang 
would shade the terrace and provide a broad cornis to cap the 
building and announce CASS as a center of excellence on the 
Grady Campus.  Glazing along the Gilmer side of the building 
is articulated to reflect the different program within.  The 
bridge into the building from the main hospital continues along 
level 3 with a change in glazing color and trim to illustrate the 
connection across the building and into the parking structure.  
Material and glass color match the new Marcus Trauma Center 
to provide visual continuity.

A variation of the same option looks at simplifying the glass 
expression along the body of the building and add a single bay 
window to allow for views along the building.  At the ground 
floor, we open the corner of the building to the street so the 
lobby can wrap and address the main hospital.  We add a 
different expression at the far corner of the building to note the 
location of the building elevators.    

The simplification of the windows will reduce cost and allow for 
more value to be focused at ground level where most people 
will enter the building.  Noting the location of the elevators, 
along with the level 3 connector and open arrival area will help 
patients and visitors understand where to go.  And in keeping 
with managing value, the body of the building will remain a 
simple expression, mostly solid wall for construction simplicity 
and energy savings.

Option 2 maybe handled in a similar fashion.  The key difference 
between the two schemes is that parking is at the base of the 
building in option 2.    Many buildings in the city solve parking 
by building at the base of the building.  A good example is  the 
Shirley Ryan Ability Lab in Chicago.  In this project, clinics and 
rehabilitation space is located above a base of parking.  The 
design solution clads the parking in the same exterior skin as the 
upper stories in order to present a unified expression.    

Our design approach is based on taking 
the client’s mission for the project and 
imbuing that expression in the qualities of 
the buildings exterior.  These are examples 
of how we might work with you and are not 
final designs; we will continue to look at 
other options and approaches.  Our process 
is iterative and options driven in order to 
avail the client with the best solution and 
fit possible.
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Company terms and conditions and/or exceptions to the RFP and 

the Architectural Services Agreement

The HDR team has reviewed the agreement provided in the 
RFP and provide the following comments.  If selected, HDR 
respectfully request the ability to discuss these comments with 
the appropriate Grady staff.

1. General  - Any use of the word “ensure” or “assure” implies 
a guarantee.  Guarantees are not covered by professional 
liability insurance.  HDR requests modifying these terms 
within the contract.

2. Section 2.2.3 – HDR requests a mutual waiver of 
consequential damages in its entirety. 

3. Section 2.2.4 – HDR request a mutual waiver of liquidated 
damages.  Liquidated damages are uninsurable.

4. Section 2.2.9 – This section should reference the standard 
of care as it relates to “well –coordinated and fully 
integrated design”.

5. Section 2.3 – This section states that Architect is required 
to re-design and resubmit at each phase (schematic through 
construction documents) if cost at each phase exceeds 
the construction budget.  Since design refinement occurs 
early on in the Schematic and Design Development phase, 
we believe a value engineering effort should occur at the 
completion of the design development phase in order 
to bring cost to an acceptable amount. These changes 
would be incorporated to the Construction Documents.  
Additionally, unpredictable factors outside of our control 
can impact cost (e.g. new taxes on imported steel and 
aluminum) and we should not bear the financial risk related 
to those factors.

  

hdrinc.com

Version #



Section 03  |03 Staffi
ng Plan and Staff C

redentials





We’ve assembled a team selected not only for their 
expertise, but also for their project-first mindset. 
Having worked together before, team members 
have developed camaraderie and trust in one 
another that promotes an open and collaborative 
work culture. They bring extensive experience, but 
no preconceived solutions. They listen first. All are 
committed to delivering an extraordinary project—
filled with the best solutions for your challenges 
and opportunities.

STAFFING PLAN
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Our experts are your partners.
This Atlanta-based team of healthcare 
thought leaders is backed by an office of 
talented designers, planners, architects 
and construction professionals, and 
further supported by a national team 
of subject matter expert resources. 
Our Core Leadership Team will be 
heavily involved in the shaping of this 
project during this programming phase 
for the Center for Advanced Surgical 
Services, sharing their insights and 
informed guidance in planning this 
important project.

Core Leadership Team
The Core Leadership Team is comprised 
of JP Perez, Neal Corbett and Betsy 
Berg. This small group of leaders will 
work alongside Grady Health System 
leadership every step of the way. This 
team is responsible for overseeing the 
establishment and implementation of 
the vision with the greater team and 
GHS. They are responsible for our overall 
performance, helping the team navigate 
issues for the duration of the project. 

Implementation Team
Our multi-disciplinary Project 
Implementation Team is made up 
of medical planners, lean planners, 
programmers, nurses and clinicians, 
technical experts, and experience 
designers. Under the Core Leadership 
Team’s guidance, this team is responsible 
for establishing the approach to 
ambulatory care delivery and its impact 
on the physical response to the overall 
vision. This team’s greatest efforts 
will be realized in the establishment of 
experience, operational, technological, 
and environmental platforms for the 
overall project. We carefully selected this 
team’s members to bring the expertise 
and bench strength necessary for a 
project of this magnitude.

When HDR conducts the proposed three 
work sessions with individual User Groups 
to preview, review and endorse operations 
and space needs, HDR will create two 
teams to cover concurrent User Group 
meetings schedule. Each HDR Team will 
include a clinical programmer, operations 
designer and medical planner.

Subconsultant Partners
We’ve chosen partners that have the skills 
and experience with GHS, coupled with 
the necessary technical knowledge, to 
create thoughtful solutions for the new 
Center for Advanced Surgical Services. We 
also chose these partners because they 
have worked with Grady Health System 
previously and are familiar with the GHS 
organization and the medical campus. 
They will work closely with the Project 
Implementation Team to ensure the vision 
continues throughout the duration of 
the project.
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Sheila Colon 
Sr. Project Architect

Rohan Herwadkar 
Project Architect

Mark Chen 
Designer

Katie Fricke 
Medical Planner

Joel Yow 
Design Information Modeling

Betsy Berg 
Program/Clincal/Operations Review

Moriah Brookshier 
Lean Operations Specialist

HDR IN-HOUSE 
DESIGN &  

IMPLEMENTATION

Wendy Wallace Brown 
Graphics/Signage

Adam Buck 
Acoustic Design/Consulting

Chad Wilkey 
Interiors

Kevin Lynch 
Furniture/Fixtures Design

Luis Suazo 
Construction Administration

Charles Cheek 
QA/QC

Newcomb & Boyd/ 
RPA Engineering* 
MEP/FP Engineering 

Site Lighting Design 
Parking - MEP 
Energy Model

Walter P. Moore / 
CSF Consulting* 

Structural Engineering 
Parking - Structural 

Exterior Building Envelope/Enclosure

Eberly & Associates 
Site/Civil Engineering 

Traffic Analysis 
Site/Utility Infrastructure 

Landscape/Irrigation

CONSULTANTS

Strategic Health Resources* 
Medical Equipment Planning  

Move Management

Costing Services Group* 
Cost Estimating

Jensen Hughes 
Code/AHJ

EDI 
Low Voltage/Communications 

Security

 
 
 

 
Juan-Pablo  (JP) Perez 

Principal in Charge

CORE LEADERSHIP

Neal Corbett 
Senior Management Lead

HDR IN-HOUSE 
DESIGN &  

IMPLEMENTATION

*MWBE Partners
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RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

Grady Health System Tactical Master Plan, 
Atlanta, GA
The overarching goals of this campus master plan are to 
confirm the strategic direction for the campus and develop 
a tactical campus plan for the main Grady campus, including 
the hospital and surrounding properties, establishing a clear 
entrance, access for patients and visitors, key adjacencies for 
effective operations and growth corridors. The campus vision 
outlines clear zones of activity for ambulatory, hospital and 
clinical support and critical care services.

Grady Memorial Hospital Inpatient Unit 
Renovation, Atlanta, GA
Renovation of 30,000 SF of patient units 6A and 6B to 
convert semi-private rooms to private rooms and add satellite 
nurse work areas to reduce staff walking distances. The 
project includes all new finishes casework lighting and HVAC 
terminal units.

Vidant Medical Center, Cancer Center, 
Greenville, NC
The new Cancer Center is comprised of outpatient cancer 
services 96 oncology beds and future expansion totaling 
373000 SF. The Cancer Center design will be based on the 
existing East Carolina Heart Institute also designed by HDR. 
The two towers will be across a common entry from one 
another.

JP Perez has multi-level experience as a project manager and managing principal 

primarily focused within the A/E industry. With 17 years of experience, he 

has managed numerous and complex projects ranging from new replacement 

facilities to multi-phased master plans. Providing executive oversight, JP will 

bring to the project overall leadership and direction and commit the necessary 

resources of the firm to successfully complete tasks on time and on budget.

EDUCATION

Bachelor of Science, 
Environmental Engineering, 
Manhattan College

REGISTRATIONS

LEED Accredited Professional

AFFILIATIONS

Society of Hispanic Professional 
Engineers, Member

Water Environment Federation, 
New York (WEF), Member

JUAN-PABLO (JP) 
PEREZ
LEED AP

 PRINCIPAL-IN-CHARGE

Spartanburg Pelham Medical Center Phase 1, 
Spartanburg, SC
Due to growing demand the HDR-completed master plan for 
Spartanburg determined that the renowned cancer center be 
moved from the main campus to Pelham Medical Center while 
maintaining some services at Spartanburg. Project includes 
oncology clinic exam rooms infusion bays potential research 
space and support services including lab pharmacy therapy 
and survivorship.

Mission Health Center for Advanced Medicine, 
Asheville, NC
The new patient tower includes 600,000 SF of new 
construction, 51,000 SF of renovated hospital space, major 
ties between existing campus buildings and the expansion 
of the Central Energy Plant. he new tower will feature a new 
exemergency department, sterile processing department, as 
well as hybrid and surgical ORs and universal patient rooms. 
$231 Million, Estimated completion 2019.

College of Charleston, Rita Hollings Science 
Center Renovation & Addition, Charleston, SC
This project entails the renovation of approx. 150,000 SF and 
the new construction of an additional 30,000 SF. The project 
includes over 30 teaching laboratories for biology physics 
astronomy and psychology along with general classrooms that 
support the entire campus. 
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RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

Grady Hybrid OR / Perioperative Project, 
Atlanta, GA
Renovation and addition of a new Hybrid OR and support 
space will include the actual OR itself, associated control 
room and  computer room. The project also includes the 
renovation of existing Perioperative spaces to accommodate 
required support areas. Existing Pre-Op/Recovery stations 
will be renovated, two of which will become larger PACU 
Isolation Rooms, adjusted care area and code required spaces. 

Mission Health Hospital for Advanced Medicine, 
Asheville, NC
The new patient tower includes 600,000 SF of new 
construction, and 51,000 SF of renovated hospital space. 
The new tower will feature a new emergency department, 
consolidated and expanded sterile processing department, as 
well as hybrid specialty ORs and Cath Labs and 220 universal 
private same-handed patient rooms.

Kaiser Permanente - Health Hub/Clinic 
Facilities Renovations, Metro Atlanta, GA
Implementation of phased-approached renovations and 
build-outs includes integration of HDR-developed national 
standards on Re-imagining Ambulatory Design, as well as 
USP-800 upgrades.

Northside Hospital Cherokee, Replacement 
Hospital, Canton, GA
120-bed patient tower that phases into a 350 bed hospital, 
women’s center, medical office buildings, central utility plant.

A 27 year registered architect, and officer of the firm, Neal has been involved in every aspect of 

project development, from conceptual master planning and design maintenance, construction 

document production and project management, through construction administration. Neal focuses 

on daily project oversight and client administration throughout the duration of engagement to 

deliver consistent, proactive, and qualitative outcomes. His specialization in healthcare planning 

and design, board-certified by the American College of Healthcare Architects (one of only 8 in 

Georgia), ensures a working knowledge of healthcare industry best practices and initiatives in 

evidence-based design, healing environments, benchmarking, and future delivery trends.

EDUCATION

Bachelor of Architecture, University 
of Texas at Austin

REGISTRATIONS

Architect, GA, TN, NH, MA, TX, 
NC

 
American College of Healthcare 
Architects 
LEED Accredited Professional

American Institute of Architects -  
Academy of Architecture for Health

NEAL CORBETT
AIA, ACHA, LEED AP, NCARB

 SENIOR MANAGEMENT LEAD

Roper St. Francis Berkeley Hospital and MOB, 
Goose Creek, SC
115,00 SF hospital, 12,700 SF CUP and an 80,000 SF MOB on 
a greenfield site includes an adult and pediatric ED with 13 
rooms, Imaging, a general and specialty Surgery Department, 
Dining, Pharmacy, Clinical Lab, PACU, Women’s Infants and 
Children inpatient department with 4 LDRPs and 2 Med/Surg 
and ICU inpatient bed floors (50 total rooms). 

North Shore Medical Center, Building for the 
Future, Salem, MA
Acute care / ambulatory; 152,000 SF expansion and phased 
renovation w/parking structure; medical surgery/behavioral 
health bed add and support expansion.

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center/ Geisel 
SOM, Williamson Translational Research 
Building, Lebanon, NH
Ambulatory/translational science; 150,000 SF expansion 
and renovation tie-in wet and dry labs and collaboration /
assembly spaces.

Massachusetts Eye and Ear, Pre-Operative 
Suite & Master Plan, Boston, MA
This new surgical suite includes patient prep and recovery as 
well as PACU with associated patient and family waiting areas 
clinical and administrative support space. 

CERTIFICATIONS

AFFILIATIONS
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RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

Mission Health Hospital for Advanced Medicine, 
Asheville, NC
The new patient tower includes 600,000 SF of new 
construction, 51,000 SF of renovated hospital space, major 
ties between existing campus buildings and the expansion of 
the Central Energy Plant. The new tower will feature a new 
emergency department, consolidated and expanded sterile 
processing department, as well as hybrid specialty ORs and 
Cath Labs and 220 universal private same-handed patient 
rooms. $250 Million, Estimated completion 2019.

Novant Healthcare
Planning study for a 120,000 SF ambulatory care, executive 
offices and conference center

University of Rochester Medical Center 
Emergency Department Expansion and 
Modernization, Rochester, NY
Planning and programming study for a 218,000 SF emergency 
department

University of Alabama Genomics Sciences 
Building, Tuscaloosa, AL
Planning and programming study for a 108,000 SF research 
building

Broward Health North,  
Ft. Lauderdale FL*
New building exterior and CEP upgrade

Mark has been leading projects and design studios providing architecture, master planning 

and urban design services for commercial, education and healthcare facilities in the US, Europe 

and China. Mark is recognized for high quality design, client service and collaborative work 

style. His experience with multiple project types and architecture, urban design and master 

planning skills allows Mark to provide a broad range of skills and solutions to his clients.

EDUCATION

Master of Architecture, Urban 
Design, Harvard University

Bachelor of Architecture, Cornell 
University

REGISTRATIONS
 

Architect, GA, NJ, CT, MA, FL, 
RI, MD, AR, VA, NY, AL, NH, 
WV, OR, WA

MARK CHEN
AIA

DESIGNER

Children’s Hospital of Philadelphia, 
Philadelphia, PA*
Planning studies for land development of the Civic Center 
Site for 2 million sf of Ambulatory Care, Clinical Research and 
Biomedical Research space.

Children’s Hospital of Philadelphia, 
Philadelphia, PA*
Master Plan studies for land development of 700 – 600 
Schuylkill Avenue for CHOP

Children’s Hospital of Philadelphia, 
Philadelphia, PA*
Planning studies for JFK building renovation 
160,000 sf clinical research

Jackson Memorial Hospital University of 
Miami Medical Center, Miami FL*
200,000 SF Diagnostic and Treatment Facility

University of Rochester Medical Center 
Wilmot Cancer Center, Rochester NY*
160,000 SF clinical care and research building

hdrinc.com
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Grady Health System Tactical Master Plan, 
Atlanta, GA
The overarching goals of this campus master plan are to 
confirm the strategic direction for the campus and develop 
a tactical campus plan for the main Grady campus, including 
the hospital and surrounding properties, establishing a clear 
entrance, access for patients and visitors, key adjacencies for 
effective operations and growth corridors. The campus vision 
outlines clear zones of activity for ambulatory, hospital and 
clinical support and critical care services.

Roper St. Francis Berkeley Hospital and MOB, 
Goose Creek, SC
HDR is currently providing full A/E services for a 115,00 
SF hospital, 12,700 SF CUP and an 80,000 SF MOB on a 
greenfield site in the Charleston, SC area. The project includes 
an adult and pediatric ED with 13 rooms, Imaging, a general 
and specialty Surgery Department, Dining, Pharmacy, 
Clinical Lab, PACU, Women’s Infants and Children inpatient 
department with 4 LDRPs and 2 Med/Surg and ICU inpatient 
bed floors (50 total rooms)

Mission Health Hospital for Advanced Medicine, 
Asheville, NC
The new patient tower includes 600,000 SF of new 
construction, 51,000 SF of renovated hospital space, major 
ties between existing campus buildings and the expansion of 
the Central Energy Plant. The new tower will feature a new 
emergency department, consolidated and expanded sterile 
processing department, as well as hybrid specialty ORs and 
Cath Labs and 220 universal private same-handed patient 
rooms. $250 Million, Estimated completion 2019.

Katie is responsible for project team leadership related to the pursuit and delivery of healthcare 

projects. Her primary focus is on facility and departmental planning of healthcare and research 

facilities, as well as aesthetic solutions and the overall design of large and/or complex projects. 

Katie is passionate about creating sensible, customized solutions for healthcare environments 

that respond to today’s issues and include flexibility for future unknowns. With more than 18 

years of experience, Katie has worked on more than 30 strategic facility master plans, one 

million square feet of ambulatory planning in the last three years, 18 women’s and children’s 

projects, 15 emergency departments, 60+ operating rooms and 10 oncology projects.

EDUCATION

Master of Architecture, Clemson 
University

Bachelor of Science, Design, 
Clemson University, Clemson, SC

REGISTRATIONS

National Council of Architectural 
Registration Board

LEED AP Building Design + 
Construction

Architect, NC

American College of Healthcare 
Architects

 

American Institute of Architects

KATIE FRICKE
AIA, ACHA, LEED AP, NCARB

MEDICAL PLANNER

Virginia Commonwealth University, Adult 
Outapatient Facility and Parking Deck, 
Richmond, VA
Approximately 1M SF project which includes a 564,000 SF 
16 Story MOB with 1,200 Space Integrated Parking Structure 
for the consolidation of adult clinics at the academic medical 
center campus in downtown Richmond. The program also 
includes a cancer center, multidisciplinary clinics and future, 
sterile processing with future ambulatory surgery center.

University of Pennsylvania, (Penn Medicine), 
New Patient Pavilion, Philadelphia, PA
Penn Medicine’s New Patient Pavilion is being delivered 
through an IPD Delivery (IPD) process. The new pavilion will 
be home to several hundred new private patient rooms, a 
comprehensive new interventional and surgical platform, a 
new Emergency Department and related support services

Novant Health, Forsyth Medical Center, New 
Pavilion Addition, Winston-Salem, NC*
New Women’s Pavilion and Cardiology Center of Excellence. 
A nine-story, 358,000 SF new addition plus 98,000 SF 
phased renovation for a large health system serving 4 states. 
Involvement spanned over 9 years from inception of project, 
including master plan development and site identification.

Novant Healthcare
Planning study for a 120,000 SF ambulatory care, executive 
offices and conference center

AFFILIATIONS

CERTIFICATIONS
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Mission Health Hospital for Advanced Medicine, 
Asheville, NC
The new patient tower includes 600,000 SF of new 
construction, 51,000 SF of renovated hospital space, major 
ties between existing campus buildings and the expansion of 
the Central Energy Plant. The new tower will feature a new 
emergency department, consolidated and expanded sterile 
processing department, as well as hybrid specialty ORs and 
Cath Labs and 220 universal private same-handed patient 
rooms. $250 Million, Estimated completion 2019.

J. Wayne and Delores Barr Weaver Tower, 
Baptist Medical Center/Wolfson Children’s 
Hospital, Jacksonville, FL*
An 11-story/350,00 SF Adult and Children’s Hospital 
expansion that included a pediatric and adult surgical unit 
with intra-operative imaging technologies, an iCT and an 
iMRI. The iCT is shared and stored between two Hybrid OR’s 
and slides as needed to each Hyrbid OR with a fixed
operating table. The iMRI suite has a fixed iMRI room 
adjacent to a dedicated MR/OR. In this setup, the patient 
operating table slides from Hyrbid OR to the iMRI
space when imaging is needed during an operating procedure.

Kaiser Permanente - Health Hub/Clinic 
Facilities Renovations, Metro Atlanta, GA
Implementation of phased-approached renovations and 
build-outs of several existing Comprehensive Care Clinics 
throughout the Atlanta area.  Work includes integration 
of HDR-developed national standards on Re-imagining 
Ambulatory Design focused on convenience and healthy, 
qualitative delivery, as well as USP-800 upgrades.

Sheila possesses a wealth of experience and extraordinary insights into projects from 

her time spent designing commercial facilities and child care centers with D.W. Arthur 

Associate Architects in Boston and a four year period working for Italian architect Renzo 

Piano in Genoa, Italy. From conceptual and schematic design, design development, 

contract document preparation and construction administration, Sheila is well-

versed in all project phases and remarkably adaptable to unique client needs.

EDUCATION

Master of Architecture, 
Massachusetts Institute of 
Technology

Bachelor of Environmental 
Design University of Puerto Rico

REGISTRATIONS

Architect, GA

National Council of Architectural 
Registration Boards

Evidence-Based Design 
Accreditation and Certification

SHEILA COLON
AIA, EDAC, LEED AP

SR. PROJECT ARCHITECT

Children’s Hospital of San Antonio 
San Antonio, TX*
Extensive Renovation and New Construction of 350,00 SF 
includes programming, public spaces and Chapel design, 
Servery Kitchen and Coffee Shop design, interior design, 
special design features, graphics and way-finding.

Children’s Hospital of Philadelphia 
Philadelphia, PA*
Schematic design for interior design concepts, children’s 
amenities, environmental graphics and way finding in 
700,000 SF expansion.

Baptist Medical Center, Wolfson Children’s 
Hospital - Adult/Pediatric Bedtower, 
Jacksonville, FL*
Project Architect/ Project Designer for 350,000 SF 
expansion.

Nemours Children’s Health System 
Orlando, FL*
Exterior Design, Healthcare Planning for clinic, Interior Design, 
Parking Deck for 630,000 SF expansion.

Woodruff Art Center Expansion, High Museum 
of Art, Atlanta, GA*
Wieland Pavilion Gallery Building, Chambers Wing Gallery 
Building, Administrative Center Building, Restaurant Building, 
Improvements to existing Woodruff Art Center.

*Prior to HDR
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Mission Health Hospital for Advanced Medicine, 
Asheville, NC
The new patient tower includes 600,000 SF of new 
construction, 51,000 SF of renovated hospital space, major 
ties between existing campus buildings and the expansion of 
the Central Energy Plant. The new tower will feature a new 
emergency department, consolidated and expanded sterile 
processing department, as well as hybrid specialty ORs and 
Cath Labs and 220 universal private same-handed patient 
rooms. $250 Million, Estimated completion 2019.
 
Kaiser Permanente TownPark Comprehensive 
Medical Center, Atlanta, GA
Comprised of 54,480 SF/ 5060 m2 of renovated space and 
a new 78,000 SF/ 7250 m2 three-story addition TownPark 
provides a full array of clinical specialties. An interior “Main 
Street” serves as the central circulation spine and common 
waiting area to all specialty clinics with an existing atrium 
expanded to become a centralized destination hub for the 
three wings. 

Vidant Medical Center, Cancer Center, 
Greenville, NC
The new Cancer Center is comprised of outpatient cancer 
services 96 oncology beds and future expansion totaling 
373000 SF. The Cancer Center design will be based on the 
existing East Carolina Heart Institute also designed by HDR. 
The two towers will be across a common entry from one 
another.

Rohan’s experience includes project coordination with state and federal governments, for both 

new construction and renovation projects.  He has been responsible for design and construction 

documentation, implementing and maintaining CAD systems, supervising design and drafting 

staff , and construction monitoring and field observations.

EDUCATION

Master of Architecture, Georgia 
Institute of Technology

Bachelor of Architecture, 
University of Mumbai, India

REGISTRATIONS

LEED AP Building Design + 
Construction

Architect, GA

 
American Institute of Architects 

ROHAN 
HERWADKAR
AIA, LEED AP

PROJECT ARCHITECT

NAVFAC Atlantic IDIQ, Walter Reed National 
Military Medical Center (WRNMMC) P114 
Medical Center Addition and Alteration, 
Bethesda, MD
HDR has been selected to provide design services for the next 
phase in the evolution of the Walter Reed National Military 
Medical Center (WRNMMC) at Bethesda, Maryland--the 
largest military medical center in the world.  The project 
encompasses a full range of work, including 562,592 SF of 
new construction, a 120,000 SF renovation, a 9,400 SF child 
care center, and the campus utility renovations needed to 
support the new development.  HDR will also design 100,000 
SF of temporary modular clinics, allowing for the continued 
provision of health care services for patients, medical staff 
and visitors during the renovation.  HDR will deliver the 
design for the $500M project in 19 months with construction 
anticipated to span from 2014 to 2018.

University of Georgia Science Learning Center,  
Athens, GA
This new 145,000 GSF facility includes 33 undergraduate 
teaching labs, plus classrooms, for chemistry, organic 
chemistry, biology and physics; two 280-seat mixed-use 
auditoriums, collaborative spaces throughout, and faculty 
office and administrative spaces.

AFFILIATIONS



76

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

Advocate Health Care, Advocate Medical 
Group Condell Medical Office & Ambulatory 
Facility, Libertyville, Lake, Illinois
Our Integrated Lean Project Delivery (ILPD) team was 
hired as the A/E/C and clinical/operational consultant to 
create a completely new approach to data-driven design via 
simultaneous use of 2D (Affinity) 3D (Grasshopper/Rhino) 
4D (time) 5D (cost) models with the recently created 6D 
(operational) dashboard to test the impact of design and 
operational modifications to revenue-generating space cost 
per provider and operational throughput in real-time.

University of Utah Health Care, Campus 
Transformation Project, Salt Lake City, UT
A new campus “heart” for the University, includes the design of 
three buildings - a medical education and discovery building, a 
rehabilitation hospital, and an ambulatory care complex totaling 
approximately 620,000 SF of space.

Vidant Medical Center, Cancer Center, 
Greenville, NC
The new Cancer Center is comprised of outpatient cancer 
services 96 oncology beds and future expansion totaling 
373000 SF. The Cancer Center design will be based on the 
existing East Carolina Heart Institute also designed by HDR. 
The two towers will be across a common entry from one 
another.

As part of HDR’s global consulting practice, Joel has developed new computational tools 

and design workflows for various clients with the goal of using process improvement, his 

experience in Integrated Project Delivery and a passion for data-driven design to elevate 

the quality of work and value delivered by HDR. Joel has a particularly strong technical 

background in advanced digital modeling and computational processes, specifically 

focused on increasing design quality through process enhancement and analytics. He is 

personally interested in the iterative process of design, studying design from the macro to 

micro scales and absorbing information through reading, sketching and conversation.

EDUCATION

Bachelor of Architecture, 
University of North Carolina, 
Charlotte

Bachelor of Arts, Architecture, 
University of North Carolina, 
Charlotte

REGISTRATIONS

Evidence-Based Design 
Accreditation and Certification

AFFILIATIONS

American Institute of Architects

JOEL YOW
EDAC

DESIGN INFORMATION MODELING

Kaiser Permanente, RAD 2.0 
Los Angeles, California,
Recognizing that the future of healthcare delivery rests 
squarely in outpatient and community-based settings Kaiser 
Permanente embarked on the Re-Imagining Ambulatory 
Design challenge as a way to explore a different vision for the 
future. HDR partnered with KP to develop novel solutions to 
ambulatory care ultimately resulting in schematic design of 
five RAD pilot Medical Office Buildings. Conversion of RAD 
principles to facility standards for outpatient care at both 
traditional MOBs and BLINK community-based clinics.

University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer 
Center, Ambulatory Network Expansion 
Prototypes and Clinic Design, Houston, TX
HDR is conducting a 15-million SF strategic master plan 
that includes mission areas for all MD Anderson Houston, 
Smithville and Bastrop campuses as well as regional care 
centers in Houston. The comprehensive effort involves HDR’s 
in-house healthcare consultancy, as well as HDR thought 
leaders in science + technology, translational health sciences, 
big data and visionary strategic planning.

hdrinc.com
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Grady Health System, Ponce Study Phase II, 
Atlanta, GA
HDR was engaged to validate planning concepts for the 
current space utilization and developing planning concepts 
for the vacant 5th and 6th floors for the Ponce de Leon Clinic. 
Included was an existing building assessment and conceptual 
plans with room-by-room layouts; flow diagrams for patients, 
the public and building support; phasing plans, site utilization, 
and cost estimates by each phase.

Grady Health System Tactical Master Plan, 
Atlanta, GA
The overarching goals of this campus master plan are to 
confirm the strategic direction for the campus and develop 
a tactical campus plan for the main Grady campus, including 
the hospital and surrounding properties, establishing a clear 
entrance, access for patients and visitors, key adjacencies for 
effective operations and growth corridors. The campus vision 
outlines clear zones of activity for ambulatory, hospital and 
clinical support and critical care services.

University of Texas - MD Anderson Strategic 
Master Plan, Houston, TX
HDR is conducting a 15-million SF strategic master plan 
that includes mission areas for all MD Anderson Houston, 
Smithville and Bastrop campuses as well as regional care 
centers in Houston. The comprehensive effort involves HDR’s 
in-house healthcare consultancy.

Betsy has over 30 years experience in the healthcare industry, which includes serving as a 

healthcare consultant for nationally and internationally recognized architecture firms; as a senior 

planning specialist for a tertiary, teaching hospital; and as a nuclear medicine technologist. 

Her extensive healthcare background includes facility, operational and strategic planning for 

healthcare systems, academic medical centers, children’s hospitals and community hospitals. 

Betsy is skilled in leading project teams that include all levels of hospital staff from board 

members to physicians and senior administrators to middle managers in the development of 

room and bed need analysis, operational planning, functional and space programming, and 

master facility planning.

EDUCATION

Masters of Healthcare 
Administration, Health Sciences, 
University of St Francis

REGISTRATIONS

American College of Healthcare 
Executives (ACHE)

 

BETSY BERG
ACHE

PROGRAM /CLINICAL/OPERATIONS REVIEW

Rush University Medical Center, Rush Center 
for Advanced Care, Chicago, IL
Rush University Medical Center engaged HDR to design a 
new ambulatory care complex on a site that previously served 
as student housing. HDR is leveraging translational health 
planning to design spaces that tie together RUMC’s clinical 
research, education, and care within the new facility, as well 
as connecting it to the larger campus, and Rush’s signature 
bed tower building (via a skybridge). The new center will also 
include a separate parking structure.

Spartanburg Pelham Medical Center Phase 1, 
Spartanburg, SC
Due to growing demand the HDR-completed master plan for 
Spartanburg determined that the renowned cancer center be 
moved from the main campus to Pelham Medical Center while 
maintaining some services at Spartanburg. Project includes 
oncology clinic exam rooms infusion bays potential research 
space and support services including lab pharmacy therapy 
and survivorship.
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RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

Advocate Health Care, Advocate Medical 
Group Condell Medical Office & Ambulatory 
Facility, Libertyville, Lake, Illinois
Our Integrated Lean Project Delivery (ILPD) team was 
hired as the A/E/C and clinical/operational consultant to 
create a completely new approach to data-driven design via 
simultaneous use of 2D (Affinity) 3D (Grasshopper/Rhino) 
4D (time) 5D (cost) models with the recently created 6D 
(operational) dashboard to test the impact of design and 
operational modifications to revenue-generating space cost 
per provider and operational throughput in real-time.

University of Utah Health Care, Campus 
Transformation Project, Ambulatory Care 
Center, Salt Lake City, UT
A new campus “heart” for the University, includes the design of 
three buildings - a medical education and discovery building, a 
rehabilitation hospital, and an ambulatory care complex totaling 
approximately 620,000 SF of space.

Kaiser Permanente, RAD 2.0 
Los Angeles, California,
Recognizing that the future of healthcare delivery rests 
squarely in outpatient and community-based settings Kaiser 
Permanente embarked on the Re-Imagining Ambulatory 
Design challenge as a way to explore a different vision for the 
future. HDR partnered with KP to develop novel solutions to 
ambulatory care ultimately resulting in schematic design of 
five RAD pilot Medical Office Buildings. Conversion of RAD 
principles to facility standards for outpatient care at both 
traditional MOBs and BLINK community-based clinics.

As a Six Sigma Black Belt and Registered Nurse skilled in the creation and design of 

clinical and operational workflows, Moriah intuitively connects quality patient care 

to cost effective and efficient patient care delivery models. Moriah acts as a leader in 

change with a commitment to improve healthcare outcomes through the creation and 

redesign of clinical processes, layouts, and quality improvement initiatives. Moriah 

challenges stakeholders to think beyond the traditional healthcare delivery models 

to create flexible solutions to withstand the evolving healthcare environment.

EDUCATION

Masters of Healthcare 
Administration, Bellevue 
University

Bachelor of Nursing, University 
of Nebraska

Bachelor of Science, Exercise 
Physiology, Wayne State College

REGISTRATIONS

Registered Nurse, Nebraska

Certified Six Sigma Black Belt

MORIAH BROOKSHIER
RN, CSSBB

LEAN OPERATIONS SPECIALIST

Roper St. Francis Berkeley Hospital and MOB, 
Goose Creek, SC
115,00 SF hospital, 12,700 SF CUP and an 80,000 SF MOB on 
a greenfield site includes an adult and pediatric ED with 13 
rooms, Imaging, a general and specialty Surgery Department, 
Dining, Pharmacy, Clinical Lab, PACU, Women’s Infants and 
Children inpatient department with 4 LDRPs and 2 Med/Surg 
and ICU inpatient bed floors (50 total rooms). 

Inova Health System, Phase 2B Bed Tower, 
Leesburg, Virginia
HDR's approach to planning at the Inova Loudoun campus 
is to consider various methods of transforming the facilities 
as options with a range of potential strategies which may be 
implemented over time according to prioritized needs and 
available resources.

Intermountain Healthcare, Utah Valley 
Regional Medical Center, Provo, Utah
Master site planning programming and architectural design 
services for the phased replacement of the medical center. 
620,000 SF hospital includes 36-bed patient units with acuity 
adaptable rooms, emergency department, pharmacy, 5 GI 
Endoscopy Procedure Rooms, and 19 operating rooms. Project 
also includes 276,000 SF, nine-story outpatient building.

hdrinc.com
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Kaiser Foundation Health Plan, Kaiser MOB 
Baltimore, Baltimore, MD
131,000 SF multi-specialty clinic facility along with a 600-car 
parking deck. As a major hub facility for this region, the 
project is significant to Kaiser Permanente. HDR's planning for 
this project involved the use of Kaiser Permanente's National 
Facilities Services officers and planning standards. HDR has 
also been consulting with Kaiser Permanente on the further 
development of KP's Revit standards.

New Hanover Health Network: Surgical 
Pavilion, Women and Children's Pavilion, 
and Patient Tower Renovation - Wayfinding, 
Wilmington, NC
Over 800,000 SFexpansion and renovation project, including 
a new 4 story Women and Children's Center, a new Surgical 
Center, a new Mental Health facility and renovation of the 
10-story tower and various departments within the existing 
hospital such as the pharmacy, ER and cath lab.

New Hanover Regional Medical Center Patient 
Tower Renovation - Wayfinding/Signage, 
Wilmington, NC
Approximately 300,000 SF, 382 beds and eight floors of 
the existing bed tower are being renovated to create a more 
patient-centered and staff-efficient environment. Most of the 
rooms will be private and same-handed with decentralized 
caregiver workstations, as well as accommodations for 
families.

Wendy has 29 years of experience with facility analysis and auditing, interviewing 

and observation for a variety of clients and end users with an emphasis on healthcare 

wayfinding, planning and programming.  She has knowledge and depth of experience in the 

manufacturing and installation of systems as well as product fabrication.  Her knowledge 

of branding for both corporate and healthcare clients is key to her well rounded approach.  

Wendy has national experience in identity graphics, branding and themed environments.

EDUCATION

Bachelor of Arts, Business 
Administration, University of NC 
Charlotte

REGISTRATIONS

Evidence-based Design 
Accreditation and Certification

Society of Environmental Graphic 
Design (SEGD)

WENDY WALLACE BROWN
EDAC, SEGD

GRAPHICS/SIGNAGE

Think Whole Person Healthcare, Omaha, NE
The 150,000 SF, six-story building will house 24 primary care 
physicians and more than 500 other health professionals, 
including therapists, nutritionists, mental health professionals, 
pharmacists, physician assistants, nurse practitioners, health 
coaches and others. The clinic will be a patient-centered 
medical home focused on educating, monitoring, and treating 
patients, as well as creating long-lasting relationships 
between individual patients and care teams, creating a more 
robust approach to care coordination.

University of Nebraska Medical Center and 
Nebraska Medicine, Fred & Pamela Buffett 
Cancer Center, Omaha, NE
The brainchild of the University of Nebraska Medical Center 
(the research component) and the Nebraska Medical Center 
(the clinical component), the 575,000 SF  facility will use 
new adjacencies, new technologies, and new work settings 
to inspire trans-disciplinary integration and the acceleration 
of discovery to cure. The facility includes a multidisciplinary 
outpatient clinic, a 98-lab research tower and a 108-bed 
inpatient tower.

Vidant Medical Center, James and Connie 
Maynard Children's Hospital - Wayfinding/
Signage, Greenville, NC
This project includes entrance and registration areas to unify 
the existing Women's building and NICU area with the 120-
bed Children's Hospital. The initial phase of the project will 
include 10 Med/Paytient rooms, 6 KIDDS immune suppressed 
isolation rooms, 21 convolescent newborn nursery rooms, a 
Radiology Suite, Ronald McDonald Suite and Family Resource 
Center.  

AFFILIATIONS
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Advocate Health Care, Advocate Medical 
Group Condell Medical Office & Ambulatory 
Facility, Libertyville, Lake, Illinois
Our Integrated Lean Project Delivery (ILPD) team was 
hired as the A/E/C and clinical/operational consultant to 
create a completely new approach to data-driven design via 
simultaneous use of 2D (Affinity) 3D (Grasshopper/Rhino) 
4D (time) 5D (cost) models with the recently created 6D 
(operational) dashboard to test the impact of design and 
operational modifications to revenue-generating space cost 
per provider and operational throughput in real-time.

University of Nebraska Medical Center and 
Nebraska Medicine, Fred & Pamela Buffett 
Cancer Center, Omaha, NE
The brainchild of the University of Nebraska Medical Center 
(the research component) and the Nebraska Medical Center 
(the clinical component), the 575,000 SF  facility will use 
new adjacencies, new technologies, and new work settings 
to inspire trans-disciplinary integration and the acceleration 
of discovery to cure. The facility includes a multidisciplinary 
outpatient clinic, a 98-lab research tower and a 108-bed 
inpatient tower.

Roper St. Francis Berkeley Hospital and MOB, 
Goose Creek, SC
115,00 SF hospital, 12,700 SF CUP and an 80,000 SF MOB on 
a greenfield site includes an adult and pediatric ED with 13 
rooms, Imaging, a general and specialty Surgery Department, 
Dining, Pharmacy, Clinical Lab, PACU, Women’s Infants and 
Children inpatient department with 4 LDRPs and 2 Med/Surg 
and ICU inpatient bed floors (50 total rooms). 

Ryan is a registered landscape architect with over 20 years of experience. His experience covers 

a wide variety of projects including passive parks, greenways, active recreation parks and 

streetscapes. Ryan is primarily involved in the development of construction documents, master 

plans, permitting, cost estimating, plan graphics, and planting designs.

EDUCATION

Master of Architectural 
Engineering, University of 
Nebraska, Lincoln

Bachelor of Science, 
Architectural Engineering, 
University of Nebraska, Omaha

AFFILIATIONS

Acoustic Society of America

Institute of Noise Control 
Engineering

American Society of 
Heating, Refrigeration and 
Air Conditioning Engineers 
(ASHRAE)

ADAM BUCK
ASA, INCE

ACOUSTIC DESIGN/CONSULTING

Intermountain Healthcare, Utah Valley 
Regional Medical Center, Provo, Utah
Master site planning programming and architectural design 
services for the phased replacement of the medical center. 
620,000 SF hospital includes 36-bed patient units with acuity 
adaptable rooms, emergency department, pharmacy, 5 GI 
Endoscopy Procedure Rooms, and 19 operating rooms. Project 
also includes 276,000 SF, nine-story outpatient building.

Virginia Commonwealth University, Adult 
Outpatient Facility and Parking Deck, 
Richmond, VA
Approximately 1M SF project which includes a 564,000 SF 
16 Story MOB with 1,200 Space Integrated Parking Structure 
for the consolidation of adult clinics at the academic medical 
center campus in downtown Richmond.

Vidant Medical Center, Cancer Center, 
Greenville, NC
The new Cancer Center is comprised of outpatient cancer 
services 96 oncology beds and future expansion totaling 
373,000 SF. The Cancer Center design will be based on the 
existing East Carolina Heart Institute also designed by HDR. 
The two towers will be across a common entry from one 
another.

Huntington Memorial Hospital Surgery 
Renovation and Expansion, Pasadena, CA
25,000 SF project will include surgery renovations and 
moving admin/non-acute functions off campus.  Convert an 
existing 24 bed acute rehab unit into a new compliant 22 bed 
medical surgical unit.
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RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

Kaiser Permanente, Town Park 
Comprehensive Care Center, Kennesaw, GA
Comprised of 54,480 SF renovated space and a new 78,000 
SF three-story addition, TownPark provides a full array of 
clinical specialties. An interior “Main Street” serves as the 
central circulation spine and common waiting area to all 
specialty clinics with an existing atrium expanded to become 
a centralized destination hub for the three wings.

Mission Health Hospital for Advanced 
Medicine, Asheville, NC
The new patient tower includes 600,000 SF of new 
construction, 51,000 SF of renovated hospital space, major 
ties between existing campus buildings and the expansion of 
the Central Energy Plant. The new tower will feature a new 
emergency department, consolidated and expanded sterile 
processing department, as well as hybrid specialty ORs and 
Cath Labs and 220 universal private same-handed patient 
rooms. $250 Million, Estimated completion 2019.

Children’s Hospital of Savannah, Savannah,GA
Memorial Health in partnership with affiliate Novant Health 
will develop a free-standing Children's Hospital on the 
Memorial Health Campus. The new Children's Hospital will 
be an adaptive use project to be located in a facility that 
is currently used to support the Rehab Service Line. The 
re-purposed building will consolidate all current pediatric 
services into a single location.

Chad defines the concept of an interdisciplinary designer and believes in the experience of the 

design process and not just the tools that are used to present a design solution. Chad will be 

responsible for bringing innovation, planning, and architecture together into an intuitive interior 

composition that reinforces the project concepts from programming through CA. Chad’s work 

continues to be client-directed, drawing on empathetic solutions developed from a directed 

experience and a deep understanding of clients and users as a critical part of the design process. 

EDUCATION

Bachelors of Fine Arts, Art 
Institute of Atlanta

REGISTRATIONS

National Council for Interior 
Design Qualification, Georgia

LEED Accredited Professional

International Interior Design 
Association (IIDA)

CHAD WILKEY
IIDA, NCIDQ, LEED AP

INTERIORS

Mission Health Hospital for Advanced 
Medicine, Asheville, NC
The new patient tower includes 600,000 SF of new 
construction, 51,000 SF of renovated hospital space, major 
ties between existing campus buildings and the expansion of 
the Central Energy Plant. The new tower will feature a new 
emergency department, consolidated and expanded sterile 
processing department, as well as hybrid specialty ORs and 
Cath Labs and 220 universal private same-handed patient 
rooms. $250 Million, Estimated completion 2019.

Georgia Institute of Technology, Molecular 
Science and Engineering Building, Atlanta, GA
The fourth and final building of Georgia Tech’s Biomedical 
Engineering complex, it completed the transition from 
traditional discipline-based research to interdisciplinary 
project-based research. It encloses a formal quadrangle 
on one side and creates a gateway to the President’s glade 
on the other. The 275,000 SF building contains research 
and teaching labs, offices and write-up space, as well as 
classrooms and a large auditorium.

Georgia State University Parker H. Petit 
Science Center, Atlanta, GA
A ten-story 347,000 SF tower, the Center is designed for 
multidisciplinary science teaching and research and contains 
laboratories, a 100-seat auditorium as well as offices and 
classrooms. The facility houses one of only a few university-
based Biosafety Level 4 labs as well as a "visualization wall"_a 
large array of computer screens used to view vast amounts 
of data.

AFFILIATIONS
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RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

Northside Hospital Cherokee, Replacement 
Hospital, Canton, GA
120-bed patient tower that phases into a 350 bed hospital, 
women’s center, medical office buildings, central utility plant.

Vidant Medical Center, Cancer Center, 
Greenville, NC
The new Cancer Center is comprised of outpatient cancer 
services 96 oncology beds and future expansion totaling 
373000 SF. The Cancer Center design will be based on the 
existing East Carolina Heart Institute also designed by HDR. 
The two towers will be across a common entry from one 
another.

Vidant Medical Center, James and Connie 
Maynard Children's Hospital, Greenville, NC
This project includes entrance and registration areas to unify 
the existing Women's building and NICU area with the 120-
bed Children's Hospital. The initial phase of the project will 
include 10 Med/Paytient rooms, 6 KIDDS immune suppressed 
isolation rooms, 21 convolescent newborn nursery rooms, a 
Radiology Suite, Ronald McDonald Suite and Family Resource 
Center.  

University Health Care System, 
Cardiovascular Center, Augusta, GA
The 469,500 SF facility serves as the new entrance to the 
hospital campus and is equipped to provide first-class 
treatment of heart disease, while providing flexibility
for future growth and technologies. The center includes 
72 universal inpatient beds, 10 ICU beds, 32 patient Prep/
Recovery beds, 10 cardiac labs/vascular labs, 5 universal
operating rooms, and relocation of the hospital laboratory, 
decentralized nursing support, and rehabilitation.

Kevin has more than 20 years of healthcare interior design experience. His in-depth 

knowledge of healthcare design gives him the ability to work under tight deadlines and 

challenging project conditions, while helping his clients achieve the project goals. His 

design abilities, enhanced by his attention to detail and ability to document his concept, 

have lead to the success of numerous projects, ranging from the renovation of existing 

facilities to full interior design services for new multi-million dollar projects. Kevin is a 

Founding Member of the American Academy of Healthcare Interior Designers.

EDUCATION

Bachelor of Fine Arts, Interior 
Design, University of North 
Texas,

REGISTRATIONS

Interior Designer, TX

National Council for Interior 
Design Qualification, Texas

LEED Accredited Professional

American Academy 
of Healthcare Interior 
Designers, Founding Member, 
2004-Present

KEVIN LYNCH
LEED AP, NCIDQ

FURNITURE/FIXTURES

Baylor Scott & White Health, Cancer Center at 
Hillcrest, Waco, TX
New 35,000 SF outpatient center provides state-of the-art, 
accessible care to patients in a stand-alone facility. The 
project includes an outpatient cancer center, radiation 
therapy, 20 semiprivate infusion therapy bays, imaging, 
CT Scanner, two linacs, a team station, exam, consult and 
treatment rooms, lobby, conference room and a staff area.

Cancer Institute of Dallas, Medical and 
Radiation Oncology Center, Duncanville, TX
A new, freestanding, $4.5 million medical and radiation 
oncology center. The 14,000 SF radiation and medical 
oncology center includes a linear accelerator, CT simulator, 15 
infusion bays, drug research, education, and clinical spaces, as 
well as 10 exam rooms.

Parkland Hospital, Dallas, TX
$1.27 billion replacement hospital with 862 adult-bed full 
service acute care hospital (1.7 million SF), outpatient center 
(380,000 SF), office center (275,000 SF), parking for 6,000 
vehicles, central plant, and other support facilities to achieve 
a new healthcare campus.

Humber River Hospital, Toronto, Ontario
1.7 million SF hospital facility blends lean, green and digital 
design philosophies, positioning the hospital to become one 
of the most efficient and evidence-based hospitals in Canada, 
a LEED Silver-certified building, and the first fully digital 
hospital in North America.

AFFILIATIONS
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RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

Northside Hospital Cherokee, Replacement 
Hospital, Canton, GA
The HDR/HRD team is providing architecture and engineering 
services for a 120-bed patient tower that phases into a 350 
bed hospital, women's center, medical office buildings, central 
utility plant.

Vidant Medical Center, Cancer Center, 
Greenville, NC
The new Cancer Center is comprised of outpatient cancer 
services 96 oncology beds and future expansion totaling 
373,000 SF. The Cancer Center design will be based on the 
existing East Carolina Heart Institute also designed by HDR. 
The two towers will be across a common entry from one 
another.

Mission Health Hospital for Advanced 
Medicine, Asheville, NC
The new patient tower includes 600,000 SF of new 
construction, 51,000 SF of renovated hospital space, major 
ties between existing campus buildings and the expansion of 
the Central Energy Plant. The new tower will feature a new 
emergency department, consolidated and expanded sterile 
processing department, as well as hybrid specialty ORs and 
Cath Labs and 220 universal private same-handed patient 
rooms. $250 Million, Estimated completion 2019.

Georgia Institute of Technology Carbon-
Neutral Energy Solutions Lab, Atlanta, GA
Stormwater design and construction support for a LEED 
building on Georgia Tech campus including bioretention 
design underground detention and rainwater re-use.

Luis is a Senior Project Architect and Construction Administrator with HDR.  Over the course 

of his more than 20 year career he has worked closely with construction managers, contractors 

and owners as a jobsite representative during the construction of major pharmaceutical 

manufacturing facilities, central utility plants, and laboratory buildings, including BSL-4 

laboratories at the CDC.

EDUCATION

Bachelor of Architecture, Pratt 
Institute

Bachelor of Arts, Art History, 
Muhlenberg College

REGISTRATIONS

Architect, Georgia

LEED AP Building Design + 
Construction

Certified Construction Contract 
Administrator

Construction Documents 
Technologist

American Institute of Architects 
(AIA)

LUIS SUAZO
AIA, CCCA, CDT, LEED AP BD+C

CONSTRUCTION ADMINISTRATION

CDC NCID Laboratory/Vivarium Facility, 
Building 23, Atlanta, GA
A 722,000 SF laboratory/vivarium facility that includes a 
300,000 SF  vivarium with animal holding from small animal 
to non-human primates, including chimpanzees. In addition, a 
20,000 SF insectary for vector borne diseases and 250,000 
SF of BSL-2 and BSL-3 lab space is provided, including a cGMP 
facility.

Emory University, Whitehead Biomedical 
Building, Atlanta, GA
A 325,000 sf, 8-story biomedical laboratory building.  
Features large multi-disciplinary generic laboratories for 
teams up to 20 researchers.  Research labs for Genetics, 
Anatomy & Cell Biology, Physiology, Pathology and space 
for recruiting a wide variety of scientists for interdisciplinary 
medical research. HDR was a consultant on this project 
providing laboratory planning and design, and peer review for 
MEP engineering services.

University of Georgia, Science Learning 
Center, Athens, GA
The $37 million Science Learning Center will consist of new 
construction of approximately 145,800 GSF and will provide 
centralized teaching and laboratory space to facilitate the 
instruction of undergraduate science courses at the University 
of Georgia.

AFFILIATIONS
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Grady Health System Tactical Master Plan, 
Atlanta, GA
The overarching goals of this campus master plan are to 
confirm the strategic direction for the campus and develop 
a tactical campus plan for the main Grady campus, including 
the hospital and surrounding properties, establishing a clear 
entrance, access for patients and visitors, key adjacencies for 
effective operations and growth corridors. The campus vision 
outlines clear zones of activity for ambulatory, hospital and 
clinical support and critical care services.

Grady Memorial Hospital Inpatient Unit 
Renovations, Atlanta, GA
Renovation of 30,000 SF of patient units 6A and 6B to 
convert semi-private rooms to private rooms and add satellite 
nurse work areas to reduce staff walking distances. The 
project includes all new finishes, casework, lighting and HVAC 
terminal units.

Kaiser Permanente, TownPark Comprehensive 
Medical Center, Kennesaw, GA
Comprised of 54,480 SF of renovated space and a new 
78,000 SF, three-story addition, TownPark provides a full 
array of clinical specialties. An interior "Main Street" serves as 
the central circulation spine and common waiting area to all 
specialty clinics, with an existing atrium expanded to become 
a centralized destination hub for the three wings.

Charles has over 40 years of experience specializing in academic,  research and healthcare 

facilities. He is a highly detail-oriented, hands-on professional with ability to orchestrate projects 

of every size and scope. Charles will lead HDR’s QA/QC efforts throughout each phase, and will 

manage the comment and review process through HDR’s QA/QC platform which provides a 

single source of comment initiation, review, and tracking for the entire team.

EDUCATION

Bachelor of Architecture, Miami 
University of Ohio

REGISTRATIONS

Registered Architect

NCARB Certification

LEED Accredited Professional

American Institute of Architects 
(AIA)

CHARLES CHEEK
AIA, LEED AP

QA/QC

Mission Health, Patient and Surgical Tower, 
Asheville, NC
The most extensive project in Mission Health’s history, the 
new patient tower includes 635,000-square-feet of new 
construction, 51,000-square-feet of renovated hospital 
space, major ties between existing campus buildings and the 
expansion of the Central Energy Plant. The new tower, which 
is the result of a 2012 site facility master plan, will feature 
an emergency department, sterile processing department 
and kitchen, as well as surgical operating rooms and patient 
rooms.

Shirley Ryan AbilityLab, Shirley Ryan 
AbilityLab, Chicago, Cook, Illinois, United States
1.2 million SF, 27-story high-rise translational medicine, 
research and rehabilitation hospital. Environments will 
support the AbilityLab’s vision of fusing live medical research 
and clinical care. Greater, more powerful collaboration 
will occur among researchers, among clinicians, and most 
importantly, between research and clinical teams in support 
of improving patient recovery.

Halifax Regional Medical Center, Halifax 
Regional Medical Center Surgical Suite 
Expansion, Roanoke Rapids, NC
This 15,000 SF expansion and alterations project houses a 
new recovery unit and an expanded prep-recovery area.  In 
addition, modifications include new staff lockers and lounge, 
a family waiting area, and an OR equipment storage room.

AFFILIATIONS
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Specific Project Experience
Grady Memorial Hospital
Advanced Surgical Services Building Programming, Atlanta, GA
Programming for the Center for Advanced Surgical Services located across from the 
main hospital, comprising an ambulatory surgery center, procedure suites, imaging, 
outpatient clinics, and a central utility plant.

Emergency Department Addition and Renovation
Grady Memorial Hospital, Atlanta, GA
A five story, 77,720 square foot addition, and renovation of the Emergency 
Department including additional Emergency Care Center space, dedicated detention 
holding and treatment, two floors of offices, and one MRI floor. The renovation 
includes replacement of central air handling units. 142,570 SF

Urgent Care Expansion
Atlanta Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Atlanta, GA
Expansion of the Building B to house Urgent Care space. 15,000 SF

Roosevelt Warm Springs Institute for Rehabilitation Renovation
Augusta University Health, Augusta, GA
Renovation of the Inpatient Rehabilitation Hospital and the Long Term Acute Care 
Hospital at the Roosevelt Warm Springs Institute for Rehabilitation. The long term 
hospital provides 24 hour complete care from registered nurses, and support from 
other specialists such as respiratory therapists, physical therapists, speech language 
pathologists, and registered dieticians. Upgrades to the historic facility include 
replacement of two stand-alone water-cooled chillers, associated cooling towers, 
chilled water and condenser water pumps, and expansion tanks with a central chilled 
water system that include an air-cooled chiller, associated chilled water pumps and 
interconnect chilled water system to serve both buildings. 90,000 SF

Atlanta Women’s and Infant’s Center
Grady Memorial Hospital, Atlanta, GA
Phased renovation of the Second Floor Women’s Clinics including the Teen Clinic, 
Prenatal Clinic, Centering Rooms, and Perinatal Center with ultrasound and 
urodynamics procedure rooms. Additionally, phased renovation of the Fourth Floor 
to create twelve Labor and Delivery Rooms, seven Triage Rooms,  four High-Risk 
Ante Partum Rooms and six pre/post Holding rooms.  The renovation of each floor 
includes replacement of all mechanical and electrical systems in the updated space, 
and replacement of central air handling units. Lastly, a site redevelopment on the 
Ground Floor to create a dedicated entrance for the Women’s and Infants Center 
including a Healing Garden with site lighting.  61,780 SF

Patient Tower
Piedmont Athens Regional, Athens, GA
A four story bed tower with two thirty-two bed nursing units and two shelled floors. 
Additionally, expansion of Prince 2 to support a thirty-two bed unit on the Fourth 
Floor, upgrade of the interior finishes of Prince 1 and Talmadge, and other enabling 
projects. 489,500 SF

North Tower Renovation
WellStar Cobb Hospital, Austell, GA
Addition of four beds to the ICU, as well as renovation of sixteen CCU rooms and 
common areas.  Additionally, horizontal distribution of medical gases and emergency 
power on three patient floors (2N, 3N, and 4N).

Southeast Corner Addition Renovation
Emory University Hospital, Atlanta, GA
Renovation to connect a two level bridge from the hospital tower, including 
reskinning the building, reconfiguration of the Second Floor to create an open lobby, 
replacement of mechanical equipment, and reconfiguration of office space on the 
First Floor. 10,000 SF

About Juli
Juli has 13 years of experience in mechanical system 
design and project management for new and 
renovated projects, particularly in the health care 
industry. She has been responsible for the project 
management and mechanical engineering of more 
than 50 projects.

Education
Bachelor of Science, Architectural Engineering, 2003, 

Milwaukee School of Engineering

Licensure / Certifications
Licensed Professional Engineer (PE): Georgia

LEED AP

Professional Affiliations
Associate, American Society of Heating, Refrigerating 

and Air-Conditioning Engineers, Inc. (ASHRAE)

JULI JOHNSON, PE
Associate Partner
Project Manager

Grady Memorial Hospital
Emergency Department

Grady Memorial Hospital
Atlanta Women’s and Infant’s Center
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Specific Project Experience
Grady Memorial Hospital
Advanced Surgical Services Building Programming, Atlanta, GA
Programming for the Center for Advanced Surgical Services located across from the 
main hospital, comprising an ambulatory surgery center, procedure suites, imaging, 
outpatient clinics, and a central utility plant.

Emergency Department Addition and Renovation
Grady Memorial Hospital, Atlanta, GA
Renovation of the Emergency Department and a 77,720 square foot, five story, 
addition, including additional Emergency Care Center space, dedicated detention 
holding and treatment, two floors of offices, and one MRI floor. 142,570 SF

Emory at Smyrna
Renovation and Addition, Smyrna, GA
Renovation of, and addition to, the hospital, including operating rooms, kitchen 
and dining facilities, USP 797 pharmacy, Post Anesthesia Care Unit (PACU) and 
Preoperative space, physicians and staff lounges, a laboratory, patient rooms, and 
conversion of the Physical Therapy area into Central Sterile Processing. The expansion 
comprises the addition of an MRI suite, two operating rooms, shell space for two 
operating rooms, a morgue, as well as an expansion of the lobby and pre-admission 
testing. 82,800 SF

Miriam & Hugh Nunnally Maternity Care Center
Southeast Georgia Health System, Brunswick, GA
Addition to, and renovation of, the Miriam & Hugh Nunnally Maternity Care Center 
at Southeast Georgia Health System, including six LDRP rooms and a Level 2 Nursery. 
34,600 SF

Clearview Regional Medical Center
Health Management Associates, Inc., Monroe, GA
A fifty bed replacement hospital including four operating rooms, labor and delivery 
rooms, a C-section room, an emergency department, radiology, USP 797 pharmacy, 
dietary, a cafe, central sterile area, clinical laboratories, administrative areas, and a 
central energy plant. 100,000 SF

North Tower Renovation
WellStar Cobb Hospital, Austell, GA
Addition of four beds to the ICU, as well as renovation of sixteen CCU rooms and 
common areas.  Additionally, horizontal distribution of medical gases and emergency 
power on three patient floors (2N, 3N, and 4N).

ICU Renovations
Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Columbia, SC
Renovation of clinical space into a new ICU space, including a Pulmonary Care Unit 
(PCU), Medical Intensive Care Unit (MICU), Coronary Care Unit (CCU), PCU isolation 
rooms, MICU isolation rooms, zoned nurse stations, and core space at the William 
Jennings Bryan Dorn Veterans Affairs Medical Center.  32,000 SF

ICU Renovation
Emory University Hospital Midtown, Atlanta, GA
A twelve bed ICU in the Peachtree Building, as well as a patient transport bridge 
connecting Level 1 of the Peachtree Building to Level 2 of the Medical Office Tower. 
12,000 SF

Marcus Stroke & Neuroscience Center 
Grady Memorial Hospital, Atlanta, GA
Renovation of the Eighth Floor of the A/B Towers to create the Marcus Stroke & 
Neuroscience Center. The Center includes eighteen intensive care unit beds, 
nineteen immediate care beds, an imaging suite with a CT scanner, a dedicated bi-
plane neuroangiography suite, MRI and PET scanners, telemedicine infrastructure, 
and nursing stations. 21,000 SF

About Matt
Matt has 15 years of electrical engineering design 
experience for institutional projects. Matt has notable 
experience in the electrical engineering design of 
health care facilities, including more than 100 new 
and renovated projects.

Education
Bachelor of Electrical Engineering, 2002, Georgia 

Institute of Technology, Atlanta, GA

Licensure / Certifications
Licensed Professional Engineer (PE): Georgia
LEED AP

Licensure / Certifications
Member, The Institute of Electrical and Electronics 

Engineers, Inc. (IEEE)

MATT EASON, PE
Associate Partner
Electrical Engineer

Grady Memorial Hospital
Marcus Stroke & Neuroscience 

Grady Memorial Hospital
Emergency Department
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Specific Project Experience
Grady Memorial Hospital
Advanced Surgical Services Building Programming, Atlanta, GA
Programming for the Center for Advanced Surgical Services located across from the 
main hospital, comprising an ambulatory surgery center, procedure suites, imaging, 
outpatient clinics, and a central utility plant.

Emergency Department Addition and Renovation
Grady Memorial Hospital, Atlanta, GA
A five story, 77,720 square foot addition, and renovation of the Emergency 
Department including additional Emergency Care Center space, detention holding 
and treatment, offices, and an MRI floor. 142,570 SF

Ambulatory Surgery Center
Emory Healthcare, Dunwoody, GA
Conversion of a medical office building into an ambulatory surgery center. 23,000 SF

North Pavilion
Duke University Medical Center, Durham, NC
A ten story facility comprising a clinical information management office building and 
an ambulatory surgery center. The outpatient surgery center includes nine outpatient 
operating rooms, recovery, and general laboratories. Another floor houses adult and 
pediatric bone marrow treatment centers and cryo-preservation facility. The building 
is also home to the largest database in the world providing medical and surgical 
procedure information to health care providers.  310,200 SF

Hospital and Mental Health Facility
Central Prison, Raleigh, NC
A state regional medical center comprising 120 inpatient beds; and a mental health 
facility comprising 230 beds; operating rooms, clinics and clinical laboratories; a 
dental facility including 6 dental chairs, two surgery suites, a laboratory and imaging 
area; a dialysis facility with 6 dialysis chairs; a pharmacy with an ISO 7 clean room; 
as well as a central energy plant. Raleigh’s Central Prison Hospital and Mental Health 
Facility includes renovation and addition of the kitchen and dining area, demolition 
of the existing hospital, and linking corridors connecting the new buildings to the 
existing facility. 370,700 SF

Addition and Renovations
North Fulton Regional Hospital, Roswell, GA
Additions and alterations in the 160 bed North Fulton Regional Hospital include 
expansion of the operating room suite, food service and dining facilities, intensive 
care unit, emergency department, acute care patient beds, and the central plant.  
104,100 SF

General Internal Medicine 
The Emory Clinic at 1525, Atlanta, GA
Renovation of a Primary Care Physician office and clinical space. 15,000 SF

About Dennis
Dennis has over 30 years of experience in the design 
of plumbing systems and project management. 
His experience covers the range of commercial and 
institutional facilities, including campuses for health 
care clients. Dennis has been published in the areas of 
pure water system design and high-rise plumbing. He 
has been responsible for the plumbing design of more 
than 530 projects.

Education
Associate in Technologies, Drafting Technology, 1979, 

Pensacola Junior College

Licensure / Certifications
Member, American Society of Plumbing Engineers 

(ASPE)

Presentations
Seminar, The Atlanta Chapter of the ASPE, “Cold 

Water Systems”, Atlanta, Georgia, September, 2007

Publications
“Pure Water: A Drop by Drop Process for Selection of 

Your System,” Controlled Environments Magazine, 
December 2006

“High-Rise Plumbing Design: It’s all the same, right?,” 
Plumbing Systems & Design Magazine, May/June 
2007

DENNIS CONNELLY, CPD
Senior Associate
Plumbing Designer

Grady Memorial Hospital
Emergency Department

Central Prison
Hospital and Mental Health Facility
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  Roosevelt Powell, P.E. 
  

     
 
    

     
Education: 
Master in Business  
Administration, University of  
Chicago 
B.S., Mechanical  
Engineering, Illinois Institute  
Of Technology 
 
Professional Registrations: 
Registered Professional   
Engineer, Georgia, Illinois,  
North Carolina and South   
Carolina 
 
Professional History: 
R. Powell & Associates, Inc. 
 President 
Northern Illinois Gas 
 General Manager 
Metropolitan Water Reclamation 
District of Greater Chicago 
 Mechanical Engineer II 
 
Professional Memberships: 
American Association of Blacks  
  In Energy (Board) 
American Council of  
  Engineering Companies of  
  Georgia 
American Gas Association 
American Society of Heating,  
  Refrigerating and Air  
  Conditioning Engineers, Inc. 
Chicago Association of  
  Commerce and Industry 
National Fire Protection  
  Association 
National Society of Professional   
  Engineers 
Utilities Telecommunication                            
  Council (Board) 
  
 

  
 
Mr. Powell is President of R. Powell & Associates, Inc. (RPA), which 
provides engineering and business consulting services to a variety of 
businesses. He is a licensed Professional Engineer with over 30 years 
of experience as a functional manager of business operations and 
engineering activities. 
 
Mr. Powell formerly held upper management responsibilities for 
various staff and operating areas at one of the major utilities in the 
county, Northern Illinois Gas. He has extensive experience in 
analyzing, evaluation, developing, and designing performance 
improvement projects for the utility industry. He held the position of 
General Manager in the utility industry and as such, was responsible 
for all planning, construction, maintenance, customer service and 
sales activities in a Division. 
 
Mr. Powell has participated in the analysis and design of mechanical, 
electrical and civil engineering facilities at Atlanta’s Hartsfield 
International Airport, Fulton County Airport and the Naval Air 
Station in Marietta, Georgia. Mr. Powell has also participated as a 
consultant in utility management audits, normally focusing on system 
planning, design and operating activities. In addition, Mr. Powell has 
participated in the selection of key administrator level engineering and 
technical personnel for the Metropolitan Water Reclamation  
District of Greater Chicago and Cook County in Illinois. 
 
Project Summary 
 
Clayton County School #11 
Mr. Powell was responsible for design and construction administration of 
the mechanical, electrical, plumbing and fire protection systems for the 
91,000 square foot facility.  The school was designed to house children in 
Grades Kindergarten through third.  The school included a gymnasium, 
complete kitchen and dining area, media center and an outdoor 
amphitheater, designed to be used by students and community residents.  
 
Gwinnett County Shiloh Middle School Addition 
Mr. Powell was responsible for design and construction administration of 
the mechanical, electrical, plumbing and fire protection systems for the 
18 classroom two story addition.   
 
Horizontally mounted water source heat pump units are used for HVAC 
in the classrooms. In addition, 31 water source heat pumps, two energy 
recovery units and all light fixtures in two existing wings of the facility 
are being replaced.  The facility is currently under construction. 
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  Kevin D. Champion, P.E. 
 

  
  
   

Position:                               
Electrical Engineer 

     
Education: 
Master of Science in  
Building Construction 
Management, Georgia 
Institute of Technology 
B.S., Applied Physics 
 Morehouse College 
B.S., Electrical Engineering,  
Georgia Institute of 
Technology 
 
Professional Registrations: 
Registered Professional   
Engineer, Georgia 
 
Professional History: 
R. Powell & Associates, Inc. 
 Electrical Engineer 
M ECubed Engineering 
 Consultant Electrical 
Engineer 
Robert and Company 
 Electrical Engineer 
Motorola 
 Laboratory Assistant 
Lucent Technologies 
 Project Manager 
 Project Engineer 
 Matrix Analyst 
  
  
 
 
  

       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Mr.	  Champion	  is	  an	  Electrical	  Engineer	  for	  R.	  Powell	  &	  Associates,	  Inc.	  He	  
received	  his	  B.S.	  in	  Electrical	  Engineering	  from	  the	  Georgia	  Institute	  of	  
Technology.	  
Mr.	  Champion	  has	  been	  responsible	  for	  electrical	  analysis,	  direct	  client	  
interface	  and	  design	  of	  various	  electrical	  systems	  for	  commercial	  
facilities	  including	  Marta	  Wash	  water	  Recycle	  System,	  Athens	  Regional	  
Development	  Centers,	  and	  Autaugaville	  Natural	  Gas	  System	  Projects.	  Mr.	  
Champion	  has	  worked	  8	  years	  for	  R.	  Powell	  &	  Associates.	  
 
Project Summary 
 

City	  of	  Atlanta	  Beltline	  Trail	  –	  Southwest	  Side	  Section.	  	  

Mr.	  Champion	  was	  lead	  engineer	  for	  the	  design	  of	  the	  lighting,	  duct	  bank	  
and	  security	  camera	  systems	  for	  approximately	  3	  miles	  of	  new	  15-‐foot	  
wide	  pedestrian	  Beltline	  Trail	  on	  the	  Southwest	  side	  of	  the	  City	  Of	  
Atlanta.	  

The	  design	  included	  preparation	  of	  the	  photometric	  analysis	  for	  the	  trail,	  
for	  the	  trail	  entry	  and	  exit	  ramps	  and	  stairs,	  and	  at	  overpasses.	  The	  
design	  also	  included	  selection	  and	  placement	  of	  light	  fixtures	  along	  the	  
trail,	  at	  overpasses	  and	  at	  entry	  and	  exit	  ramps	  and	  stairs.	  The	  design	  
also	  included	  sizing	  and	  layout	  of	  the	  power	  distribution	  system,	  8-‐tube	  
duct	  bank	  system	  and	  placement	  of	  power	  supply	  cabinets.	  The	  security	  
distribution	  system	  and	  placement	  of	  security	  cameras	  was	  also	  
included	  in	  the	  design.	  
City	  of	  Atlanta	  Beltline	  Trail	  –	  Southeast	  Side	  Section.	  	  

Mr.	  Champion	  was	  lead	  engineer	  for	  the	  design	  services	  of	  the	  lighting,	  
and	  security	  camera	  systems	  for	  approximately	  3	  miles	  of	  new	  15-‐foot	  
wide	  pedestrian	  Beltline	  Trail	  on	  the	  Southeast	  side	  of	  the	  City	  Of	  
Atlanta.	  

The	  design	  included	  preparation	  of	  the	  photometric	  analysis	  for	  the	  trail,	  
trail	  entry	  and	  exit	  ramps	  and	  stairs,	  and	  at	  overpasses.	  The	  design	  also	  
included	  selection	  and	  placement	  of	  light	  fixtures	  along	  the	  trail,	  at	  
overpasses	  and	  at	  entry	  and	  exit	  ramps	  and	  stairs.	  The	  design	  also	  
included	  sizing	  and	  layout	  of	  the	  power	  distribution	  system	  and	  
placement	  of	  power	  supply	  cabinets.	  The	  security	  distribution	  system	  
and	  placement	  of	  security	  cameras	  was	  also	  included	  in	  the	  design.	  
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REGISTRATIONS

Licensed Professional Engineer

Georgia 016309 
Florida 61473 

Tennessee 00109346 
North Carolina 029719

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE 

 › Emory University Hospital – J Wing Expansion, Atlanta, GA

 › Levine Children’s Hospital, Charlotte, NC

 › Lexington Medical Center, Columbia, SC

 › Emory University Clinic and Haygood Parking Deck,  
Atlanta, GA

 › Kaiser Permanent Comprehensive Care Center Medical 
Office Building & Parking Deck, Atlanta, GA

 › Children’s Healthcare of Atlanta Expansion & Renovation and 
Parking Deck, Atlanta, GA

 › Carolinas Medical Center ICU Tower Expansion, Charlotte, NC

 › Piedmont Newnan Replacement Hospital, Newnan, GA

 › Levine Children’s Hospital, Charlotte, NC

 › Pineville Hospital Phase 2 Bed Tower Expansion, Pineville, NC

 › Wellstar Paulding Replacement Hospital, Hiram, GA

 › Medical College of South Carolina, Charleston, SC

 › Lexington Medical Center, Lexington, SC

 › Medical Center of Central Georgia ICU Renovation,  
Macon, GA

 › Medical Center of Central Georgia Cancer Center, Macon, GA

 › Gwinnett Medical Center Surgery Addition, Lawrenceville, GA

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS

American Concrete Institute

ACEC Georgia Building Systems Chair 

ACEC Georgia/AIA/AGC Liaison Committee Member

ACEC Georgia/Executive Board Member

SMPS / Atlanta Executive Advisory Council Member

Doug is a Principal at Walter P Moore with over 33 

years of diversified structural engineering design and 

management experience.  He has a perspective 

and approach which combines the technical 

understanding of structural engineering with an 

in-depth appreciation for the overall architectural 

concepts of function, aesthetic, and coordination.

EDUCATION

Master of Science in Civil Engineering, Georgia Institute of 
Technology, 1982

Bachelor of Science in Civil Engineering, Georgia Institute of 
Technology, 1981

Bachelor of Science in Physics, State University of New York at  
Oneonta, 1980

Douglas W. Robinson, PE
Principal and Managing Director / Principal-in-Charge 
16 Years with Walter P Moore
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Brent brings 25 years of passionate, quality-

focused structural engineering experience to his 

role as one of our most accomplished senior 

project managers, primarily in the sectors of 

healthcare and higher education. He understands 

that careful consideration of design criteria, user 

needs, long term flexibility and durability, and clear 

documentation are crucial for institutional structures.  

An acknowledged healthcare expert within Walter P 

Moore, Brent is the current Director of the company’s 

firmwide Healthcare Community of Practice.

EDUCATION

Master of Science in Civil Engineering, Georgia Institute of 
Technology, 1993

Bachelor of Science in Civil Engineering, Georgia Institute of 
Technology, 1991

REGISTRATIONS

Licensed Professional Engineer

Georgia 22924 
South Carolina 24161 

North Carolina 030666 
+ 13 other states

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE 

 › Children’s Healthcare of Atlanta - Druid Hills,  
Atlanta, GA

 › Mission Health Hospital for Advanced Medicine, Asheville, NC

 › Medical University of South Carolina Children’s Hospital and 
Women’s Pavilion, Charleston, SC

 › Piedmont Newnan Replacement Hospital, Newnan, GA

 › Piedmont Medical Plaza, Newnan, GA

 › Wellstar Paulding Replacement Hospital, Hiram, GA

 › Wellstar Paulding Medical Office Building, Hiram, GA

 › Atlanta Ronald McDonald House, Sandy Springs, GA

 › Gwinnett Medical Center Surgery Addition,  
Lawrenceville, GA

 › Houston Medical Center Bed Tower Expansion,  
Warner-Robins, GA

 › Medical College of Georgia Wellness Center, Augusta, GA

 › Medical Center of Central Georgia ICU Renovation,  
Macon, GA

 › Northeast Georgia Health Systems Radiation Oncology, 
Braselton, GA

 › Lexington Medical Center Clinical Expansion and Tower,  
West Columbia, SC

 › Lexington Medical Center Parking Garage, West Columbia, SC

 › Village Hospital, Greer, SC

 › Medical University of South Carolina Children’s Hospital and 
Women’s Pavilion, Charleston, SC

 › Village Hospital Medical Office Building, Greer, SC

 › Duke Medical Pavilion North Concourse, Durham, NC

 › Mission Health Hospital for Advanced Medicine, Asheville, NC

 › Pineville Hospital Central Energy Plant, Pineville, NC

 › Pineville Hospital Phase 2 Bed Tower Expansion, Pineville, NC

 › Cabell Huntington Children’s Hospital, Huntington, WV

 › Cabell Huntington Surgery Expansion, Huntington, WV

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS

American Society of Civil Engineers

American Concrete Institute

American Concrete Institute Georgia Chapter 2010 President

Post-Tensioning Institute

Brent J. Bandy, PE, LEED AP
Principal / Senior Project Manager
25 Years with Walter P Moore
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RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE 

 › Buffalo Niagara Medical Campus Multi-Modal Transportation 
Structure, Buffalo, NY

 › Texas Medical Center Garage 18 Planning and Design, 
Houston, TX

 › Texas Medical Center Garage 19 Planning and Design, 
Houston, TX

 › Texas Medical Center Parking Guidance System Evaluation 
and Study, Houston, TX

 › San Antonio Military Medical Center Parking Garage,  
San Antonio, TX

 › Cook Children’s Hospital North Garage Expansion,  
Fort Worth, TX

 › Cook Children’s Hospital South Garage Expansion,  
Fort Worth, TX

 › MD Anderson Cancer Center Braeswood Parking Garage, 
Houston, TX

 › MD Anderson Cancer Center North Campus Master Plan, 
Houston, TX

 › 1800 West Loop Parking Expansion, Houston, Texas

 › 4004 Summit 7 Oaks Parking Garage Planning and Design, 
Atlanta, GA

 › AIG Corporate Campus Garage Expansion, Houston, TX

 › Apple Corporate Campus, Cupertino, CA

 › Brickell City Centre Parking Garage, Miami, FL

 › Capitol Tower Planning and Design, Houston, TX

 › DOW Headquarters Garage, Midland, MI

 › Exxon Mobil Corporate Campus Garages, Houston, TX

 › Harris County Garage Expansion, Houston, TX

 › Hewlett Packard Parking Garages 6 and 13 Horizontal 
Expansion, Houston, TX

 › Intel Corporate Campus, Santa Clara, CA

 › Las Colinas Convention Center Parking Garage Planning and 
Design, Irving, TX

 › Midtown Superblock Park and Garage, Houston, TX

 › Millennium II Parking Garage, Houston, TX

 › Rusk Garage Renovations, Houston, TX

 › Stamford Department of Transportation State Street Garage 
Planning, Stamford, CT

 › Greater Orlando Aviation Authority Parking Count and 
Guidance System, Orlando, FL 

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS

Project Management Institute 

Texas Parking and Transportation Association

International Parking Institute

Brian is the Director of Parking Services at Walter P 

Moore and a Senior Parking Consultant with over 

19 years of experience in parking consulting, project 

management, and construction. As a specialist in 

project management, Brian leads multi-discipline 

architecture and engineering teams to provide 

creative parking solutions. Focusing primarily on 

municipal, healthcare, commercial, and aviation 

markets, he guides the design team to create 

efficient and functional designs specific to each 

project’s needs.

EDUCATION

Masters of Business Administration, Le Tourneau University

Bachelors of Science in Civil Engineering, University of Houston

REGISTRATIONS

Project Management Professional (PMP)

Brian Lozano, PMP
Principal / Lead Parking Consultant
12 Years with Walter P Moore
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Key Qualifications:  
Mr. Withers provides architectural, civil and structural construction cost and 
system analysis in cost control, budget monitoring, design estimating, value 
analysis and construction estimating.   
 
Brett’s particular expertise, experience and training as an architect enables him 
to have a good understanding of all of the elements needed to supplement the 
design team’s information. In communicating with the design team, he is able 
to understand the goals of the design and can offer suggestions that may save 
money without harming the overall design. In addition to providing cost 
management services, he is responsible for coordinating project take-off and 
pricing as a Senior Cost Analyst at CSG 
 
RELEVANT EXPERIENCE: 
Grady Trauma Tactical Campus Master Plan, Atlanta, GA  
CSG providing cost estimates for this 7 buildings site and parking master plan. The 
scope of work included the renovation of the main hospital, expansion of 
multidisciplinary clinics, new butler deck, camp gateways, central utility plant and new 
ambulatory care building. This estimated square foot for this project was 997,297SF. 
Role: Senior Cost Analyst 

Grady Trauma Renovations, Atlanta, GA  
CSG prepared cost estimates for this 11,000 SF renovation including technological 
upgrades and space modifications for this critical care facility.  CSG provided cost 
estimating for several different design options. 
Role: Senior Cost Analyst 
 
Emory University Hospital, Atlanta, GA 
CSG provided construction cost estimating for all phases of the Emory University 
Hospital (EUH) expansion. The hospital's new tower or J wing is located across 
Clifton Road from the main hospital building. Featuring an Italianate design recalling 
the historic character of the campus; the building’s contemporary elements look to 
Emory’s future. The 456,144 SF nine-story tower has 210 inpatient beds. The $200 
million project also included operating rooms, diagnostic and treatment spaces and 
ICU rooms. The wing rests on an underground, 310,726 SF four-level parking deck 
providing 400 to 600 spaces. The new hospital tower connects to EUH via a two-level 
pedestrian bridge. It also connects to The Emory Clinic Buildings and other parking.  
 
Mountain Lakes Medical Center, Clayton, GA 
CSG led the cost estimating for this 30 acres, 56,613 SF medical facility. The project 
included a 25- bed acute care hospital, 24-hour emergency care, primary care, 
general surgery, gynecology, pediatrics, orthopedics, community health classes, an 
advanced cardiovascular imaging center, full service laboratory, administration 
offices outpatient infusion center and pain management clinic. The estimated 
construction cost was $22 million. Role: Senior Cost Analyst 
Grady Anatomic Pathology Offices and Histology Laboratory Renovations, 
Atlanta, GA 
CSG prepared separate schematic design estimates for 8 individual spaces for this 
4,000+ SF total project. The Renovation work included minor layout changes, finish 
upgrades, and MEP systems modifications. 
Role: Senior Cost Analyst 
 

 
 
R. Brett Withers, CPE 
Senior Cost Analyst 
Costing Services Group, 
Inc. 
 
Location: 
Atlanta, GA 
 
Years of Experience: 
26 (17 with CSG, 9 with 
others) 
 
Education: 
Bachelor of Arts 
(Architecture) 1988 
University of North Carolina 
 
Training & Certifications: 

 Certified 
Professional 
Estimator (CPE) 
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RESUME  
 
BRIAN BRUMFIELD, PE, LEED AP 
Principal of Healthcare Facilities 
 
For over 20 years Mr. Brumfield has been designing sites for existing and new healthcare and 
medical facilities. His experience spans design of new and renovations on multi‐million dollar 
hospitals to medical and dental clinics to medical office centers. He has performed peer review 
and value engineering studies for Medical Facilities for U.S. Army Corps of Engineers.   
 
Mr. Brumfield has considerable expertise in design issues involving civil site designs. His clients 
appreciate his genuine understanding of their industry and how engineering design impacts the 
success of their project.  
 
EDUCATION:    Bachelor of Science of Civil Engineering, 1996 
      Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, Georgia 
 
REGISTRATIONS:  Professional  Engineer  in  the  state  of  Georgia,  Tennessee,  Mississippi, 

Alabama, Virginia, Kentucky and Oklahoma 
 
HEALTHCARE FACILITY EXPERIENCE:  
Grady Center for Advance Surgical Services, Atlanta, Georgia 
Principle in Charge of programming and planning for the new 198,000 s.f. center.  
 
Outpatient Clinic for Veteran’s Administration, Decatur, Georgia 
 
Northeast Georgia Medical Center Imaging Center, Gainesville, GA.   
 
Northeast Georgia Medical Center North Patient Tower, Gainesville, Georgia 
 
Northeast Georgia Medical Center Cafeteria Garden, Gainesville, Georgia 
 
Northeast Georgia Medical Center, South Hall Campus, Gainesville, Georgia 
 
Martin Army Community Replacement Hospital, Ft. Benning, GA 
 
Value Engineering Study, Medical & Dental Clinic, Cannon Airforce Base, New Mexico  
   
Master Plan for Southern Regional Medical Center Clayton County, Georgia 
 
Ambulatory Surgery Addition, Southern Regional Medical Center, Clayton County, Georgia 
 
Emergency Room Addition, Southern Regional Medical Center, Clayton County, Georgia  
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DEBBIE HEITZMAN
CEO I Project Director 

Medical Equipment Planner 
 

dheitzman@shrhome.com 
 
 

Debbie has over 25 years of domestic and international experience as a consultant in 
clinical design, medical equipment planning, clinical consulting and nursing. She has 
exceptional knowledge in medical technology and she is considered an expert in the 
operating room, sterilization and critical care environments. Her knowledge comes 
from working on over 100 new construction and renovation projects across many 
countries. 

 
Debbie developed and manages the equipment planning services globally for SHR 
and her experience as a project manager provides insight in the actual cost of 
equipment and how to negotiate to achieve exceptional pricing. 

PROJECT EXPERIENCE

Medical University of South Carolina 

All Children’s Replacement Hospital 

Rochester Regional Health System 

Duke Health System 

Niagara Health Replacement Hospital 

Piedmont Health System 

St. Joseph’s Healthcare Ontario 

BC Women’s and BC Children’s Hospital 

Humber River Regional Hospital 

Royal Adelaide Hospital 

Grady Health System 

WellStar Health System 

Mission Health System 

Georgia Regents University 

Health Central Hospital 

Credit Valley Hospital 

William Osler Health System 

 

 

ACADEMIC
ACHIEVEMENTS

 

 
 

 
 

 

ASSOCIATION
MEMBERSHIPS
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JOSEPH A. CASTELLANO, PE
Vice President

Joseph Castellano, PE, is a Vice President with 30 years’ experience. Mr. 
Castellano has demonstrated expertise in life safety, code consulting, and 
fire protection systems design. He serves as a technical resource for 
various legal projects. Mr. Castellano has over 25 years of experience in 
the application of building and fire codes including the International 
Building Codes and NFPA codes. He has extensive project experience 
and depth of knowledge of both the Life Safety Code and other applicable 
codes impacting life safety specifically in healthcare facilities.   Mr. 
Castellano has been involved in a number of projects involving fire 
protection, life safety and overall code compliance of healthcare 
occupancies.  He has worked diligently with clients providing cost effective 
solutions while meeting the intent and prescriptive requirements of the 
applicable codes.

PROJECT HIGHLIGHTS
Piedmont Hospital Campus, Atlanta, GA
Provided fire protection design services and construction administration 
services related to the replacement of all fire alarm systems at the 
Piedmont Hospital campus. The replacement includes the main hospital, 
seven medical office buildings and a parking structure. 

Martin Army Community Hospital, Ft. Benning, Columbus, GA
Provided fire protection, life safety design and commissioning services for 
the new 745,000-sf Martin Army Community Hospital at Ft. Benning, GA. 

WellStar Paulding Replacement Hospital, Hiram, GA
Provided fire protection and life safety consulting services for the new 
eight-story hospital in Hiram.  JH provided services related to the 
development of appropriate smoke exhaust system design criteria for the 
atrium in the hospital. The new hospital has 56 private rooms, an 
emergency department, a women’s imaging center, cancer center and 
other services. 

NovaMed Surgery Center, Columbus, GA
Provided code consulting services towards assisting NovaMed in reaching 
a resolution concerning the code deficiencies at the Ambulatory Surgical 
Center facility.

Bayne-Jones Army Hospital, Ft. Polk, LA
Provided fire protection consulting services related to the assessment of 
the fire alarm and life safety systems for Building 285 and Building 289, 
the Central Utility Plant.

Grady Memorial Hospital, Atlanta, GA
Provided life safety survey and Statement of Conditions.

Children’s Healthcare of Atlanta, Scottish Rite and Egleston Campus, 
Atlanta, GA
Performed an assessment of the existing automatic sprinkler systems 
provided at the Egleston and Scottish Rite Campuses.  The purpose of the 
survey was to confirm nonsprinklered areas of the facilities and to outline 
the most cost-effective means to provide sprinkler protection based on the 
existing sprinkler system zoning, riser configuration and main locations.

EXPERIENCE
30 Years

EDUCATION
B.S., Fire Protection Engineering
University of Maryland, 1987

REGISTRATIONS
PE:GA, CT, SC

ASSOCIATIONS
Member, National Fire Protection 
Association (NFPA)
Member, Society of Fire Protection 
Engineers (SFPE)
Member, Society of American Military 
Engineers, (SAME)

CONTACT
Joseph Castellano
404-239-1000
jcastellano@jensenhughes.com
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EDI, Ltd.

Professional Profile

www.ediltd.com      •     info@ediltd.com 

 

 
 
Education:
Bachelor of Science, Electrical 
Engineering - Telecom and 
Fiber Optics, California State 
Polytechnic University, 1990 
 
Licenses:
Engineer-in-Training 
Certified Technology Specialist 
 
Affiliations:
American Society of Industrial 
Security (ASIS) 
BICSI 
CAHED 
Colorado Technology 
Association (CTA) 
HIMSS 
IEEE 
InfoComm 
Society of Cable 
Telecommunications Engineers 
(SCTE) 

 Mark McComb, EIT, CTS
Principal-in-Charge
 
Mark McComb will be serving as the Principal-in-Charge for the Grady Center 
for Advanced Surgery project. Mark joined EDI in 2012 and is EDI’s President. 
Mark has over 25 years of experience in audiovisual, telecommunications, 
security, and broadband systems design and installation. With decades of 
experience managing technology design projects, Mark helps clients 
understand their technology options and develop effective designs and 
workflows. 
 
Mark is industry trained by the following companies and organizations: 
3Com, AT&T, BICSI, Cabletron, Cisco Systems, ClearOne, Crestron, Extron, 
Garrett Communications, Hewlett-Packard, InfoComm, Microsoft, Oracle, 
Pac Bell, Photon Kinetics, Santa Cruz Operations, Sysimax, Telex, Tyco 
Electronics, University of New Hampshire, The Yankee Group, and others. 
 
Relevant Experience 
University of New Mexico Replacement Hospital, Albuquerque, NM -New 
350-400 bed, state-of-the-art hospital and a 300,000 SF medical office 
building. Project Cost: $500 million 
 
St. Joseph Heritage Project, Denver, CO -New 7-story, 826,000 SF 
replacement hospital, 348 beds, modified IPD method. EDI provided full 
consulting services for IT and low voltage systems, programming/ 
schematic design through construction administration. Project Cost: $623 
million, Technology Cost: $27 million, Completed: December 2014 
 
Madison Community Hospital, Madison, SD -61,000 SF replacement 
critical care facility with 29,000 SF medical office building. EDI provided full 
consulting services for IT and low voltage systems including network and 
telephone system, Programming/SD through Construction Administration. 
Project Cost: $36.8 million, Technology Cost: $2.5 million, Completed: 2015 
 
Saint Alphonsus Medical Center, Nampa, ID -New 240,000 SF, 100-bed 
replacement acute care hospital. EDI provided full consulting services for IT 
and low voltage systems, programming/schematic design through 
construction administration, Project Cost: $80 million, Completed: 
estimated summer of 2017 
 
St. Mary’s Hospital Century Project Completion, Grand Junction, CO -
Build-out of approximately 102,000 SF of shelled space. Design includes full 
IT, low voltage, and BioMed systems. EDI provided 
programming/schematic design through construction administration and 
enhanced program management. Project Cost: $40 million, Technology 
Cost: $3.1 million, Completed: 2016 
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04
Previous Experience

We have significant experience in ambulatory 
care clinics all over the world for both public and 
private clients. We have identified the following 
examples which we feel are the most similar to your 
needs and which our proposed team have been 
involved in. 

In addition, our team has an incredible depth and 
breadth of institutional knowledge and design talent 
working on these projects. These experiences 
will help to energize the collaborative process of 
executing your project. 

PREVIOUS  
EXPERIENCE
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Campus Gateway
Situated at the edge of the VCU Health 
System Medical Center Campus, the 
design conceived by the HDR | Hourigan 
Construction team for the new Adult 
Outpatient Facility (AOF) will serve 
as a gateway building to the medical 
center campus. The 16-story, 556,166 SF 
Tower is integrated with a 1,200 space 
parking structure. 

Consolidating Outpatient Services
The AOF will consolidate the Massey 
Cancer Center, Multi-disciplinary Shared 
Clinics, and the VCU School of Dentistry 
Clinics into a 1,028,850-square-foot 
facility. Designed for future vertical 
expansion, the AOF can accommodate 
140,000 SF along its 10th street side. 

Parking Integration
The design provides for a symbiotic 
relationship between parking and 
ambulatory care, creating a rectangular 
volume rotated 90 degrees to form a 
distinctive L-shape and wrap the top 
portion over the parking structure. Three 
floors in the center are fully contiguous 
with the L-shape, thereby serving the 
interstitial mechanical floor, dental clinics, 
and a future ASC. The lower portion 
of the tower includes Massey Cancer 
programs, with the top allocated to multi-
disciplinary shared clinics. The efficient 
layout of the parking deck integrates 
various drop-off locations to separate the 
flows to the Massey Cancer Center and 
the Ambulatory Clinic entrances while 
supporting valet, ambulance, patient 
transport, and self parking.

Visual Prominence
On the exterior, the use of translucent 
materials combined with the building’s 
massing and strategic signage placement 
provides visual prominence at the north 
edge of the urban campus. Sightlines 
from the adjacent highway systems create 
an engaging patient experience upon 
approach to the facility. The AOF is also 
highly visible to the Clay Street historic 
district and views from the common alley 
and the corners of 10th and 11th streets 
have been considered. The building 
massing stacks back to lower the building 
height from the Clay street corridor, 
screening the parking structure from view. 

 CASE STUDY 

Virginia Commonwealth 
University Health System
Adult Outpatient Facility
Richmond, Virginia

REFERENCE

Mark Ahern 
Managing Director, JLL Project and 
Development Services 
804.828.5985 
mark.ahern@am.jll.com 
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 RELEVANCE TO GRADY CASS

Ambulatory: Prominent 
outpatient facility with 
comparable service lines and 
relation to a larger acute care 
system.

Parking Integration: Extensive 
consideration of parking volume, 
access, and formal interaction 
with the facility.

Urban Setting: Addresses the 
challenges inherent to designing 
and building in a highly developed, 
densely populated environment.
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REFERENCE

Kenneth Lukhard 
CEO and President 
4440 West 95th Street 
Oak Lawn, Illinois 60453 
708.684.3144 
kenneth.lukhard@advocatehealth.com

Planned, designed and constructed in less than three years, the 
Advocate Christ Medical Center (ACMC) Outpatient Pavilion 
responds to the shift from inpatient to ambulatory, on-campus 
care. The nine-story, 330,000-square-foot modern facility 
delivers patient-centric services through coordinated institutes 
focused on Neuroscience, Cancer, Heart & Vascular, Outpatient 
Imaging & Surgery and Endoscopy. Prior to the new building, the 
more than 350,000 individuals who seek outpatient services 
annually traveled to outpatient facilities scattered throughout 
the campus. 

This project demonstrates our ability to bring master plans to 
life and successfully design stand-alone buildings that reflect 
a health system’s brand and evolving care models. Located 
on the south side of the campus, the Outpatient Pavilion was 
the first major construction project of the new campus master 
plan, serving as a catalyst for the campus revitalization and 
establishing a new “gateway” for it. The Outpatient Pavilion also 
sets a high standard for sustainability having achieved LEED 
Gold certification.

The building design references material and formal motifs 
around the campus while translating the existing architectural 
language into a statement that is contemporary yet reverential. 
Inside, terrazzo, natural stone and wood combine to cultivate a 
healing environment and a warm, inviting atmosphere. Patient 
amenities, such as comfortable family and pediatric waiting 
rooms, a retail pharmacy, a courtyard cafe, and a tracking board 
keeps families informed about loved ones undergoing surgery. 
When patients enter the building—no matter the entrance 
point—a concierge is waiting to point them in the right direction. 

Client engagement: Using a charrette process, the team studied 
site, connectivity and stacking concepts—ultimately arriving at 
a design that approached the solution from inside-out/outside-
in perspectives. Administrators, clinical users and patient 
representatives were then engaged to review the work. Fewer 
but longer meetings kept everyone focused on solutions, and 
3D visualization was used early on so that staff could quickly 
understand functional and architectural options. 

 CASE STUDY 

Advocate Christ 
Medical Center
Outpatient Pavilion
Oak Lawn, Illinois
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 RELEVANCE TO GRADY CASS

Ambulatory: Served as a catalyst for outpatient services on the main campus.

Master Plan: Plays a crucial role in the system’s master plan and care model.

Data-Driven Design: Computational design was leveraged to forecast cost and 
schedule efficiencies.

IPD:  Integrated project delivery helped to define issues and their solutions.

Client Engagement: Open discussion engaged end users and tailored the design.

Transparency at every level: While 
planners worked with hospital operations 
staff to target improvements, architects, 
engineers and contractors partnered 
with facilities staff to transform the 
vision into a three-dimensional building. 
A leadership team provided oversight 
and collaborated with the end-user 
teams. This transparent process 
quickly uncovered issues and expedited 
solutions. User decisions were pushed 
to the most appropriate level: big 
picture decisions (aesthetics, branding, 
future state) were directed to higher 
administrative levels while those related 
to day-to-day functional operations were 
directed to clinical staff. This allowed the 
design team to effectively incorporate 
the client’s input and facilitated a 
consensus and data-driven design built 
upon a series of logical decisions.

Consensus goals: To promote long-term 
flexibility, the design team established 
a series of core modules that reflected 
the best operational model. Using these 
modules as building blocks, the design 
team moved quickly into a holistic 
design that balanced the client’s goals of 
schedule, scope and budget.
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A model for culturally-sensitive healthcare, the Martin Luther 
King Jr. (MLK) Outpatient Center is part of a transformative and 
phased county program to upgrade existing facilities on the 38-
acre MLK Medical Center campus in Los Angeles. Envisioned 
as a new beginning, the four-level OSHPD-3-compliant facility 
is designed to help reestablish the campus as a healthcare 
leader in the community. Adjacent to the hospital, the high-tech, 
outpatient center is accessible, safe and treats the patient in a 
whole-person approach to care. The contemporary design with 
steel and glass materials fits seamlessly within the context of 
the existing campus and reflects the bright new vision for the 
medical “village.”  

THE SOLUTION
Symbolizing the center’s 360-degree approach to preventative 
care and overall wellness, a circular drive in the front of the 
building flows into 10 acres of well-lit and landscaped on-site 
parking. A cantilevered clear glass façade, allowing natural 
daylight into the building and panoramic views to the city, 
opens to a two-story, light-filled atrium. Patients can access 70 
outpatient clinics within the center for a wide-range of services 
including outpatient surgery and diagnostic and rehabilitation 

services, such as dental, oncology, women’s services and 
physical and occupational therapy. Finishes in the LEED-Gold-
designed facility were chosen to be sustainable, aesthetically 
pleasing and to control the spread of infection.

CONSIDERATION OF CONTEXT
Medical care is not the only focus of the facility—it’s also the 
area’s nucleus for academic research, teaching and economic 
development. Named for Dr. King, an advocate for community 
healthcare with a vision of peace and hope for the future, the 
transparent entry celebrates his legacy in a gesture that is 
simulteaneously public and intimate: visitors are greeted by a 
full, story-high mural of Dr. King framed in the glass façade of 
the entry.

 CASE STUDY 

Los Angeles County
MLK Multi-Service Ambulatory Care Center (MACC)
Los Angeles, California

REFERENCE

David Howard 
Assistant Chief, County of Los Angeles 
Department of Public Works 
626.300.2300 
dhoward@dpw.lacounty.gov
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 RELEVANCE TO GRADY CASS

Ambulatory: Transformative outpatient 
center adjacent to the main hospital. 

Parking Integration: The design 
foregrounds efficiency and access.

Whole-Person Care: Provides accessible 
community healthcare with a 
360-degree approach.
Urban Setting: Addresses the needs 
of a large patient population and the 
surrounding environment.

Multiple Services: Includes surgery, 
diagnostic, rehabilitation, dental, 
oncology and women’s services.
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The HDR + BOLDT lean project delivery team created a 
standardized approach for its $300 million ambulatory program 
located at 30 sites.

This project includes an Integrated  Project Delivery (IPD)
model for the master planning, design and construction for 
the Advocate Medical Group & Dreyer Clinics, Medical Office 
& Ambulatory Facilities in the Greater Chicago Metropolitan 
area. The Medical Office & Ambulatory Facilities projects 
will span multiple years and consists of various ambulatory 
projects and operational and business models that support the 
Advocate brand.

The plan includes: Lean Process Business / Operational Master 
Plan, Technology Master Plan, Interiors / Patient Experience 
Master Plan, and a Sustainability Master Plan.

The team considered this: the initial cost of a building over the 
50-year operation of a healthcare facility represents as little 
as five to 10 percent. Operating costs of energy and capital 
replacement amount to several times that figure. Staffing 
costs can represent 60- to 70- percent of cost. Advocate 
expects to achieve 10-percent reduction in staff through design 
innovations—enough to pay for the building over its 50-year life. 

HDR created a completely new approach to data-driven design 
by demonstrating our robust parametric modeling capability via 
simultaneous use of 2D (Affinity), 3D (Grasshopper/Rhino), 4D 
(time), and 5D (cost) models. A newly created 6D (operational) 
dashboard dynamically links data from discrete event simulation 
(a virtual model of client operations) directly to the parametric 
model via metrics selected by our client. The linking of these 
tools not only allows our client to test the impact of design 
modifications in real-time, but also allows our clients to test the 
impact of operational modifications in real-time, showing how 
these modifications can impact outcomes such as revenue-
generating space, cost per provider and operational throughput 
for years to come.

For this project, collaboration occurred because the owner, 
HDR, Boldt, subcontractors, suppliers and fabricators brought 
together diverse points of view and specialization that reflected 
the total supply chain of design and construction.

Key trade partners were engaged to complete the team. For 
the project, the scope of work identified precast fabrication 
and erection, steel fabrication and erection, exterior glass and 
glazing, prefabricated interior walls, fire protection, plumbing, 
HVAC and electrical.

 CASE STUDY 

Advocate Medical 
Group Clinic
Multiple Medical Offices and 
Ambulatory Facilities 
Multiple Locations
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RELEVANCE TO GRADY CASS

IPD: Delivered through an efficient, IPD 
model incorporating end-user input.

Data-Driven Design: Leveraged extensive 
data driven design to make the most 
efficient and informed decisions related to 
operations and cost efficiencies.

Ambulatory: Outpatient facility with 
similar service lines.

Innovation Teams Delivered Best Practices
Seven innovation teams (Superstructure, Enclosure, interiors, 
MPFP, Electrical, Site, and Technology) were given two missions: 
target value pricing based on streamlined construction; and bold 
prefabrication. Each group studied best practice alternatives, 
systems versus stick built, and performance characteristics. The 
teams implimented set based design, which reviews decisions made 
at the last possible moment with comprehensive information. 

Explored Prefabrication
Options for prefabrication of components and modules are explored 
in order to increase the speed of delivery and, ultimately, cost 
savings. To maximize prefabrication, the team conducted studies on 
standardization, modularity and off-site prefabrication. 

A Healthy Roadmap for Sustainable Solutions 
By virtue of maximizing prefabrication goals, material and labor 
waste material is significantly reduced over a traditional built-in-
place solution. This minimal impact to the environment is realized 
through a cost savings during the construction of the building(s). But 
on a much grander scale, the use of life-cycle costing analysis for 
systems generates the largest significant savings from an ongoing 
facilities operations and maintenance standpoint.

REFERENCE

Donna Cooper 
President, Dreyer Medical Clinic and Chief 
Operating Officer, Advocate Medical Group 
630.906.5049 
donna.cooper@advocatehealth.com
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 CASE STUDY 

Kaiser Permanente
Health Hub
Chino,California; Manhattan Beach, California; Lakewood, Colorado

Kaiser Permanente selected HDR to lead 
them in an intensive two-year exploration 
aimed at “Re-imagining Ambulatory Care 
Design” (RAD). Project RAD’s underlying 
premise is Life Integration—the conviction 
that healthcare interwoven into people’s 
lives will enhance outcomes. Through 
this journey to Life Integration, we 
worked with Kaiser to develop a series 
of platforms to provide care. The first 
platform is a radically re-envisioned 
ambulatory care facility called the Health 
Hub, a community resource focused 
on health that welcomes members and 
non-members to learn how to thrive 
by engaging in healthy living, exercise 
and connections to nature, while also 
providing a full range of clinical services.

These new light-filled complexes have 
been designed to accomodate primary 
care, physician offices, a nurse clinic, 
clinical labs, imaging, a pharmacy and 
vision services, as well as a multipurpose 
community meeting room/conference 
center with a demonstration cooking area, 
community garden and a mini-café. 

Our initial design is built on the idea of 
pulling apart the traditional MOB and 
giving it space to breathe. Instead of 
experiencing one building with a central 
entry, we envision a porous village 
experience with a central public square. 
Architecture maximizes openness and 
natural light. Visual landmarks—artwork, 
digital displays or sculptural elements—
at the module entry reinforce the entry 
and exit sequence. Ceiling design, floor 
treatments and wall colors define the 
team work zone. Touchdown stations in 
the clinical team space are planned for 
flexibility and easy reconfiguration as 
operational or workflow changes demand. 

Innovative Delivery
Healthcare design from a surprisingly 
different angle: Retailers have recognized 
for years that thoughtful design can 
influence how consumers behave and that 
architecture is an extension of brand, We 
applied these ideas to spaces for health 
and wellness—connecting the dots among 
brand, consumer experience, behavior 
and physical space. 

Engaged stakeholders: Throughout the 
project, the core team and MOB teams 
were intentionally engaged through 
co-creation to evaluate prototypes and 
further refine concepts. Prototypes 
progressed from ideas on paper to 
full scale mock-ups and from visual 
representations to experiential scenarios.

Modules deliver efficiency: Two module 
designs are available: linear and radial. 
Each clinic exam module includes 26 
rooms, a team collaboration work area 
and shared support. The clinic exam 
module is split into sub-modules of 
13 rooms each with shared support 
in-between. Teams can customize the 
furniture configuration in the team 
collaboration area (middle of the 
clinical exam module) based on specific 
operational needs. Both modules are 
designed to accommodate primary, 
specialty care and multi-specialty 
services. Complementary specialties 
are co-located in a shared module 
where possible.

A welcoming community resource 
provides a full range of clinical 
services as well as opportunities 
to engage in healthy living.

hdrinc.com

Version #
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Enabled by technology. Technology 
has been a key consideration because it 
is an enabler for operational efficiency 
and user experience, not a standalone 
solution. A set of 14 technologies 
vetted by physicians, frontline staff, IT 
leadership and members are essential to 
how the Health Hub functions.

Defining Success
The design transforms the waiting 
experience from the typical windowless 
room into an indoor/outdoor series 
of active and passive places to suit 
each individual’s needs, from quiet 
contemplation to active play. The 
design translates the Health Hub mission 
to embody the “thrive” ethos by creating 
a landscaped multi-building campus 
that uses the best practices of retail 
place-making to cultivate a welcoming 
community center. Distinct design 
elements blur the boundaries between 
indoor and outdoor spaces and balances 
timeless design with bright splashes 
of color that embolden and energize 
the environment.

Health Hub is more than a facility. It 
carries forward essential elements of 
the Life Integration vision. Health Hub 
connects to the community in locally 
significant ways, reinforcing its integral 
nature. The design emphasizes 
adaptable microenvironments that 
encourage spontaneous interaction 
and collaboration between members. 
Health Hub is a physical reminder 
that exposure to healthy living can 
individuals change their future. It is a 
place to play, explore, learn, restore, 
and feel at ease.

The use of experience design 
creates a series of memorable 
touch points that reinforce the 
patient’s relationship with Kaiser 
both intellectually and emotionally. 
When patients engage with a cohesive 
experience, they feel it, they talk to 
others about it, and they’re more likely 
to show their loyalty. Health Hub will 
support satisfying user experiences 
that achieve greater customer loyalty, 
faster revenue growth, and higher 
operating margins.

REFERENCE

Jodie Lesh 
VP, Director of Real Estate 
Sr. Vice President, 
Strategic Planning & New Ventures 
626.405.6539 
jodie.e.lesh@nsmtp.kp.org

Coming to Georgia
Members of our proposed CASS 
Team are currently working with KP 
on developing the first Health Hub 
concept in the southeast.  This is seen 
as vital to address the rapid expansion of 
membership in the Atlanta area, and is 
expected to drive efficiencies throughout 
the care delivery process. It will be 
used as both a test-fit and learning 
laboratory to provide a template for all 
future renovation and new construction 
projects in the area.

 RELEVANCE TO GRADY CASS

Ambulatory: Pursues an 
innovative model for ambulatory 
care.

IPD: Input from, and 
collaboration with end users 
is intrinsically linked to the 
programming effort.

Adaptable Design: 
Accommodates multiple 
specialty practices with a highly-
customizable layout.

Collaboration: Shared 
microenvironments encourage 
spontaneous interactions.
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Defining Ambulatory Success
HDR was selected to provide strategic 
solutions for expanding and reorganizing 
MD Anderson’s ambulatory network 
to provide comprehensive cancer 
care to the city of Houston. Following 
the endorsement of HDR’s site 
recommendations, a prototype was 
created for the cancer treatment centers 
that will comprise the MD Anderson 
cancer network. The prototype is a data-
driven schematic design for a visionary 
outpatient model of care that accords 
with MD Anderson’s long-term vision to 
provide responsive and comprehensive 
cancer care services. 

Programmed departments for the Cancer 
Network Prototype include radiation 
oncology, diagnostic imaging, cancer 
medicine, pathology and pharmacy. 
The prototype also accommodates 
standardized exam and treatment 
rooms, specialty treatment departments, 
office and support areas, surgery, 
infusion bays, laboratory, pharmacy, and 
patient amenities.

Key Planning Objectives
Introduction of an integrated delivery 
model with community based partners

Patient and family centered care for a 
diverse population

Land optimization, facility maximization 
and improved utilization of available space  

Strategic adjacencies and consolidation of 
clinical spaces

Improved efficiency of clinical staff 
workrooms and workspaces

Consolidation of operations for spatial and 
functional efficiencies

Optimized patient experience by way of 
clear wayfinding, natural light, positive 
distractions, private rooms and ample 
family space

Flexibility and adaptability of a facility for 
future growth and expansion 

REFERENCE

Lawrence Kubacak 
Project Director, Facilities, Capital Planning & 
Space Management 
713.745.5367 
lkubacak@mdanderson.org

 CASE STUDY 

MD Anderson 
Cancer Center
Outpatient Clinics
Houston, Texas

hdrinc.com

Version #
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Elevating the Patient Experience
A patient and family-centered care 
model is at the forefront of the 
design team’s considerations, with 
each guideline created to optimize 
the experience of those who use the 
space, beginning upon arrival. For 
those receiving care, provisions are 
made for easy access to public transit, 
accessibility, and convenient vehicular 
access to patient drop off areas. Once 
inside, guests are welcomed in a light-
filled lobby with views of the outdoors, 
quick check-in kiosks and iPads, multiple 
seating options (including quiet, more 
secluded areas for more sensitive or 
sicker patients) and retail functions like a 
café, coffee bar, and gift shop. 

The public entrance is to be separated 
and placed on the opposite side of 
the structure from the staff entrance, 
ambulance entrance and loading dock 
area. Exam rooms and treatment spaces 
were configured to include appropriate, 
designated spaces for patients, family 
members and caregivers, as well as 
ample space for families so they can 
participate in the patient’s journey. 

From Prototype to Reality
HDR has been engaged to design the 
ambulatory clinic situated on University 
of Texas Medical Branch’s Victory Lakes 
campus in adherence with the prototype 
design. The clinic is the result of a first-
ever clinical collaboration agreement 
between UTMB Galveston and MD 
Anderson, allowing for MD Anderson to 
lease land and construct an outpatient 
cancer center on the UTMB League City 
campus. MD Anderson is also expanding 
into the Energy Corridor, one of the 
fastest-growing employment centers 
of Houston. Patient convenience and 
proximity to major roadways were major 
factors in choosing the location. 

Built-in Flexibility
MD Anderson prioritized adaptability 
in their clinic module design for future 
growth and program expansion and the 
ability to adjust the number of exam 
and infusion spaces This establishes a 
fixed reference point for the planning of 
standardized exam and treatment rooms, 
specialty treatment departments, office 
and support areas, surgery, infusion 
bays, laboratory, pharmacy and patient 
amenities. The universal module allows 
for independent customization of  each 
space, while administrative and support 
functions are centrally located in order to 
optimize travel time and accessibility.

 RELEVANCE TO GRADY CASS

Ambulatory: An important expression of MD Anderson’s ethos and long-term vision 
for outpatient services.

Data-Driven Design: Extensive operational and parametric studies were conducted to 
ensure maximum utilization of the site and structure. 

Adaptable Design: Designed with a high level of flexibility to accomodate future 
expansion of surgery and clinical programs.
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 CASE STUDY 

Shirley Ryan  
Ability Lab 
Chicago, Illinois

In early 2017 with the opening of its newest facility in downtown 
Chicago, the Rehabilitation Institute of Chicago (RIC) changed 
its name to the Shirley Ryan AbilityLab. The Shirley Ryan 
AbilityLab infuses 21st century biomedical science into the 
clinical environment to help patients achieve the best recovery. 
The goal is to facilitate innovative treatments that close the gap 
between what could be and what will be possible for patients in 
the future.

The design team of HDR | Gensler was selected to bring the 
vision of Shirley Ryan AbilityLab’s new hospital to life. As an 
innovator in the healthcare industry, HDR was responsible for 
the design and programming of the healthcare and research 
environments and all translational planning components.

The AbilityLab is a top destination for patients from around the 
world who suffer from disease or injury and are in search of 
the best rehabilitation care. Brain, spinal, and musculoskeletal 
rehabilitation are the top of its offerings—with three entire 
floors devoted to brain injury rehabilitation alone. With its 
research fueling novel treatments for a wide variety of patient 
conditions, the demand for Shirley Ryan AbilityLab’s services 
has grown progressively in recent years and is becoming more 
important than ever. 

Project Delivery
Upon winning the project, HDR worked side-by-side with design 
partners and the contractor in a co-located physical space 
we called “The Blue Space.” Being in constant close proximity 
allowed us to draw from the most talented individuals in medical 
design, high-rise experience, inner-city urban context, and 
aesthetically developed interior spaces.

BIM software was used from the start of design, enabling us 
to model, integrate and coordinate systems electronically, 
specifically looking for conflicts and interference issues 
prior to construction, and even prior to shop drawings. Once 
construction began, the entire project team relocated to a 
co-located office near the site, ensuring that design conflicts 
could be resolved immediately. Our team was still in this site 
throughout the construction duration.

Translational Health
HDR has significant expertise designing facilities to enhance 
the acceleration of delivering research discoveries to patient 
application through the integration of research, education and 
patient care—transforming the process of rehabilitation from 
disease and injury. HDR led the design of the built environment 
that will:
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REFERENCE

Edward Case 
CFO, Rehabilitation 
Insititute of Chicago 
Chicago, Illinois 
312.238.7625 
ecase@ric.org

 • Serve as a catalyst for cultural, organizational and 
operational change, and support grassroots change by 
creating a place that promotes healthy behaviors;

 • Enable integration among health and science 
disciplines that is essential to the transfer of 
knowledge, and ultimately, to the development of 
better treatments and cures; and 

 • Engage the patient, as well as the patients’ families.

The facility acts as a major catalyst for inventive thinking, 
and includes five Innovation Centers: Brain; Spinal Cord; 
Nerve, Muscle & Bone; Pediatric; and Cancer. With these 
centers, the AbilityLab will offer the world’s only such 
nuclei of combined leadership—concentrated teams 
of clinicians and research investigators helping Shirley 
Ryan AbilityLab to fulfill its vision of establishing the next 
generation of delivery of healthcare.

Scale/Context
Shirley Ryan AbilityLab had the opportunity not only 
to change how they deliver care to their patients, but 
also to influence the global healthcare community. The 
vision is to enhance their research capabilities through 
constant collaboration among researchers, clinicians 

and patients in order to accelerate discoveries and more 
rapidly integrate new knowledge into patient care. As we 
designed the environments to support the vision of fusing 
live medical research and clinical care, we considered 
how various spaces enable new interactions. Strategic 
proximity promotes exchange among researchers, among 
clinicians, and most importantly between research and 
clinical teams in support of improving patient recovery. 
These environments are intended to integrate expertise, 
create connections, and provide tools to foster sharing 
of knowledge and experience. This concept drives the 
planning and design of environments that focus the work 
of these individuals in shared, flexible spaces.

Technology
Technology is a critical component embedded into 
the new hospital. Allowing clinicians and researchers 
to measure every aspect of patients’ activities in an 
automated, non-intrusive way will improve patients’ 
abilities faster and to a greater extent, and it will enable 
researchers to learn and share new insights in real-time.

 RELEVANCE TO GRADY CASS

Urban Setting: Located in a prominent, high 
traffic area with a large patient population. 

Collaboration: Shared microenvironments 
encourage spontaneous interaction.
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Cancer Care 
Patient focus and comfort are at the forefront of cancer center design concerns. This 
sensitivity to comfort brings emphasis on the physical, emotional, and social experiences 
while incorporating natural surroundings to provide an “uplifting” environment. Lighting, color 
choices, waterfalls, streams, atriums flooded with natural light, original artwork, and tranquil 
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1. University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center
Sheikh Zayed Bin Sultan Al Nahyan Building for Personalized 
Cancer Care
Houston, Texas

The Zayed Building for Personalized Cancer Care houses the Institute for 
Personalized Medicine and the Pancreatic Cancer Center. The building is designed 
to accommodate and facilitate MD Anderson’s reorganization strategy, moving 
from a departmental to an interdisciplinary structure of programs.  MD Anderson, 
one of the leading cancer institutes in the world, embraces the trend towards 
collaboration among professionals from a variety of disciplines, as well as patients 
and their families, in order to accelerate developing treatments, and ultimately 
cures, for cancer. 

2. University of Nebraska Medical Center & Nebraska Medicine
Fred & Pamela Buffett Cancer Center
Omaha, Nebraska

Creating unparalleled patient experience with easy access to the full continuum 
of cancer care through multi-disciplinary clinical teams and integrating research 
and education with clinical care to advance the latest cancer therapies the Fred 
& Pamela Buffett Cancer Center was designed to incorporate all cancer clinical 
services around a single elevator ride for patients and place researchers working in 
laboratories just steps away from clinicians caring for patients. 

3. Royal Prince Alfred Hospital
Chris O’Brien Lifehouse
Camperdown, New South Wales, Australia

Lifehouse reflects the vision of the late Professor Chris O’Brien—an acclaimed 
medical oncologist—to create an integrated cancer care facility. Unlike other 
Australian hospitals, the building is an 11-story vertical structure. Because of 
the vertical arrangement, a considerable amount of time was spent making the 
patient journey as comfortable as possible. Discreet parking, a hotel-like concierge, 
expansive waiting areas, modern design finishes, an abundance of natural light, and 
intuitive wayfinding support a positive experience as patients navigate the building. 

4. Intermountain Healthcare
Precision Medicine at Dixie Regional Medical Center
St. George, Utah

The vision behind the Precision Medicine facility is to create an environment that 
truly integrates cancer research with cancer treatment. It will offer an experience 
to patients that not only provides for their immediate treatment needs, but opens 
windows of hope into new horizons of discovery and care. The clinical environments 
are envisioned to be efficient; key diagnostic and treatment typologies, such as 
Imaging and Radiation Oncology, are located such that they can easily expand their 
departments over time; and an Outpatient Imaging entrance will be located and 
signed to admit a full spectrum of acuities to the Center in a manner that does not 
allude to cancer.
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Orthopedics and Rehabilitation
HDR understands that cutting edge orthopedics and rehabilitation facilities require both a 
higher-quality of care and more cost-efficiency in the care of patients. HDR integrates best-
practice rehabilitation design elements and evidence-based design strategies to create a 
healing environment that assists patients to return to the highest level of functioning.
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1. Hartford Hospital
Bone and Joint Institute
Hartford , Connecticut

HDR and Perkins+Will teamed to jointly design this new progressive, highly 
specialized facility for Hartford Hospital. Building on their organizational mantra 
“Life in Motion,” this 150,000 sf new freestanding Orthopedic Hospital includes 60 
private patient rooms, 10 operating suites and 30 prep/recovery bays, diagnostic 
imaging, and rehabilitative medicine. A 75,000 sf Medical Office Building 
supporting the outpatient ambulatory component of the Bone and Joint Institute is 
connected to the hospital building with a third floor bridge.

2. Bridgepoint Hospital
Rehabilitation Hospital 
Toronto, Ontario

Bridgepoint Hospital is Canada’s leader in complex care and rehabilitation. It is the 
largest healthcare facility of its kind in Canada and the only organization dedicated 
to people living with complex chronic disease and disability. Special attention was 
given  to providing a new kind of healthcare in a new kind of hospital—one that 
acts as a  civic building, an urban place, and a place for healthcare and community 
to come together. The community is drawn into the building by visitor-friendly 
features, such as glass walls, food concessions, retail outlets, learning centres, an 
auditorium, and an outdoor terrace with steps to parkland. 

3. Jackson Health Rehabilitation Hospital
The Miami Project to Cure Paralysis
Miami, Florida

The new rehabilitation hospital will be complimentary to the facilities of the 
Miami Project to Cure Paralysis collocate on the Jackson Health / University of 
Miami Medical Center Campus. In addition to the inpatient beds there will be full 
ambulatory rehabilitation services including space for clinical research, therapy 
gyms for outpatients, inpatients and research and a full complement of other 
support rehabilitation space. The facility design vertically interconnects the gyms to 
integrate care and research activities. 

4. University of Utah Health Sciences
Campus Transformation Project
Salt Lake City, Utah

The University of Utah Rehabilitation Hospital exists in the context of the University 
Health Care system, as well as the wider University, the immediate community, Salt 
Lake City, and even global efforts to improve rehabilitation care. To develop a vision 
for the future of rehabilitation care at the University of Utah, we explored an array 
of perspectives and contexts, from the all-important patient experience, to the role 
of the rehabilitation center in the community. Our vision has implications on many 
different facets of rehabilitation, from technology and research to operations and 
community. 

04

04

04
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Surgical Services
Methods for conducting surgery have undergone a transformation in recent years. Advances 
in robotics, information technology, communication, and intraoperative imaging have created 
new surgical techniques. The new OR provides flexibility for future technologies while creating 
optimal workflow for current surgical techniques. With the emergence of these new surgical 
practices, patient safety has improved, recovery periods are shorter, patients are observing less 
pain, system-wide costs are down, and accuracy has increased.
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1. Northside Hospital
Cherokee Replacement Hospital Surgical Services
Canton, Georgia

Multi-phase project with horizontal and vertical expansion capabilities. The project 
includes a 120 bed patient tower that phases into a 350 bed hospital, women’s 
center, medical office buildings, central utility plant, and a dedicated surgery center.  
Services include bariatric surgery, interventional radiology, inpatient, outpatient, 
neurosurgery, orthopedics, plastic surgery, spine center, and robotic assisted 
surgical services.

2. Parkland Health and Hospital System
New Parkland Hospital Surgical Suites
Dallas, Texas

Active Alignment for Surgical Suites. In new market or replacement hospitals, it is 
often necessary to change a way of delivery care to match a new model. Within the 
existing facility, the staff worked in smaller units due to the fact that the operating 
rooms were somewhat organized into pods. The transition to a larger consolidated 
format where each of the defining areas were discrete would require a redesign of 
the staff’s work habits. To arrive at a solution, we embarked a study of the existing 
work flows and habits as well as held many discussions about how the case loads 
presented themselves over the course of a day, week and month.

3. Humber River Hospital
Surgical Services
Toronto, Ontario

Completed in the spring of 2015, the new Humber River Hospital offers 
approximately 1.7 million SF of space, making it the largest acute care hospital in 
the Greater Toronto Area. With a projected volume of 42,700 annual cases, the 
Surgical Services Department provides inpatient and outpatient surgical care.  
Surgical Services includes the Day Surgery Unit. The Day Surgery Unit serves 
a projected annual volume of 12,000 day surgery patients and 7,000 same day 
admissions. The 21,278 SF Unit includes 20 Pre-Operative Bays, 4 Regional 
Block Rooms, 32 Post-Anesthesia Care Bays and 42 Day Surgery Recovery 
Bays. Collocated with Surgical Services is the Ambulatory Procedures Unit. 
The Ambulatory Procedures Unit serves a projected annual volume of 29,000 
Endoscopy cases, 10,000 Urology cases and 500 Bronchoscopy cases. The 31,048 
SF Unit includes 7 Endoscopy Rooms, 5 Cystoscopy Rooms, 1 Bronchoscopy Room 
and 28 Patient Recovery Bays.

4. Penn Medicine
New Patient Pavilion Surgical Procedure Rooms
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

The new Pavilion at the Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania is located on 
a tight urban site, and acts as the connective tissue between the Hospital of the 
University of Pennsylvania, a teaching hospital, and the Perelman Center for 
Advanced Medicine, which houses research, ambulatory services and the Perelman 
School of Medicine. The Pavilion includes a four-story vertical interventional 
platform with 47 procedure rooms. The lowest floor houses imaging, and staff 
support areas. The remaining three floors support interventional services for 
various clinical programs including surgical and hybrid procedure rooms. In the 
center of each interventional OR floor is patient prep and recovery rooms that 
serve all surgical areas, with an elevator and communicating stair connecting them. 
Patients see only the prep and recovery spaces, while staff moves freely up and 
down to other floors, an extremely efficient layout that also enhances the patient 
experience and separates off-stage functions.
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